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C O N T E N T S

Venture Group was established in 
1989 through the merger of three 
companies, as a start-up company 
to provide contract manufacturing 
services. Today, Venture has been 
transformed into a leading global 
provider of technology services, 
products and solutions with 
established capabilities spanning 
marketing research, design, research 
and development to develop a wide 
range of leading-edge products.

Venture has built know-how and 
intellectual property with domain 
expertise in printing and imaging, 

networking and communications 
devices, handheld interactive scanning 
and computing products, advanced 
storage systems and devices, fi nancial-
related equipment and technology, 
industrial, power and energy-related 
products, test and measurement 
equipment and instrumentation, 
medical and healthcare devices and 
life science equipment.

In its pursuit to create unparalleled 
enterprise excellence across design 
and engineering, manufacturing 
and distribution, Venture has forged 
numerous impactful partnerships 

and alliances. As it assumes a key 
role in the enterprise ecosystems, 
Venture will continue to tap the 
knowledge and best-in-class 
capabilities of global enterprises 
through multilateral partnerships 
for breakthrough innovations.

Headquartered in Singapore, the 
Group comprises more than 30 
companies with global clusters 
in Southeast Asia, Northeast Asia, 
America and Europe and employs 
over 12,000 people worldwide.
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O U R  M I S S I O N

T O  B E  A  L E A D I N G  G L O B A L  P R O V I D E R  O F  T E C H N O L O G Y 

S E R V I C E S ,  P R O D U C T S  A N D  S O L U T I O N S

V E N T U R E ’ S  C O R E  V A L U E S

•  R E L E N T L E S S  P U R S U I T  O F  E X C E L L E N C E

•  R E N D E R I N G  T H E  H I G H E S T  L E V E L  O F  T O T A L

C U S T O M E R  S A T I S F A C T I O N

•  E N C O U R A G I N G  E M P L O Y E E S  T O  R E A L I S E  T H E I R

F U L L  P O T E N T I A L

•  B U I L D I N G  S T R O N G  C O H E S I O N  A N D  T E A M W O R K

•  F O S T E R I N G  C R E A T I V I T Y  A N D  I N N O V A T I O N

F U T U R E
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E N A B L I N G  M U L T I L A T E R A L 

P A R T N E R S H I P S  T H R O U G H 

D I F F E R E N T I A T I N G

C A P A B I L I T I E S
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Collaborative workflow partnerships
for next-generation technology 
services, products and solutions

Developing ecosystems with strategic 
partners such as leading enterprises 
in various fields of interests,  key 
strategic suppliers and research 
scientists, engineers and business 
leaders in leading organisations

F U T U R E
R E A D Y
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I N V E S T I N G  I N  A N D  G R O W I N G 

N E W  D I F F E R E N T I A T I N G

C A P A B I L I T I E S

Entering new domains and 
ecosystems through strengthened 
Clusters of Excellence and new 
business models

UNITED STATES
OF AMERICA

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9
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I N V E S T I N G  I N  A N D  G R O W I N G 

N E W  D I F F E R E N T I A T I N G

C A P A B I L I T I E S

Differentiated strategy reflects diversity 
across capabilities, geography and 
domain expertise

EUROPE

CHINA

MALAYSIA

SINGAPORE

F U T U R E
R E A D Y
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C R E A T I N G  A N D  C A P T U R I N G 

I M P A C T F U L  V A L U E  F O R

A L L  S T A K E H O L D E R S

One of top nine Singapore 
companies in Forbes Asia’s 
Best Over A Billion Top 
200 companies

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9
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Won accolades such as “Platinum 
Level Supplier” and “Best 
Performance Supplier” from 
partners in the Forbes 500 league

Part of the Straits Times 
Index, MSCI Singapore Index 
and FTSE Value-Stocks 
ASEAN Index

F U T U R E
R E A D Y

07

             Editorial   size:W210mm x H297mm     1st Page 7

W0000xx-20_0022 Venture Corp AR2019_Editorial_v19_200320_FA.indd   7 21/3/20   4:17 PM



M E S S A G E  T O
S H A R E H O L D E R S

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

In 2019, the global economy faced a 
confl uence of risks, which disrupted 
economic activity in many sectors – 
from an escalation of trade disputes 
to tightening of global fi nancial 
conditions and intensifying climate 
risks. Across both developed and 
developing countries, growth 
projections were downgraded. 
These headwinds caused disruptions 
to business activities everywhere. 

Against this backdrop, Venture 
proved its resilience by reporting 
another set of creditable results. 
Venture’s inventiveness and 
di­ erentiated strategy to upscale its 
technical know-how and skillsets 
across diverse technology domains 
are bearing fruit. It is collaborating 
with leading global technology 

companies, many of whom are in 
the Forbes 500 league or leaders in 
their fi elds of interests. The Group 
continued to invest in expanding its 
di­ erentiating capabilities, to enhance 
its competitiveness and open new 
pathways to create and capture value 
for all stakeholders.

Our performance in 2019 refl ects 
the strength of the deep partnerships 
we have painstakingly nurtured over 
the years. In turn, these collaborative 
relationships have won us other 
new customers. Several of them 
are developing breakthrough 
technologies in various ecosystems, 
where Venture could potentially 
become a powerful enabler of 
successful multilateral collaborations. 
Venture is excited about all these 

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9
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opportunities that could become 
impactful for the Group over time. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Venture reported a 4.3% year-on-
year increase in revenue to S$3,633.4 
million for the fi nancial year ended 
31 December 2019 (“FY2019”). The 
modestly higher revenue was driven 
by the Group’s ability to render 
strong support to its valued partners 
amidst the uncertain operating 
environment. Group profi t before 
tax of S$420.0 million and net profi t 
(profi t attributable to owners of the 
Company) of S$363.1 million were 
both marginally lower in FY2019, 
refl ecting some pricing pressure. 
Nonetheless, the Group maintained a 
healthy net margin of 10.0% in FY2019. 
Our sustained profi tability translated 
to diluted earnings per share of 125.3 
Singapore cents for FY2019.

Venture has built up a robust 
balance sheet over the years. As at 
31 December 2019, the Group had 
cash and bank balances of S$714.5 
million (31 December 2018: S$712.8 
million) and a net cash position of 
S$713.4 million (31 December 2018: 
S$711.0 million). Cash generation 
from operations remained strong at 
S$291.7 million in FY2019 (FY2018: 
S$311.5 million).  

As at 31 December 2019, equity 
attributable to owners of the 
Company grew 6.2% to S$2,496.2 
million (31 December 2018: S$2,349.9 
million) and Net Asset Value per share 
grew 6.0% to S$8.65 (31 December 
2018: S$8.16).

PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND 

The Board of Directors has 
recommended a fi nal dividend of 
S$0.50 per share on a one-tier tax-
exempt basis for FY2019. Including 
the interim dividend of S$0.20 per 
share paid in September 2019, we will 
be paying a total dividend of S$0.70 
per share for FY2019. Subject to 
the approval of shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting to be held 
on 29 April 2020, the proposed fi nal 
dividend will be paid on 22 May 2020. 

Venture has consistently paid 
dividends since it was listed in 1992. 
The dividend paid per share has 
multiplied by almost 100 times since, 
from S$0.0075 to S$0.70 in 2019. 
Cumulatively, the Group has paid out 
over S$2.3 billion in dividends from 
1992 till date. 

As a constituent of benchmark indices 
such as the Straits Times Index (“STI”) 
and MSCI Singapore Index, Venture 
has generated total shareholder 
returns1 that has outperformed the 
market. In 2019, Venture posted a 
total return of 21.3% versus STI’s 9.4% 
over the same period. Over a 10-year 
period from end-2009 to end-2019, 
Venture achieved an annualised 
total shareholder return of 12.4% 
compared to STI’s 4.4%. 

OUR FUTURE ROADMAP 

The business environment remains 
dynamic and ever-changing. As we 
entered 2020, the world welcomed 
the partial resolution of a prolonged 

trade war but that was unfortunately 
marred by the COVID-19 outbreak. 

Undeterred, Venture remains focused 
on its multi-tier transformation 
to chart the roadmap for the 
Group’s future growth. This focus is 
underpinned by three key priorities 
- careful selection of technology 
domains, talent development and 
recruitment, and investing tactically 
to optimise business e¡  ciencies.

There are several exciting trends and 
opportunities in various ecosystems 
of interest to Venture, some of 
which we are already participating 
in. In the Life Science and Genomics 
ecosystem, Venture is collaborating 
with its partners on the development 
of analytical tools for biomedical 
research, in the specialised fi elds of 
oncology and immunology. During 
the COVID-19 outbreak, Venture 
provided critical support to one 
of its partners for their diagnostic 
instruments deployed at the frontline. 
The Group continues to see deep 
value creation opportunities in this 
ecosystem, with the heightened 
interest in areas such as precision 
medicine, non-invasive prenatal 
testing, healthy longevity, as well as 
healthcare and wellness. 

With the rise of Industry 4.0 
technologies, Venture is closely 
monitoring developments in the areas 
of 5G, robotic process automation 
and artifi cial intelligence. Synergising 
its existing core competencies in 
research and development (“R&D”) 
and engineering with its knowledge 

1 Source: Bloomberg as at 31 December 2019. 

F U T U R E
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M E S S A G E  T O
S H A R E H O L D E R S

in deep technology, Venture qualifi es 
as the complementary partner for 
innovative breakthroughs in the 
Industry 4.0 future. 

Not one to rest on its laurels, the 
Group is constantly transforming its 
engineering, manufacturing and R&D 
capabilities, while developing new 
competitive di­ erentiators. Some of 
these capabilities and di­ erentiators 
will be built organically or through 
collaborations with selected strategic 
partners, such as established research 
institutes and strategic suppliers. 
Internal initiatives will include 
workforce transformation and the 
creation of new business solutions 
and models. 

Venture continues to enhance its 
talent pool across a wide range of 
technical and professional qualities. 
This will deepen the Group’s 
bench strength beyond its proven 
capabilities in multiple technology 
domains. Tactical investments will 
also be made into digitalisation 
and selective automation, allowing 
Venture to swiftly upscale its 

e¡  ciencies and sustain its high-
quality standards. New and better 
ways of creating and capturing deep 
value will give traction to the Group’s 
growth and expansion in selected 
technology domains and ecosystems. 

Going forward, Venture must stay 
nimble, adaptable and always 
remain relevant and impactful in 
its service o­ erings. Our multi-tier 
transformation journey is on track, 
and we will continue to invest 
judiciously for the future. 

A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE

Venture remains committed to 
operating sustainably. We recognise 
that running a socially responsible 
business will support a sustainable 
future for Venture.  

Our Sustainability Report 2019, 
which is embedded in this Annual 
Report, continues to be prepared in 
accordance to the Global Reporting 
Initiative Standards: Core option. 
We have proactively expanded certain 
disclosures on our Environment, 

Social and Governance (“ESG”) 
performance for our material factors. 
These include our energy and water 
consumption, greenhouse gas 
emissions, as well as information 
on our employees including new 
hires and training hours. We have 
set corresponding targets based on 
some of these disclosures, to drive 
our continuous improvement on our 
sustainability practices. 

For more information on Venture’s 
ESG performance in 2019, please 
refer to our Sustainability Report on 
pages 24 to 54. 

ACCOLADES AND
OUR APPRECIATION

In closing, I would like to share with 
you some awards and accolades that 
Venture received in 2019. These are 
the impetus that drives us to reach 
new levels of excellence. 

On 27 August 2019, Forbes Asia 
announced the launch of its inaugural 
Best Over A Billion list, which 
spotlights 200 top-performing listed 
companies across the Asia-Pacifi c 
region with revenues of US$1 billion 
or more. Curated from a universe 
of 3,200 listed companies in the 
Asia-Pacifi c region, Venture was one 
of only nine Singapore companies 
that made it to the Top 200 list. This 
commendable achievement places 
Venture amongst the region’s best-
run companies.

At The Edge Singapore Billion Dollar 
Club 2019 awards that was held on 
6 September 2019, Venture won 
the Fastest Growing Company and 
Best in Sector awards under the 

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9
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Manufacturing Sector, as well as the 
Billion Dollar Club Overall Winner 
award. This is the fi rst year that the 
award organiser is giving out the 
Billion Dollar Club Overall Winner 
accolade, which recognises the 
company that has achieved the best 
scoring across several sectors.

To our valuable customers and 
partners, Venture also strives to 
deliver the highest level of Total 
Customer Satisfaction. Similarly, the 
Group has achieved recognition such 
as Best Supplier / Platinum Supplier 
from several partners, showcasing 
that our employees are the best 
ambassadors of Venture’s Core Values. 

These achievements were only 
possible with the combined e­ orts of 
all our stakeholders. 

On this note, I would like to express 
my warm appreciation for the 
contributions of my colleagues on 

the Board, who despite their busy 
schedules, have devoted time and 
e­ ort to participate actively in Board 
and Board Committee deliberations 
and decision-making. They 
demonstrated deep commitment 
during the visits to our manufacturing 
and R&D facilities in Singapore and 
Malaysia in August 2019, which 
gave them valuable insights into 
Venture’s business and operations. 
A few Directors also attended the 
annual Management Conference 
held in December 2019, where they 
participated in robust discussions 
on the Group’s strategic directions 
with senior management and key 
executives from across the Group’s 
global operations.

I would also like to thank Venture’s 
management and employees for your 
diligence and unstinting dedication. 
Your contributions, as individuals and as 
part of a team, are critical to Venture’s 
continued performance and growth. 

To our customers and partners, thank 
you for your trust and confi dence 
in Venture. We look forward to your 
ongoing support as we deepen our 
collaborations for greater successes 
ahead. I am also grateful to our 
suppliers, vendors and other business 
associates for their unceasing 
support. To our loyal shareholders, 
I would like to thank you for your 
long-term support and trust in Venture.

The future is ours to create. The 
Venture Group is committed to 
rendering its best in all aspects, to 
defi ne a great future together with 
our stakeholders. 

WONG NGIT LIONG
Chairman & CEO

F U T U R E
R E A D Y
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(S$MILLION) 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Comprehensive Income1 

Revenue 2,656.5 2,874.2 4,004.5 3,484.6 3,633.4 

Profit Before Tax 181.7 215.9 432.4 433.0 420.0 

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company 154.0 180.7 361.5 370.1 363.1 

Balance Sheet

Total Assets 2,528.3 2,758.5 3,144.2 3,204.6 3,274.2 

Total Liabilities 632.5 796.0 976.1 852.5 775.7 

Shareholders' Equity 1,893.2 1,960.1 2,165.8 2,349.9 2,496.2 

Cash & Bank Balances 459.3 499.7 752.4 712.8 714.5 

Net Cash Position 324.2 407.1 721.6 711.0 713.4 

Key Ratios and Per Share Metrics1

Earnings Per Share (Singapore cents)2 55.6 64.8 126.0 127.3 125.3 

Net Asset Value Per Share (Singapore cents) 684.7 703.1 760.9 816.4 865.4 

Dividend Per Share (Singapore cents) 50.0 50.0 60.0 70.0 70.0

ROCE (%)3 9.2 10.7 19.7 18.0 16.3 

ROE (%)4 8.3 9.4 17.5 16.4 15.0

* For better comparative purposes, Profit Before Tax and Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company used in the calculations were before the effects of 

impairment arising from prior year adjustment in 2014 and exclude one-off gain on disposal of an investment in associate in 2017.

1  For better comparative purposes, Profit Before Tax, Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company and Earnings before Interests and Tax (“EBIT”) used in 
the calculations exclude a one-off gain on disposal of an investment in associate in 2017.

2  On a fully diluted basis.
3  Return on Capital Employed (“ROCE”) is calculated using EBIT/ending Capital Employed. Capital Employed is measured using Total Assets less Current Liabilities. 
4 Return on Equity (“ROE”) is calculated using Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company/average Shareholders’ Equity.

5 - Y E A R  F I N A N C I A L 
H I G H L I G H T S
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C O R P O R A T E
D I R E C T O R Y

5 - Y E A R  F I N A N C I A L 
H I G H L I G H T S

R E G I S T E R E D  O F F I C E A U D I T O R S

B A N K E R S

I N V E S T O R  R E L A T I O N S

S H A R E  R E G I S T R A R

J O I N T  C O M P A N Y  S E C R E T A R I E S

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D

5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
#05-01/12 TECHplace II
Singapore 569873
T : +65 6482 1755
F : +65 6482 0122
Email : contact-us@venture.com.sg

D E L O I T T E  &  T O U C H E  L L P

6 Shenton Way
OUE Downtown 2 #33-00
Singapore 068809
T : +65 6224 8288
F : +65 6538 6166

Partner-in-charge
J O H N  T A N  H O N  C H Y E

(Appointed with e­ ect from the
fi nancial year ended 31 December 2015)

CIMB Bank Bhd
Citibank N.A.
DBS Bank Ltd
JPMorgan Chase Bank
Malayan Banking Berhad
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
RHB Bank Bhd
Standard Chartered Bank
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation

Email : investor.relations@venture.com.sg

M  &  C  S E R V I C E S  P R I V A T E  L I M I T E D

112 Robinson Road
#05-01 
Singapore 068902
T : +65 6227 6660
F : +65 6225 1452

D E V I K A  R A N I  D A V A R

C H A N  K O N G  M E N G ,  L A W R E N C E

F U T U R E
R E A D Y
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B O A R D  O F
D I R E C T O R S

1  -  K O H  L E E  B O O N   /   Independent Non-Executive Director, Lead Independent Director

2  -  W O N G  N G I T  L I O N G   /   Chairman & CEO

3  -  K AY  K U O K  O O N  K W O N G   /   Independent Non-Executive Director

4  -  TA N  S E O K  H O O N G  @ M R S  A U D R E Y  L I O W   /   Independent Non-Executive Director

5  -  G O O N  K O K  L O O N   /   Independent Non-Executive Director 

6  -  H A N  T H O N G  K WA N G   /   Independent Non-Executive Director

7  -  W O N G  Y E W  M E N G   /   Independent Non-Executive Director

8  -  J O N AT H A N  S .  H U B E R M A N   /   Independent Non-Executive Director

1 2 3

5

6
7 84
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Mr Wong Ngit Liong, is the Chairman 
and CEO of the Group.

Under Mr Wong’s visionary guidance, 
the Venture Group has transformed 
from an electronics manufacturing 
services start-up into today’s leading 
global provider of technology 
services, products and solutions.

Mr Wong started his career with 
Hewlett-Packard Company (HP).
He held management positions at 
its North American headquarters 
and supported the start-up of HP 
Singapore and HP Malaysia. Some of 
his past directorships include public-
listed companies and local statutory 
bodies such as Singapore Exchange 
Limited, DBS Bank Ltd, the Economic 
Development Board of Singapore and 
International Enterprise Singapore. 
Mr Wong was the Chairman of the 
Board of Trustees at the National 
University of Singapore (NUS) from 
2004 to 2016. He was also appointed 
a member of both the Constitutional 
Commission (2016) and the Ministerial 
Salary Review Committee (2011).

In recognition of his leadership and 
business acumen, Mr Wong was 
awarded the Businessman of the Year 
in 1998 by DHL Worldwide Express/
Business Times, Ernst & Young 
Entrepreneur of the Year Award 
(Singapore) in 2002 and Asiamoney’s 
Best CEO Award (Singapore) in 2004. 
He was conferred the Meritorious 

W O N G  N G I T  L I O N G
Chairman & CEO

Service Medal at the National Day 
Awards 2012 and the Distinguished 
Service Order at the National Day 
Awards 2018 for his contributions 
to the nation in various sectors. 
In 2017, Mr Wong received the 
NUS Eminent Alumni Award as an 
acknowledgement of exceptional 
and sustained contributions and 
achievements nationally or globally in 
public and community service.

Mr Wong graduated with a 1st Class 
(Honours) degree in Electrical 
Engineering from the University of 
Malaya. He also holds a Master of 
Science in Electronics Engineering 
degree from the University of 
California, Berkeley as a Fulbright 
Scholar, and a Master of Business 
Administration degree with distinction 
from McGill University under the 
Canadian Commonwealth Fellowship.

Date of fi rst appointment as
a Director:
20 January 1989

Date of last re-election as
a Director:
24 April 2019

Committee Memberships:
• Chairman, Investment Committee
• Member, Nominating Committee

Number of Directorships in listed 
companies (including Venture):
1

F U T U R E
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Mr Goon Kok Loon, is the Executive 
Chairman of Global Maritime & Port 
Services Pte Ltd, a port management 
and design consultancy company. 
Mr Goon currently also sits on the 
Boards of Regal International Group Ltd 
and Yongnam Holdings Ltd. Mr Goon 
has accumulated more than 38 years 
of experience in senior management 
positions with the Port of Singapore 
Authority and PSA Corporation Limited. 
For his contributions to the maritime 
sector, he was awarded the Silver and 
Gold Public Administration Medals by 
the Singapore Government in 1976 and 
1989 respectively.

Mr Goon previously served on the 
Boards of Jaya Holdings Ltd, Singapore 
Petroleum Company Limited and 
Jurong Port Pte Ltd.

Mr Goon holds a 1st Class (Honours) 
degree in Electrical Engineering from 
the University of Liverpool in the 
United Kingdom and attended the 
Postgraduate Study Programme at the 
Massachusetts Institute of Technology 
in the United States. He is a Fellow of 
the Chartered Institute of Logistics 
& Transport.

Date of fi rst appointment as
a Director:
27 February 2004

Date of last re-election as
a Director:
24 April 2018

Committee Memberships:
• Chairman, Audit Committee
• Member, Investment Committee
• Member, Remuneration Committee

Number of Directorships in listed 
companies (including Venture):
3

Past principal directorships in the 
last three years:
• IPLaboratories Pte Ltd

G O O N  K O K  L O O N
Independent Non-Executive Director

B O A R D  O F
D I R E C T O R S

Mr Koh Lee Boon, has more than 13 
years of managerial experience in 
two companies within the electronics 
manufacturing industry, where 
he served as Executive Director. 
Until 1996, Mr Koh was Senior Vice 
President and Partner of SEAVI 
International Fund Management Pte 
Ltd and up to July 2012, he was a 
Director of SEAVI International Fund 
Management Pte Ltd and SEAVI 
Venture Management Pte Ltd.

Mr Koh holds a Bachelor of 
Engineering (Honours) degree in 
Electrical Engineering from the 
University of Malaya.

Date of fi rst appointment as
a Director:
1 August 1996

Date of last re-election as
a Director:
24 April 2019

Committee Memberships:
• Chairman, Remuneration Committee
• Member, Audit Committee
• Member, Nominating Committee

Number of Directorships in listed 
companies (including Venture):
1

K O H  L E E  B O O N
Independent Non-Executive Director
Lead Independent Director

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9
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Mr Jonathan S. Huberman, is currently 
the Chairman and Chief Executive 
O¡  cer of Software Acquisition Group 
(NASDAQ: SAQN), a special purpose 
acquisition company targeting 
opportunities in the enterprise software 
industry. He also serves on the Board of 
Aculon, Inc. From 2017 to 2019, 
Mr Huberman was the CEO of Ooyala, 
Inc., a US-based company, which 
provided online video technology 
products and services, including 
managing and delivering online videos 
around the globe to all devices.

With nearly 30 years of high-tech 
business leadership, Mr Huberman 
is an accomplished executive with a 
demonstrated track record of driving 
high customer satisfaction, technology 
innovation, and greater market value for 
software-as-a-service (SaaS) companies.

Previously, Mr Huberman served as 
CEO of Syncplicity, Inc., Tiburon, Inc. 
and Iomega Corporation.

Mr Huberman holds a Bachelor 
of Arts in Computer Science from 
Princeton University in New Jersey and 
an MBA majoring in Entrepreneurial 
Management and Strategic Planning 
from The Wharton School at the 
University of Pennsylvania in Philadelphia.

Date of fi rst appointment as
a Director:
2 January 2015

Date of last re-election as
a Director:
27 April 2017

Committee Memberships:
• Member, Audit Committee
• Member, Investment Committee

Number of Directorships in listed 
companies (including Venture):
2

Mr Wong Yew Meng, currently serves 
in various public organisations such 
as the Land Transport Authority of 
Singapore, the Nanyang Technological 
University, the Singapore Deposit 
Insurance Corporation Limited and 
the Kidney Dialysis Foundation Ltd. 
He is also an independent Director of 
Ascendas Funds Management (S) Ltd, 
the Manager of Ascendas REIT.

Mr Wong joined the former Price 
Waterhouse in 1974 and was admitted 
as an Audit-Partner in 1985, before 
retiring from PricewaterhouseCoopers 
in 2008. He was the audit engagement 
partner on a number of listed 
company and unlisted company audits 
including major fi nancial institutions 
and commercial enterprises, and was 
involved in several large client Initial 
Public O­ er (IPO) listings. He played 
a key role in building up the fi nancial 
services practice of the accounting fi rm 
and had extensive experience auditing 
companies in a variety of industries 
such as electronics, manufacturing, 
trading, petrochemical and services. 
His vast audit experience included 
acting as reporting accountant for 
IPOs and the provision of accounting 
advice for mergers. In addition, he was 
the investigative accountant in several 
large-scale Singapore corporate 
investigations.

Mr Wong graduated from the London 
School of Economics and Political 
Science, with a degree in Economics. 
Mr Wong is a Fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England and 
Wales, and a member of the Institute 
of Singapore Chartered Accountants 
(ISCA). He was a former practicing 
Certifi ed Public Accountant of the 
Institute of Certifi ed Public Accountants 
of Singapore (now known as ISCA), as 

J O N A T H A N  S .  H U B E R M A N
Independent Non-Executive Director

W O N G  Y E W  M E N G
Independent Non-Executive Director

well as the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority.

Mr Wong was previously Chairman of 
the Health Promotion Board, Chairman 
of the Singapore National Eye Centre, a 
Director of the Singapore Eye Research 
Institute, and a Board member of 
the People’s Association, Public 
Utilities Board and the Competition 
Commission of Singapore (now known 
as the Competition and Consumer 
Commission of Singapore), amongst 
other appointments.

Date of fi rst appointment as
a Director:
1 September 2009

Date of last re-election as
a Director:
24 April 2018

Committee Memberships:
• Member, Audit Committee
• Member, Nominating Committee
• Member, Remuneration Committee

Number of Directorships in listed 
companies (including Venture):
2

Major Appointments
(other than directorships):
• Board member, Land Transport 

Authority of Singapore 
• Member, Nanyang Technological 

University Board of Trustees
• Board member, Singapore Deposit 

Insurance Corporation Ltd 
• Board member, Kidney Dialysis 

Foundation Ltd

Past principal directorships in the 
last three years:
• People’s Association

F U T U R E
R E A D Y
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Ms Kay Kuok Oon Kwong, is the 
Executive Chairman of Allgreen 
Properties Limited, a Director of 
Shangri-La Hotel Limited (Singapore), 
Managing Director of Shangri-La 
Hotels (Malaysia) Bhd and a Director 
of Shangri-La Hotels Public Company 
Limited (Thailand). She sits on the 
Boards of Kuok (Singapore) Limited 
(and its various subsidiaries) and Kuok 
Brothers Sdn Bhd as well.

Ms Kuok is currently the Chairman 
of the National Healthcare Group 
Pte Ltd and the Yale-NUS College 
Governing Board. She has made 
notable contributions to education, 
tourism, healthcare, the arts and the 
environment, serving on several other 
educational and community service 
organisations, industry groups and 
government bodies, including MOH 
Holdings Pte Ltd, the Singapore Hotels 
Association, The Courage Fund Limited, 
the VIVA Foundation for Children with 
Cancer, the Wildlife Reserves Singapore 
Conservation Fund, the Northlight 
School, and the National University
of Singapore.

Ms Kuok has received the Meritorious 
Service Medal, the Public Service 
Star (BBM) and the Public Service 
Medal (PSM) from the President of 
Singapore in 2015, 2005 and 1998 
respectively. The Singapore Tourism 
Board honoured her with its Inaugural 
Award for Lifetime Achievement for 
Outstanding Contribution to Tourism 
in 2009 and its Special Recognition 
Award in 2004. She also received the 
PIS Medal from the Sultan of Johor for 
Social Work in 1980.

K A Y  K U O K  O O N  K W O N G
Independent Non-Executive Director

Ms Kuok is an Advocate and Solicitor 
(Barrister-at-Law) from Gray’s Inn, 
London.

Date of fi rst appointment as
a Director:
1 January 2018

Date of last re-election as
a Director:
24 April 2018

Committee Membership:
• Chairman, Nominating Committee 

(appointed 7 August 2019)

Number of Directorships in listed 
companies (including Venture):
3

Major Appointments
(other than directorships):
• Chairman, National Healthcare 

Group Pte Ltd
• Chairman, Yale-NUS College 

Governing Board
• Board member, MOH Holdings

Pte Ltd
• Board member, Singapore Hotels 

Association 
• Chairman, The Courage Fund 

Limited 
• Vice-Chair, VIVA Foundation for 

Children with Cancer 
• Board member, Wildlife Reserves 

Singapore Conservation Fund
• Board member, Northlight School 
• Chairperson, Nominating 

Committee; Member, Executive 
Committee, NUS

• Member, NUS Board of Trustees
• Chairman, TTSH Community Fund 

Past principal directorships in the 
last three years:
• SymAsia Foundation Limited

Mr Han Thong Kwang has a strong 
background, global experience and 
depth of knowledge in the technology 
industry. With nearly 30 years of 
experience, Mr Han held various senior 
management roles in operations, 
R&D, and had worldwide product-
line responsibilities. He was the Vice 
President of the Business Printing 
Division of Hewlett-Packard Company 
for 14 years. He was responsible for 
developing and launching of the 
division’s products and solutions, and 
driving its businesses worldwide. He 
was also responsible for setting up and 
running of the printing R&D centres in 
Singapore, China and India for 3 years.

Mr Han holds a Bachelor in Mechanical 
Engineering (Honours) and a Master of 
Science in Management of Technology 
from the National University of 
Singapore.

Date of fi rst appointment as
a Director:
1 January 2016

Date of last re-election as
a Director:
27 April 2017

Committee Memberships:
• Member, Audit Committee
• Member, Investment Committee

Number of Directorships in listed 
companies (including Venture):
1

H A N  T H O N G  K W A N G
Independent Non-Executive Director

B O A R D  O F
D I R E C T O R S
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Ms Tan Seok Hoong @Mrs Audrey Liow, 
has strong experience and background 
in marketing, management and 
operations in the nutrition, health and 
wellness industry. She retired in May 
2018 as the Market Head, Chairman 
and CEO of Nestlé Indochina Region, 
after 30 years of dedicated service with 
the Nestlé Group. During her prolifi c 
tenure with Nestlé, she held various 
commercial and leadership roles in 
Singapore, China, Switzerland, and 
across Asia and the Indochina regions.

Mrs Liow previously served as a 
Director on the Board of Nestlé ROH 
(Thailand) Ltd. She currently serves 
on the Tanjong Katong Girls’ School 
Advisory Committee. She is also an 
independent Director of Hyphens 
Pharma International Limited and 
a Director of Heliconia Capital 
Management Pte Ltd.

Mrs Liow holds a Bachelor of Science 
degree from the National University 
of Singapore (NUS). In 2014, she was 
awarded the Outstanding Science 
Alumni Award by NUS in recognition 
of her accomplishments and 
contributions. She has also attended 
the Leadership Programme at London 
Business School and the Berkeley-
Nanyang Advanced Management 
Programme.

Date of fi rst appointment as
a Director:
1 November 2018

Date of last re-election as
a Director:
24 April 2019

T A N  S E O K  H O O N G  @ M R S  A U D R E Y  L I O W
Independent Non-Executive Director

Committee Memberships:
• Member, Remuneration Committee
• Member, Investment Committee

Number of Directorships in listed 
companies (including Venture):
2

Major Appointments 
(other than directorships):
• Vice-Chairman, Tanjong Katong 

Girls’ School Advisory Committee
• Member, IPI Singapore (subsidiary 

of ESG), Innovation Advisory 
Committee

Past principal directorships in the 
last three years:
• Nestlé ROH (Thailand) Ltd.  

F U T U R E
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Mr Lee Ghai Keen joined the Group 
in March 1998 and was appointed 
to his current position in 2012. He 
provides key leadership to Group-wide 
R&D e­ orts and programmes and 
leads a large group of R&D engineers 
across the Group’s design centres in 
Singapore, Malaysia, China and the 
United States. He is also responsible 
for the Group’s Retail Store Solutions 
& Industrial Products business and 
operations in Singapore, Malaysia 
and China.

Mr Lee has amassed considerable 
experience in research, engineering 
and design development in the 
electronics sector. He holds seven US 
design patents. Prior to 1998, Mr Lee 
was employed by the Hewlett-Packard 
Company. He held various R&D 
positions within the company.

Mr Lee holds a Bachelor of Science 
degree in Mechanical Engineering 
from the University of Glasgow, United 
Kingdom and a Master of Business in 
IT degree from the Royal Melbourne 
Institute of Technology, Australia.

Mr Ng Chee Kwoon is the Chief 
Financial O¡  cer of Venture 
Corporation Limited. As Group 
CFO, Mr Ng is responsible for the 
Group’s fi nance and accounting 
function encompassing fi nancial and 
statutory reporting, corporate and 
fi nancial planning, treasury, tax, risk 
management and investor relations. 
Mr Ng is also a member of the Group’s 
Investment Committee.

Mr Ng brings with him more than 25 
years of fi nance experience spanning 
from multinational corporations to 
SGX-listed companies. Prior to joining 
Venture, Mr Ng had held senior fi nance 
positions in various organisations 
including WBL Corporation Limited, 
Popular Holdings Limited, Delphi 
Automotive Systems, BHP Limited and 
the Singapore Civil Service.

Mr Ng graduated with a Bachelor’s 
degree in Accountancy from the 
Nanyang Technological University, 
Singapore, and completed a 
management problem solving 
and decision making programme 
conducted by Kepner-Tregoe 
International, Princeton, U.S.A. 
Mr Ng is a Chartered Accountant with 
the Institute of Singapore Chartered 
Accountants.

L E E  G H A I  K E E N
Executive Vice President
Technology Products & Solutions

W O N G  N G I T  L I O N G *
Chairman and CEO

N G  C H E E  K W O O N
Chief Financial O¡  cer

K E Y  M A N A G E M E N T
E X E C U T I V E S

* Please refer to page 15

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
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L I M  S I T A
Chief Human Resource O¡  cer

W O N G  C H E E  K H E O N G
Senior Vice President
Healthcare and Wellness
Global Supply Base Management
Information Technology

Mr Lim Sita joined the Group in 
September 2014. He is responsible 
for the Group’s human resource 
(HR) function and provides strategic 
leadership to drive Group-wide 
HR policies, practices, systems 
and processes and build employee 
engagement.

Mr Lim has more than 20 years of 
extensive experience in human 
resource management and industrial 
relations having worked with 
multinational corporations in the 
marine and o­ shore, advanced 
semiconductor manufacturing and 
the pharmaceutical and medical 
device sectors. Mr Lim has also 
amassed considerable cross-border 
experience given his previous regional 
roles covering Singapore, Malaysia, 
Indonesia, as well as Australia and the 
South Asian region.

Mr Lim holds a Bachelor of Arts 
degree from the National University
of Singapore.

Mr Wong Chee Kheong joined 
the Group in May 2003. He is the 
Senior Vice President of the Group’s 
Healthcare and Wellness business.

Mr Wong also leads the Group’s 
Global Supply Base Management team 
in strategic procurement activities 
for all electronics components, 
electro-mechanical and mechanical 
fabricated parts. In addition, he 
provides leadership for the Information 
Technology group in providing SAP, 
manufacturing execution system 
services and secured IT services for 
internal business groups, as well 
as extending business-to-business 
linkages with customers and suppliers.

Prior to joining Venture, Mr Wong 
worked in Agilent Technologies in 
various senior R&D management 
positions developing automated 
semiconductor and PCBA vision 
inspection equipment. Before that, he 
worked in Hewlett Packard in various 
R&D and management positions 
developing inkjet printing products. 
Mr Wong also had work stints in Unisys 
Corporation and Chartered Industries 
Singapore involving the development 
of computer storage and defense 
electronics products.

Mr Wong graduated with a First Class 
Honours in Electrical Engineering from 
the National University of Singapore.

Mr Dharma Nadarajah joined the Group 
in February 2001. He is responsible for 
the Group’s Advanced Manufacturing & 
Design Solutions businesses across the 
globe covering a full spectrum of high 
value-added services including product 
design and engineering, supply chain 
and supplier management, advanced 
manufacturing and test process 
development, order management and 
optimisation, product development 
and manufacturing, new product 
introduction management, as well 
as high-precision multi-cavity tool 
design and fabrication and clean room 
medical-grade injection moulding.

Prior to joining Venture, he gained 
extensive experience in the disk drive 
industry as an Engineering Manager 
and a Senior Process Engineer at 
Quantum and Seagate respectively, 
specialising in Magnetic Heads 
manufacturing technology and 
processes.

He had cross-border working 
exposure in Singapore, Malaysia, the 
United States, and Indonesia in those 
companies. Mr Nadarajah was also 
trained in the United Kingdom as a Field 
Engineer for Schlumberger Wireline, 
and deployed on various o­ shore oil 
platforms around the world.

Mr Nadarajah holds a Bachelor of 
Engineering (Honours) degree in 
Computer Systems Engineering 
from the University of Bristol, United 
Kingdom, which he attended as a 
Malaysia Public Service Department 
scholar. He also holds an MBA 
from the Nanyang Business School, 
Nanyang Technological University, 
Singapore, where he was the Institute 
of Engineers’ Gold Medallist.

D H A R M A  N A D A R A J A H
Executive Vice President
Advanced Manufacturing & 
Design Solutions

* Please refer to page 15
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L I S T  O F
P R O P E R T I E S

Location Address
Site area 

(Sq.m.) Tenure Usage

Singapore
MK 18, Lot No. 17946P
Singapore

5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
TECHplace ll, Singapore 569873

8,219 Leasehold
(Expiring 2052)

O¡  ce and 
Industrial

MK 13, Lot No. 2361
Singapore

28 Marsiling Lane
Singapore 739152

10,550 Leasehold
(Expiring 2022)

O¡  ce and
Industrial

Malaysia
Geran 459975 Lot 44895
(formerly known as HS(D) 
270912 PTD 68794)
Mukim Tebrau
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

2 (PLO 121), Jalan Firma 1/3
Kawasan Perindustrian Tebrau 1
81100 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia

15,443 Leasehold
(Expiring 2054)

O¡  ce and
Industrial

HS(D) 333450
PTD 97125, Mukim Tebrau
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

1, Jalan Firma 1
Kawasan Perindustrian Tebrau 1
81100 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia

44,470 Leasehold
(Expiring 2052)

Industrial

HS(D) 45801 
PTD 8824, Mukim Senai
Kulai, Johor, Malaysia

PLO 49, Jalan Perindustrian 4
Kawasan Perindustrian 2
81400 Senai
Johor, Malaysia

4,978 Leasehold
(Expiring 2052)

Industrial

HS(D) 445334
PTD 100821, Mukim Senai-Kulai
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

PLO 34 & 35, Fasa 2
Kawasan Perindustrian Senai
81400 Senai
Johor, Malaysia

24,581 Leasehold
(Expiring 2049)

O¡  ce and
Industrial

HS(D) 270914
PTD 68796, Mukim Tebrau
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

4 & 4a (PLO 117), Jalan Firma 1
Kawasan Perindustrian Tebrau 1
81100 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia

16,187 Leasehold
(Expiring 2025)

O¡  ce and
Industrial

HS(D) 237904-237908
PTD 67770-67774, 
Mukim Tebrau
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

2, 4, 6 & 8 Jalan Kempas 5/2
Tampoi Industrial Area
81200 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia

29,029 Freehold Industrial

HS(D) 218290
PTD 64850, Mukim Tebrau
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

5 (PLO 5), Jalan Firma 1
Kawasan Perindustrian Tebrau 1
81100 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia

18,763 Freehold Industrial

HS(D) 468918
PTD 152116, Mukim Tebrau
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

47, Jalan Riang 21 
Taman Gembira
81200 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia

4,730 Freehold Industrial

J O H O R  B A H R U 
M A L A Y S I A

M A R S I L I N G
S I N G A P O R E

A N G  M O  K I O
S I N G A P O R E

J O H O R  B A H R U 
M A L A Y S I A

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9
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M I L P I T A S
U S A

S E N A I
M A L A Y S I A

Location Address
Site area 

(Sq.m.) Tenure Usage
HS(D) 6220
LOT 4020 Mukim Tebrau
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

49, Jalan Riang 21
Taman Gembira
81200 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia

3,476 Freehold Industrial

HS(D) 6221
LOT 4021 Mukim Tebrau
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

51, Jalan Riang 21
Taman Gembira
81200 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia

3,195 Freehold Industrial

HS(D) 6222
LOT 4022 Mukim Tebrau
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

53, Jalan Riang 21
Taman Gembira
81200 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia

3,111 Freehold Industrial

HS(D) 6223
LOT 4023 Mukim Tebrau
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

55, Jalan Riang 21
Taman Gembira
81200 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia

3,093 Freehold Industrial

HS(D) 46117
PT 5272, Seberang
Perai Selatan
Penang, Malaysia

Plot 318, Batu Kawan Industrial Park
Seberang Perai
Penang, Malaysia

123,706 Leasehold
(Expiring 2074)

Industrial

HS(D) 8712
PT 3217, Bayan Lepas
Penang, Malaysia

Plot 44, Bayan Lepas Industrial Park IV
11900 Bayan Lepas
Penang, Malaysia

39,522 Leasehold
(Expiring 2055)

Industrial

Lot 12368
Mukim 12, Barat Daya
Penang, Malaysia

Plot 26, Hilir Sungai Kluang 3
Bayan Lepas Free Industrial Zone Phase 4
11900 Bayan Lepas
Penang, Malaysia

8,981 Leasehold
(Expiring 2051)

O¡  ce and
Industrial

China
Shanghai,
People’s Republic of China

69 Huang Yang Road
Tower 2, 6/F, Unit D, Xin He Gardens
Jin Qiao, Pudong Shanghai 201206
People’s Republic of China

156 Leasehold
(Expiring 2063)

Residential

Shanghai,
People’s Republic of China

668 Li Shi Zhen Road
Zhangjiang Hi-Tech Park
Pudong Shanghai 201203
People’s Republic of China

20,000 Leasehold
(Expiring 2050)

O¡  ce and
Industrial

USA
A.P.N.: 086-03-081
Milpitas, California
United States of America

1621 Barber Lane
(also known as 481 Cottonwood Drive)
Milpitas, CA 95035
United States of America

39,012 Freehold O¡  ce and
Industrial

P E N A N G
M A L A Y S I A

S H A N G H A I
C H I N A

F U T U R E
R E A D Y
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“A S  A  F U T U R E - R E A D Y  A N D  S O C I A L LY 

R E S P O N S I B L E  O R G A N I S AT I O N , 

I T  I S  I M P E R AT I V E  T H AT  V E N T U R E 

C O N T I N U E S  T O  I M P R O V E  O N  I T S 

S U S TA I N A B I L I T Y  P R A C T I C E S .”

Dear Stakeholders,

As one of the constituents of the Straits 
Times Index, a benchmark index for 
the Singapore stock market, Venture 
aims to create and capture long-term 
sustainable value for our stakeholders. 
We have constantly reviewed current 
performance and set new goals for our 
Environment, Social and Governance 
material factors.

Central to Venture’s economic 
progress is a strong corporate 
governance backbone that guides, 
drives and oversees the organisation 
towards greater heights. We are 
pleased to report that there were 
no signifi cant incidents of non-
compliance with any relevant 
socio-economic and environmental 
regulatory frameworks in our locations 
of operations covered in this report, 
which represents more than three 
quarters of our 2019 revenue.

As a global provider of technology 
services, products, and solutions, 
safeguarding the confi dentiality of 

our customers’ and stakeholders’ 
information is important. Various 
policies, processes and systems 
improvements have been 
implemented in 2019 to enhance 
the protection of confi dential 
information. This includes data 
compartmentalisation to segregate 
confi dential information and 
implementing controls for USB 
storage devices to prevent data losses. 

Our Workplace Safety and Health 
committee is dedicated to overseeing 
the management and enforcement of 
our Occupational Health and Safety 
policies. We are pleased to announce 
that there were zero fatalities and 
zero incidents of non-compliance 
with any relevant health and safety 
laws and regulations in all reported 
locations of operations. 

Developing our people, who are 
the essence of our organisation, is 
important for our long-term success. 
We will continue to refi ne and 
enhance our employment practices 
through initiatives that improve 

employee well-being, as well as 
embrace diversity and inclusion to 
attract and retain the best talent. 

We recognise the importance of 
environmentally sustainable practices 
and have maintained the ISO 14001 
certifi cations at all our operational 
sites. We have implemented several 
energy e¡  ciency and water reduction 
initiatives to improve our energy 
and water usage. Please refer to the 
respective sections of our report for 
more information.

As a future-ready and socially 
responsible organisation, it is 
imperative that Venture continues to 
improve on its sustainability practices. 

Board of Directors
Venture Corporation Limited

L E T T E R  F R O M
T H E  B O A R D

S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  R E P O R T

F U T U R E
R E A D Y
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2 0 1 9
A T  A  G L A N C E

REDUCED 
ELECTRICITY 

CONSUMPTION 
INTENSITY AND 

CARBON EMISSIONS 
INTENSITY

ALL SITES 
CERTIFIED TO 

ISO 14001

186 AVERAGE 
TRAINING HOURS 

PER EMPLOYEE

ZERO FATALITIES 
AT REPORTED 

SITES

ZERO BREACHES 
OF CUSTOMER 

PRIVACY

2 0 1 9
A T  A  G L A N C E

S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  R E P O R T

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9
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This section in our Annual Report 2019 contains our third 
annual Sustainability Report (“report”) for the period  
1 January to 31 December 2019 (“FY2019”). This report 
communicates our approach, e­ orts, performance data 
and related information for our material economic, 
environmental, social and governance (“EESG”) factors that 
are key to our business and stakeholders. We recommend 
reading this report together with the other sections of 
our Annual Report 2019, which provides key information 
on our fi nancial performance, as well as details on our 
corporate governance and risk management.

We have chosen the Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) 
reporting standards and principles to ensure stakeholder 
inclusiveness, accuracy, clarity, reliability and comparability 
of the information presented in this report. This report 
has been prepared in accordance with the GRI Standards: 
Core option. This report also complies with requirements 
of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 
(“SGX-ST”) Listing Rules Practice Note 7.6 Sustainability 
Reporting Guide. 

A B O U T  T H I S 
R E P O R T

The scope of this report covers our major sites in 
Singapore and Malaysia that collectively contribute more 
than three quarters of Venture’s FY2019 revenue. There is 
no signifi cant change to the size, structure or ownership 
of our operations compared to the previous report. We 
have expanded the scope of this year’s report to include 
two additional sites in Malaysia – Penang and Senai - 
in addition to Ang Mo Kio, Marsiling and Johor Bahru.

This report uses standard units of measurement. 
Conversion factors, where required, are explained in their 
respective sections.

Venture has not commissioned any third-party assurance 
on this report. For now, our focus is on engaging 
stakeholders and integrating stakeholders’ feedback into 
the sustainability management of our organisation.

We highly value stakeholder feedback and warmly 
welcome your comments to help us improve our 
performance in sustainability. If you have comments, 
please send them to sustainability@venture.com.sg.

F U T U R E
R E A D Y
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V E N T U R E ’ S 
S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y 
A P P R O A C H

G O V E R N A N C E

Venture’s sustainability strategy and approach is based on 
our commitment to create impactful long-term value for 
our business partners, employees, shareholders and all 
other stakeholders. The implementation of our sustainability 
strategy is anchored on our strong governance, corporate 
culture and fi ve core values, which form the foundation of all 
our operations and activities: 

O U R  S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y

G O V E R N A N C E  S T R U C T U R E
Relentless pursuit of excellence

Rendering the highest level of total 

customer satisfaction

Encouraging employees to realise

their full potential

Building strong cohesion and teamwork

Fostering creativity and innovation

As sustainability or EESG factors are important aspects in 
our business decisions and commitment to long-term value 
creation, we will further integrate our EESG performance 
through the implementation of sustainability-focused 
practices across our operations. This is guided by the highest 
level of Venture’s leadership.

The Board provides oversight of the management and 
monitoring of the material EESG factors to align with 
Venture’s strategy and long-term value creation. The 
Board oversees Venture’s sustainability strategy through 
the Sustainability Steering Committee (“SSC”). The SSC, 
comprising senior leaders from di­ erent strategic business 

Provides oversight on signifi cant 

EESG factors that are material 

to Venture’s long-term business 

objective

Develops Venture’s sustainability 

strategy and policies; monitors 

performance

Manages Venture’s sustainability 

policies, initiatives, and 

programmes

Implement Venture’s 

sustainability initiatives and 

programmes

Sustainability Task 
Force (“STF”)

Board of Directors

Sustainability Steering 
Committee (“SSC”)

All Employees

and operational units, has direct advisory supervision on 
Venture’s sustainability strategy, initiatives and performance. 
The SSC meets annually to review Venture’s sustainability 
plans. On behalf of the SSC, the Investor Relations and 
Corporate Communications team provides periodic updates 
on sustainability to the Board. 

The SSC is supported by the Sustainability Task Force (“STF”) 
which comprises representatives across Venture’s business 
and operational units. The STF is involved in the day-to-
day management of Venture’s sustainability initiatives 
and programmes. Venture’s sustainability initiatives and 
programmes are implemented by all our employees across 
di­ erent business and operational units. 

Sustainability risks beyond the six material factors identifi ed 
and reported in this report are actively deliberated within 
Venture’s Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) Framework. 
Appropriate controls and mitigating steps are applied for all 
potential sustainability risks. In this report, we focus on our 
key material issues.

S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  R E P O R T

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9
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E T H I C S  A N D  C O M P L I A N C E

At Venture, we have an unwavering commitment 
in pursuing excellence, balancing our economic 
performance and technological leadership with our role as 
a responsible organisation and employer in an increasingly 
interconnected economic, social, and environmental 
landscape. The key guiding principle at the core of 
our business is our commitment to a high standard of 
corporate governance.  

We place a strong emphasis on conducting our business 
with integrity and in compliance with all applicable laws 
and regulatory framework of our countries of operation. 
These include regulations on export control, operational 
permits, fi nance and accounting, labour laws, customer 
protection, personal data protection, workers’ health and 
safety, use of confl ict-free minerals and environmental 
frameworks. 

To proactively ensure compliance with all laws and 
regulations, we have instituted various policies across the 
Group to guide our business conduct. These policies apply 
to all our operations and employees. 

Based on stakeholders’ interest, we have highlighted 
details of some key topics, including our policies and 
management approach to ensure good governance and 
ethical conduct across our operations.

For further details on our Code of Conduct, 
policies mentioned above and list of other 
policies, please refer to our Sustainability & 
Governance webpage at https://www.venture.
com.sg/sustainability-governance/

L A B O U R
R E L A T I O N S

Venture is committed to ensuring that our 
employees and workers are respected, and our 
operations are free from any forms of worker 
exploitation and slavery. As our workforce is 
made up of a signifi cant number of migrant 
workers, we actively engage with our recruitment 
service providers, including conducting audits, 
to ensure that the recruitment process complies 
with all local regulations and our Social Code 
of Conduct (the “Code of Conduct”).

Venture’s Code of Conduct encompasses eleven 
major areas, including labour rights, humane 
treatment of workers, non-discrimination, 
freedom of association and occupational 
health and safety. It references international 
labour norms and standards such as the 
Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the 
International Labour Organisation’s International 
Labour Standards. It is reviewed regularly based 
on extensive consultation with governments, 
non-government organisations and other 
stakeholders. 

Our Code of Conduct applies to all our 
operations around the world. Therefore, it 
establishes a company-wide standard and fosters 
an environment of trust and ethical behaviour 
amongst our people. 

In addition to that, we are committed to ban all 
forms of labour exploitation in our operations 
and put in safeguards and measures in the hiring 
process to prevent exploitation by parties involved.

F U T U R E
R E A D Y
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V E N T U R E ’ S 
S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y 
A P P R O A C H

A N T I - B R I B E R Y  A N D 
C O R R U P T I O N  ( “ A B C ” ) 

A N D  W H I S T L E - B L O W E R 
P R O T E C T I O N

We uphold a corporate culture of integrity and 
have a zero-tolerance approach towards fraud 
and corruption. Policies and practices on ABC 
are included in our Code of Conduct. We are 
committed to complying with all anti-corruption and 
anti-bribery laws in all our locations of operations.

On top of instituting our Code of Conduct, we also 
have several mechanisms in place to mitigate and 
identify risk and potential corruption violations. 
For example, we have a Whistle-Blowing Policy to 
provide employees and third parties with a secure 
channel to report or raise concerns about possible 
improprieties, without fear of reprisal in any form. 
Information on our whistle-blowing channels 
are communicated widely. The whistle-blowing 
reporting channels are overseen by the Head of 
Internal Audit and is administered by the Internal 
Audit, Human Resources and Legal departments. 

Employees are required to complete an Annual 
Self-Declaration on Confl icts of Interest, to 
prevent and detect potential corruption violations. 
In addition, Venture’s third-party suppliers are 
required to strictly adhere to our Code of Business 
Conduct for Suppliers.

We are pleased to report that no public legal cases 
regarding corruption were brought against Venture 
and its subsidiaries in 2019. No contracts with 
business partners or suppliers had to be terminated 
due to violation related to corruption.

R E S T R I C T I O N  O F  T H E  U S E
O F  C O N F L I C T  M I N E R A L S

We are committed to sourcing components and 
materials from companies that share our values 
around labour rights, ethics, human rights and 
environmental responsibility. Venture adheres 
to governmental regulations and international 
standards such as the Responsible Business 
Alliance (“RBA”) standards and the Global 
e-Sustainability Initiative (“GeSI”) on confl ict 
minerals. Our Confl ict Minerals Policy is modelled 
on the RBA reporting requirements. 

We frequently communicate and engage with 
our suppliers to ensure compliance to the RBA 
standards on confl ict minerals. We also require all 
our suppliers to adopt policies and fulfi l their due 
diligence to assure that the Tantalum (Ta), Tin (Sn), 
Tungsten (W), and Gold (Au) used in the products 
that they manufacture are not sourced from mines 
in confl ict areas. 

We are pleased to report that there were no 
incidents of non-compliance with our Confl ict 
Minerals Policy in 2019. No contracts with business 
partners or suppliers had to be terminated due 
to the presence of confl ict minerals in their 
supply chain.

S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  R E P O R T

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9
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We require all new employees to undergo an induction 
programme, which covers Venture’s core values and our 
various policies, including the Code of Conduct and the 
Confl ict Minerals Policy. Training is also provided to our 
employees to keep them abreast on recent developments 
or sustainability-related risks which may impact their 
business or operational functions. We are also in the 
process of developing new communication modules 
and refresher trainings on our Code of Conduct for all 
our employees. We are pleased to report that as of 
31 December 2019, new employees from the reported 
sites have undergone these programmes.

We are also pleased to report that during the reporting 
period, there were no signifi cant incidents of non-
compliance with any relevant socio-economic and 
environmental regulatory frameworks in our locations 
of operations covered in this report. There were no 
signifi cant fi nes or non-monetary sanctions imposed on 
Venture or its subsidiaries.

We will not be resting on our laurels. As we progress in our 
journey to achieve our aspiration of becoming a global 
technology powerhouse, good corporate governance and 
ethical conduct will continue to be at the heart of
our business. 

Target / Goal Progress

Zero incidents of non-compliance with all relevant laws 
and regulations

 No non-compliance with all relevant laws and 
regulations in 2019; ongoing for 2020

Roll out new communication modules and refresher 
trainings on Code of Conduct for employees

 Ongoing

 On Track   New Target

F U T U R E
R E A D Y
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V E N T U R E ’ S 
S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y 
A P P R O A C H

S T A K E H O L D E R  E N G A G E M E N T

We defi ne our stakeholders as persons or groups whom 
our business has a signifi cant impact on, and those with a 
vested interest in our business or operational performance. 
By assessing the signifi cance and impact of our stakeholders’ 
interest on Venture’s business and vice versa, we have 
identifi ed three key stakeholder groups, namely our business 
partners, employees and shareholders.

Additionally, Venture constantly engages a broader range 
of stakeholders, including national and local governments, 

Stakeholder Group Topics of Concern Engagement Platforms and Frequency

Business Partners - Delivery of innovative solutions with 
excellent technological and engineering 
capabilities

- Compliance to ethical and responsible 
Environment, Social and Governance 
standards along the supply chain

- Protection of confi dential information

- Regular meetings between our business 
partners and our internal resources 
including Senior Management, TCS (Total 
Customer Satisfaction) Managers, Alliance 
Management and Programme Managers

- Business review and customer scorecard
- Bi-annual trade conferences
- Regular after sales follow-up

Employees - Corporate direction and strategy
- Fair and competitive remuneration and 

benefi ts
- Career development and training 

opportunities
- Labour and human rights
- Workplace health and safety

- Induction programme for new employees
- Training and development programmes
- Regular communications and meetings, 

including town halls
- Recreational and wellness activities
- Performance appraisals and career 

development reviews

Shareholders - Financial performance
- Business outlook
- Shareholder value and returns

- Annual General Meetings
- Annual and sustainability reports
- Result briefi ngs
- Regular analyst and investor engagements
- Non-deal roadshows
- Company website

suppliers, investor analysts, local communities, industry 
associations and interest groups through various avenues. 
We carefully consider the interests and concerns raised by 
these stakeholders in our business strategy, management 
decisions and operations.

The following table shows the di­ erent engagement 
methods employed with our three key stakeholder groups, 
including their key topics of concern.

S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  R E P O R T

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9
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M A T E R I A L I T Y

With the support of an independent consultant, we 
embarked on a materiality assessment process in 2017 
to identify our material sustainability factors. The list of 
material factors was subsequently reviewed in 2018. The 
process of defi ning and reviewing our material factors 
is largely based on GRI’s Principles for Defi ning Report 
Content, guided by their four-step approach which 
involves identifi cation, prioritisation, validation and 

1  Factor boundaries are defined as stakeholders who may be affected by or have influence on Venture’s material sustainability factors.

review. During the process, we took into consideration 
our existing risk analysis and disclosures, industry peers’ 
disclosures, stakeholders’ feedback, as well as international 
best practices.

The following list of material factors were identifi ed and 
are addressed in our sustainability reports.

To ensure our material factors remain up-to-date and relevant to our various stakeholders and business operations, 
we plan to conduct our next materiality review by 2021.

Venture’s 
Material Sustainability 
Factors

Factor Boundaries1

Corresponding
GRI Standards
Topics

Relevant
chapter in
this report

Internal 
stakeholders

External 
stakeholders

Economic 
performance

√ √ GRI 201: Economic 
performance

- Economic 
Performance

Environmental 
management

√ √ GRI 307: Environmental 
compliance

- Our Environment

Occupational 
health and safety

√ √ GRI 403: Occupational 
health and safety

- Occupational Health 
and Safety

Talent 
attraction, 
retention and 
development

√ √ GRI 404: Training and 
education

- Our People

Protection of 
confi dential 
information

√ √ GRI 418: Customer 
privacy

- Protection of 
Confi dential 
Information

Compliance 
with other laws 
and regulations

√ √ GRI 419: Socioeconomic 
compliance
GRI 307: Environmental 
compliance

- Ethics and 
Compliance

- Our Environment

F U T U R E
R E A D Y
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A W A R D S  A N D  A C C O L A D E S

Venture has been honoured with numerous awards and accolades that refl ect our commitment to business excellence 
and our stakeholders. We are pleased to report that in 2019, we were conferred with several prestigious awards including 
awards from our customers, recognising our contributions to economic performance.

Venture is ranked amongst the largest companies listed 
on the Singapore Exchange (“SGX”). Our strong fi nancial 
and market achievement would not have been possible 
without the combined e� orts of all our stakeholders. 
The collaboration of our teams’ expertise across various 
technology domains have allowed us to generate solutions 
that o� er long-term value creation in the marketplace.

Economic performance is a key material factor for us 
as we believe in inclusive growth for our organisation, 
shareholders, business partners, employees, communities, 
and all other stakeholders. We are committed to 
delivering innovative and transformational engineering 
solutions for our stakeholders. By generating long-term 
sustainable value, we can positively contribute back to the 
communities in which we operate.

Recognising the fi nancial interconnectivity we have with 
our di� erent stakeholders, we are committed to ensuring 

Forbes Asia’s Best Over
A Billion 2019

One of top nine Singapore 
companies in this inaugural 

Asia Pacifi c list

Awards from customers in 2019 (non-exhaustive list)

Best Performance Supplier Award     •     Platinum Supplier Award     •     Preferred Supplier Award

The Edge Singapore’s 
Billion Dollar Club:

Fastest Growing Company 
(Manufacturing Sector) 

for the 2nd time

The Edge Singapore’s 
Billion Dollar Club:

 Best in Sector 
(Manufacturing Sector) for 

two consecutive years

The Edge Singapore’s 
Billion Dollar Club:

 Overall Winner in the 
inaugural category

that our business and operations are conducted in a 
responsible manner. Venture’s Board of Directors and Senior 
Management team uphold good corporate governance 
in driving sound business decisions and performance. The 
Board is supported by four committees comprising the Audit, 
Nominating, Remuneration and Investment committees. 
The Board monitors Venture’s compliance with laws and 
regulatory requirements, including continued compliance 
with the SGX listing obligations. 

Our economic achievements are also dependent on our 
intangible assets. These intangible assets include our 
employees and our commitment to environmental and 
social responsibility, which will be further discussed in the 
subsequent chapters of this report.

For information on our fi nancial performance and business 
plans, please refer to pages 8 to 11 and pages 92 to 196 of 
our Annual Report 2019.

S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  R E P O R T

E C O N O M I C
P E R F O R M A N C E

The winners, organisers and sponsor at the gala dinner held on 6 September 2019 
at Shangri-La Hotel, Singapore

Venture’s CFO, Mr Alvin Ng, receiving the Company of the Year Award

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9
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O U R
E N V I R O N M E N T

Target / Goal Progress

Zero cases of signifi cant fi nes or non-monetary sanctions 
related to environmental laws and regulations

 No signifi cant fi nes or non-monetary sanctions 
related to environmental laws and regulations in 2019; 
ongoing for 2020

All sites to maintain ISO 14001 certifi cations  All operational sites certifi ed to ISO 14001 in 2019; 
ongoing for 2020

Reduce GHG emissions intensity  Ongoing

 On Track   New Target

At Venture, we believe that the e�  cient use of resources 
is essential for sustained economic growth. We have 
therefore instituted a systematic approach towards 
integrating practices for resource use e�  ciency into
our operations.

Our resource use e�  ciency e� orts are driven by the Lean 
Council. The Lean Council drives the Lean philosophy 
across our operations and is supported by a group of 
carefully selected Lean Leads and Site Champions. These 
Leads and Site Champions are appointed to continuously 
explore new ideas and opportunities to improve Venture’s 
manufacturing processes and competencies. We 
believe that the utilisation of continuous improvement 
methodology such as Lean will benefi t both the 
organisation and the environment as it addresses issues 
such as resource waste. This therefore reduces costs, 
time, and mitigates negative e� ects of our operations on 
the environment. 

Whilst the Lean Council focuses on improving our 
resource use e�  ciency in our manufacturing processes, 

Venture’s environmental initiatives are driven by the 
Environmental Management System (“EMS”) Committee. 
The EMS Committee is made up of appointed 
environmental management representatives who manage 
and track the performance objectives and targets for their 
respective sites. They are also in charge of ensuring that 
our operations comply with all environmental regulations 
and requirements. The Committee is also involved in 
implementing and reviewing Venture’s group-wide 
environmental initiatives. 

In 2019, all our operational sites maintained their ISO 
14001 certifi cation for Environmental Management 
Systems. We are also pleased to report that there were 
no incidents of environmental non-compliance during 
the reporting period. We aim to maintain the ISO 14001 
certifi cations for all our operational sites and to uphold 
our good track record of zero non-compliance with 
environmental laws and regulations. To achieve this goal, 
our EMS Committee will continue to actively review our 
group-wide environmental policy against the evolving 
global and local environmental standards.

F U T U R E
R E A D Y
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E N E R G Y  A N D  G H G  E M I S S I O N S

Given the nature and location of our operations, the 
main source of energy at our sites is electricity from the 
grid. We recorded an increase of 7.2% of total electricity 
consumed from 90,744 MWh in 2018 to 97,235 MWh in 
2019 for the fi ve sites under the scope. This was mainly 
due to an increase in production, which corresponds 
with the higher revenue recorded in 2019. As such, our 
electricity consumption intensity by revenue decreased 
from 37.5 MWh/$’000 in 2018 to 36.9 MWh/$’000 in 20191. 
The scope of this data includes our fi ve main sites, namely 
Ang Mo Kio, Marsiling, Johor Bahru, Senai and Penang.

In-line with our electricity consumption data, we 
recorded an increase of 7.8% of total carbon emissions 
from 56,853 TCO

2
 in 2018 to 61,267 TCO

2
 in 2019.

We are pleased to report a marginal decrease in our carbon 
emissions intensity by revenue, from 23.5 TCO

2
 /$’000 in 

2018 to 23.2 TCO
2
/$’000 in 2019.

1  The denominator (revenue) of the electricity consumption intensity is based on the five main sites’ reported revenue.

O U R
E N V I R O N M E N T

We have since implemented energy e¡  ciency initiatives 
such as the progressive upgrading of air conditioners to 
inverter types and fl uorescent lights to LED lights, which 
were rolled out at our Ang Mo Kio and Johor Bahru sites. 
The latter has implemented the switch to LED lights along 
with reminders for employees to switch o­  o¡  ce lights 
when not in use. The Johor Bahru site has also started an 
energy mapping plan which aims to further reduce energy 
use. Besides that, we completed a review of production 
schedules, which resulted in the streamlining of shifts, 
reducing our number of shifts per day from three to two. 
Additionally, toilets have been equipped with motion 
detectors, while reminders to switch o­  o¡  ce lights and 
air conditioners when not in use were put up, thus further 
reducing unnecessary electricity consumption.

T O T A L  E L E C T R I C I T Y  C O N S U M P T I O N 

A N D  I N T E N S I T Y  B Y  R E V E N U E
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T O T A L  C A R B O N  E M I S S I O N S  A N D 

I N T E N S I T Y  B Y  R E V E N U E
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W A T E R

Our primary water consumption source is the municipal 
water supply. As part of our main operations are in water-
scarce Singapore, we monitor our water use very carefully 
to avoid and mitigate harmful e­ ects of excessive 
water consumption. 

We recorded an increase of 11.6% in our water 
consumption, from 577,900 m3 in 2018 to 644,851m3

in 2019. However, our water consumption intensity by 
revenue remained fl at at 0.24 m3/$’000 in 2018 and in 2019.

To mitigate the increase in our water consumption, 
a number of water reduction initiatives have been 
implemented at our Singapore sites, such as changing 
all conventional screw type taps to faucet press types, 
reducing the water fl ow rate of our taps, and rectifying all 
possible leakages for water joints and pipes. Additionally, 
we have started a practice of using no-clean solder paste 
for all new printed circuit board assembly (“PCBA”) and 
new product introduction projects. With agreement from 
customers, our partial PCBA models in current production 
have been converted to a no-clean process. These 
practices will help eliminate washing from our production 
process, thereby reducing water consumption.    

P O L L U T I O N  C O N T R O L

The usage of machineries and equipment as part of our 
production may result in emissions of air impurities. To 
manage and mitigate the emissions of harmful substances, 
we comply with the Restriction of Hazardous Substances 
(RoHs) directive in our facilities and use only RoHs-
certifi ed equipment in our production operations. We 
have also implemented the Ozone Depleting Substances 
(“ODS”)-FREE Process Verifi cation Scheme in some of our 
operations, where necessary.

All our operational sites have management systems in place 
to prevent pollution from hazardous e¹  uents, air impurities, 
wastewater discharge and noise. We conduct regular 
inspections to ensure that our machineries are in proper 
working condition and for any signs of contamination. We 
also ensure that our operations comply with the necessary 
requirements of national and local authorities. 

T O T A L  W A T E R  C O N S U M P T I O N  A N D 

I N T E N S I T Y  B Y  R E V E N U E
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O V E R V I E W  O F  E M P L O Y E E  P R O F I L E

As at 31 December 2019, Venture employed over 12,000 
employees, of which more than three quarters are covered 
by the scope of this report. Of the reported scope, 41.4% 

Our people are our key asset in the delivery of our organisational goals. Venture’s human capital management policies 
and practices are guided by Venture’s Code of Conduct, principles of the United Nations Global Compact and applicable 
local laws and regulations.

O U R
P E O P L E

PERMANENT EMPLOYEES

TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES

TOTAL

39.7%

1.7%

41.4%

MALE
FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES

PART-TIME EMPLOYEES

TOTAL

41.4%

–

41.4%

MALE

E M P L O Y E E S  B Y  E M P L O Y M E N T 

C O N T R A C T ,  B Y  G E N D E R

E M P L O Y E E S  B Y  E M P L O Y M E N T 

T Y P E ,  B Y  G E N D E R

SINGAPORE

17.8%
PERMANENT EMPLOYEES

PERMANENT EMPLOYEES

0.2%
TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES

18.0%
TOTAL

73.0%
TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES

9.0%
TOTAL

82.0%

MALAYSIA

E M P L O Y E E S  B Y  E M P L O Y M E N T  C O N T R A C T ,  B Y  R E G I O N

of the workforce are male while the remaining 58.6% are 
female. 18.0% of our employees are based in our Singapore 
sites, while the other 82.0% are based in our Malaysia sites.

51.1%

7.5%

58.6%

FEMALE
PERMANENT EMPLOYEES

TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES

TOTAL

58.6%

<0.1%

58.6%

FEMALE
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PART-TIME EMPLOYEES

TOTAL
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We recognise that attracting and retaining the right talent 
is key in the continued success of an organisation. To this 
end, we continue to enhance our recruitment strategy and 
improve our practices to provide our employees with a 
conducive work environment.

As emphasised in our Code of Conduct, we are committed 
to providing equal recruitment and employment 
opportunities to all employees and candidates. Our policy 
on equal opportunities ban any form of discrimination 
based on race, colour, gender, sexual orientation, ethnicity 
or national origin, disability, pregnancy, religion, political 
a¡  liation, union membership, marital or social status. We 
believe that our people should be treated fairly, equally 
and with respect.

The labour relations landscape remains challenging with 
a high risk of worker exploitation by third-party labour 
suppliers. We are committed to ban all forms of labour 
exploitation in our operations and put in safeguards and 
measures in the hiring process to prevent exploitation by 
parties involved.

B Y  G E N D E R  ( % ) B Y  R E G I O N  ( % ) B Y  A G E  G R O U P  ( % )

We acknowledge that a conducive work environment also 
includes factors such as development opportunities and a 
fair and competitive remuneration package. These factors 
contribute signifi cantly to the satisfaction of our employees 
and the reputation of Venture as a workplace that strives 
for excellence. Beyond performance-based remuneration, 
we provide essential benefi ts coverage such as medical 
coverage for our employees. We also provide sports and 
recreational activities to encourage employee bonding and 
active participation for physical and mental health.

To understand the di­ erent needs of our people, we 
actively engage our employees on various platforms, such 
as performance appraisals, town halls, focus groups and 
training sessions.

During the year, we hired 357 new employees (Executives 
and above) through a mixture of talent expansion and 
replacement roles. We believe that a diversifi ed team 
with di­ erent skillsets and age groups will bring enriching 
perspectives to the workplace.

T A L E N T  A T T R A C T I O N  A N D  R E T E N T I O N

47.9% 73.9% 22.7%

52.1% 26.1% 77.3%

FEMALE MALAYSIA 40 YEARS OLD AND ABOVE

MALE SINGAPORE BELOW 40 YEARS OLD

N E W  H I R E S  ( E X E C U T I V E  &  A B O V E )  P R O F I L E  B R E A K D O W N

F U T U R E
R E A D Y
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O U R
P E O P L E

E N G A G I N G  O U R  P E O P L E  T H R O U G H  C O M M U N I T Y  I N I T I A T I V E S : 

V I S I T  T O  F I T R A H  Q A S E H  O R P H A N A G E  C E N T R E ,  J O H O R  B A H R U

In the spirit of the Ramadhan month, we took the opportunity to support and provide some respite to the poor 
and neglected in our community. In May 2019, more than 40 Venture employees visited Fitrah Qaseh Orphanage 
Centre in Larkin, Johor Bahru. The orphanage accommodates 53 at-risk children and teenagers from ages 1 
to 22. These young residents have been abandoned or abused by their parents or guardians and have lived 
in extreme poverty. The expenses for their daily needs are dependent on contributions from the public and 
voluntary bodies. 

Prior to the visit, we conducted a drive to raise funds for the children’s daily needs and to collect daily necessities 
such as groceries, toiletries and clothes. The funds and items were o­ ered to the orphanage during our visit. 
Each child was given a raya packet, while the orphanage was presented with a cash contribution. The evening 
ended with a sumptuous iftar, or ‘breaking-of-fast’ dinner with the children.

S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  R E P O R T

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9

40

    size:W210mm x H297mm     1st              Editorial    size:W210mm x H297mm     1stPage 40

W0000xx-20_0022 Venture Corp AR2019_Editorial_v19_200320_FA.indd   40 21/3/20   4:18 PM



Target / Goal Progress

Continue to refi ne and enhance employment brand to 
attract and retain the best talents 

 Ongoing

 On Track

Explore workplace initiatives 
to promote employee health, 
such as encouraging healthy 

eating habits and frequent 
physical exercise.

Engage a few top-tier 
universities to roll out a 

new Graduate Engineers 
Programme at our sites.

Enhance our performance 
management system to ensure 
a fair and objective evaluation, 

leading to constructive 
development.

T A L E N T

R E C R U I T M E N T

W O R K F O R C E

I N I T I A T I V E

T A L E N T

D E V E L O P M E N T

P L A N S  F O R
T H E  F U T U R E

F U T U R E
R E A D Y
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O U R
P E O P L E

T A L E N T  D E V E L O P M E N T

T R A I N I N G  H O U R S ,  B Y  G E N D E R
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Our people are crucial to our organisational success. 
We are always on the lookout to explore ways to enhance 
their knowledge and skills and have allocated an annual 
training budget to support work-related training needs.

In 2019, we successfully rolled out and o­ ered an 
extensive list of training topics ranging from technical skills 
to non-technical skills such as leadership and soft skills via 
an online Learning Management System (“LMS”) at three 
sites. The LMS allows employees to 24/7 access to online 
learning materials. Due to its fl exibility and ease of access, 
the LMS was well-received by employees across di­ erent 
functions and positions.

Venture also conducts other specially customised training 
programmes such as the Venture Certifi ed Manufacturing 
Engineer Programme and Venture Certifi ed Materials 
Executive Programme, which were designed and 
developed in-house to support the organisation’s needs. 
Previously only available to employees nominated by their 
supervisors, the modules are now available in the LMS for 
any interested employees.

In 2019, each employee has benefi tted from an average 
of 186 hours of formal training, with a breakdown of 
198 hours per male employee and 178 hours per female 
employee. Aside from our formal training programmes, 
our employees also receive on the job training to develop 

a vast range of technical knowledge and skillsets to align 
with Venture’s constant business growth, transformation 
and di­ erentiation. This continuous learning is enforced 
through interactions with customers, team meetings and 
management conferences where senior management 
shares future-looking ideas for discussion, brainstorming 
and strategy formulation. These trainings aim to hone our 
employees’ overall skillsets to be well-rounded, e¡  cient and 
adaptable.

S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  R E P O R T

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9
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Target / Goal Progress

Continue to improve engagement focus groups to ensure 
e­ ective and open channels are available for our employees

 Ongoing

Maintain at least 40 average training hours per employee 
in 2020

 Ongoing

 On Track   New Target

Train our employees to be 
future-ready with required 
skills and knowledge and 

maintain our human capital’s 
competitive edge.

Develop communication modules 
and refresher trainings on Venture’s 
Code of Conduct for all employees, 

as our success is anchored on a 
Corporate Governance framework 
that reinforces our commitment 

to be socially and ethically 
responsible.

Roll out a Programme Manager 
Training modular workshop 
to enable our Programme 

Management team to continue 
rendering the highest level of 

total customer satisfaction
to our partners.

T A L E N T

D E V E L O P M E N T

W O R K F O R C E

T R A N S F O R M A T I O N

E M P L O Y E E

C O M M U N I C A T I O N S

P L A N S  F O R
T H E  F U T U R E

F U T U R E
R E A D Y
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O C C U P A T I O N A L 
H E A L T H  A N D  S A F E T Y

We believe that good health and safety performance 
improves employee morale, as well as our organisational 
reputation. At Venture, our goal is to ensure that all our 
employees and workers return home safely every day. To 
achieve this goal, we have a strong focus on maintaining a 
healthy and safe culture across our operations.

Our Occupational Health and Safety (“OHS”)-related 
policies at both Group and operational levels set out clear 
guidelines and procedures to instill this culture. At the Group 
level, policies such as the Health and Safety Policy, Code 
of Conduct and Employee Handbook cover OHS-related 
rules and guide best practices. Venture also has specifi cally 
tailored policies at di­ erent operational sites and work 
areas to keep our workplace safe and conducive. Some 
examples of these operation-specifi c policies include clean-
up of chemical spillage, scheduled waste management, 
hygiene and sanitation, fi re safety, fi rst-aid and emergency 
preparedness. These policies are aligned to internationally 
recognised standards such as the OHSAS 18001.

Our Workplace Safety and Health (“WSH”) Committee 
oversees the management of OHS at Venture. This 
Committee ensures that health and safety policies and 

management systems are properly implemented. They 
are also involved in developing annual plans, setting 
performance indicators and monitoring them. The WSH 
Committee is supported by the management and safety 
o¡  cers of each operational site. Regular audits and 
management reviews are conducted to improve our 
existing safety standards and practices and to ensure 
compliance to all local laws and regulations pertaining 
to health and safety. We are pleased to report that during 
the reporting period, there were no incidents of non-
compliance with any relevant health and safety laws and 
regulations in all our locations of operation. We aim to 
maintain this performance in 2020.

To inculcate high standards of OHS, trainings are 
conducted at all our operational sites. Fire drills and 
safety training to enhance employees’ preparedness 
during emergencies are also conducted throughout the 
year. Venture also ensures that on-site contractors or 
third-party suppliers receive relevant briefi ngs on health 
and safety compliance. We are pleased to report that all 
employees who are required to attend the mandatory 
OHS training programmes have completed these 
programmes in 2019.

S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  R E P O R T

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9
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Besides that, we adhere to preventative measures such 
as upkeep of equipment, usage of personal protection 
equipment, and elimination of hazards at all our sites. 
Production equipment and machinery are regularly 
evaluated for safety hazards. If necessary, maintenance will 
be conducted to eliminate any risk of injuries. Employees 
who are exposed to potential health hazards are also 
provided access to regular health tests and screening.

We take OHS incidents very seriously. All incidents, 
regardless of severity must be reported to the manager 
or supervisor immediately. The manager or supervisor 
will assess the severity of the accident and o­ er guidance 
to manage the situation. All reportable incidents are fi led 
to the relevant authorities governing the jurisdiction that 
Venture operates in.

1  Injury Rate, or number of workplace injuries per million manhours worked = (Number of fatal injuries + Number of non-fatal injuries) / Total number of  
 man-hours worked x 1,000,000. It is assumed that each employee worked a total of 40 man-hours per week.
2  Lost Day Rate, or number of man days lost per million manhours worked = Number of man days lost / Total number of man-hours worked x 1,000,000. 
 It is assumed that each employee worked a total of 40 man-hours per week.
3  ODR = Number of occupational disease incidents / 100,000 employed persons

There were ten work-related accidents in 2019. Five were 
sustained by employees in our Singapore sites, while fi ve 
were sustained by employees in our Malaysia sites. As a 
result of these injuries, we recorded an Injury Rate of 1.6 
and 0.3 for our Singapore and Malaysia sites respectively. 
Our Singapore sites recorded a higher Lost Day Rate, at 
100.3, compared to our Malaysia sites, at 6.2, due to three 
accidents which occurred in the fourth quarter of 2018, 
with the number of lost days rolling over into the fi rst 
quarter of 2019.

In 2019, we recorded an overall absentee rate of 2.9 days 
per employee, with an average of 6.3 days per employee 
in Singapore and an average of 2.2 days per employee
in Malaysia.
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O C C U P A T I O N A L 
H E A L T H  A N D  S A F E T Y

Target / Goal Progress

All safety o¡  cers to maintain their certifi cations  All our safety o¡  cer maintained their certifi cations in 
2019; ongoing in 2020

Selected employees to attend mandatory OHS training  All selected employees attended mandatory OHS 
trainings in 2019; ongoing in 2020

Zero fatalities across total workforce  Ongoing

 On Track   New Target

Move beyond an emphasis 
on employee safety to the 

promotion of employee health 
and total well-being.

For our reported sites, align 
our policies to the ISO 45001 
system, including obtaining

the certifi cation.

Identify workplace or job areas 
which impacts employee 

health and well-being. 
Introduce initiatives to

improve workplace
well-being.

S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  R E P O R T

W O R K P L A C E

W E L L - B E I N G

H E A L T H  &  S A F E T Y 

C U L T U R E

H E A L T H  &  S A F E T Y 

S T A N D A R D S

P L A N S  F O R
T H E  F U T U R E
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P R O T E C T I O N  O F 
C O N F I D E N T I A L  I N F O R M A T I O N

As a global provider of technology services, products, 
and solutions, safeguarding confi dential information is 
paramount in building and maintaining trust with our 
customers and stakeholders.  We conduct our business 
in compliance with data protection laws and standards 
such as the Personal Data Protection Act (“PDPA”) and the 
RBA’s Code of Conduct – Ethics and Management System 
(Intellectual Property). 

With the increasing prevalence and complexity of cyber-
attacks and personal data theft, Venture adopts a holistic 
and risk-based framework to safeguard confi dential 
information. Across the Group, all manufacturing sites 
and business units are guided by policies and standard 
operations procedures (“SOPs”) which prescribe measures 
to securely receive, handle and store confi dential 
information in secure storage facilities. 

In addition to that, Venture’s Information Technology 
(“IT”) department regularly monitors and make 
improvements to our IT infrastructure, systems and SOPs 
to safeguard confi dential information. At the corporate 
o¡  ce level, improvements made in 2019 include a data 
compartmentalisation project to segregate confi dential 
data for better protection and a penetration test and 

vulnerability assessment to assess security controls and 
fi nd potential vulnerabilities. At the Group-wide level, 
the IT Acceptable Use Policy was updated to improve 
governance of IT resource usage and improve security, 
and a USB storage device control was implemented for 
data loss prevention. Periodic audits are also conducted by 
Venture’s Internal Audit team to ensure that all sites are in 
compliance with the policies and SOPs.

Our employees play key roles in supporting our initiatives 
to protect confi dential information. Therefore, we place 
a strong emphasis on inculcating an organisational 
culture that encourages accountability and responsibility 
to protect confi dential information. A series of training 
programmes were put in place to instill employee 
awareness on prevailing risks, handling and protection 
of sensitive corporate data, and legal repercussions 
of violating confi dentiality obligations. Clauses on 
confi dentiality and employees’ legal obligations to protect 
confi dential information are also included in all our 
employment contracts.

In 2019, there were no substantiated complaints 
concerning breaches of customer privacy or leak, 
or loss of customer data from Venture’s IT network. 

G R O U P W I D E  C Y B E R  S E C U R I T Y 
A W A R E N E S S  P R O G R A M M E  

A group-wide Cyber Security Awareness Programme was launched in October 2019 to increase employees’ 
cyber security awareness. The four-month long programme was adapted from the Singapore Cyber Security 
Agency’s Employee Cybersecurity Kit. As human factor is one of the weakest links in cybersecurity processes, this 
programme aims to address human behavioural change.

Key initiatives in the programme include increasing the cyber awareness of Venture’s employees, reinforcing the 
importance of good cybersecurity practices and measures, as well as sharing knowledge and tips on identifying 
cyber threats.

This programme also helped us understand our employees’ knowledge gaps, therefore allowing us to tailor 
training programmes to e­ ectively tackle these gaps. As the cyber landscape changes rapidly, we plan to 
constantly keep our employees abreast on latest updates. There are also plans in the pipeline to identify 
employee knowledge gaps by simulating real-world cyber-attacks.
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Target / Goal Progress

Maintain compliance with all existing policies and 
procedures

 Zero incidents of non-compliance with all existing 
policies and procedures in 2019; ongoing in 2020

Continue to improve existing processes to safeguard 
confi dential information

 Group-wide initiatives were successfully rolled out 
by the IT department to improve our cybersecurity 
infrastructure in 2019; ongoing in 2020

 On Track

Obtain ISO 27001 ISMS (Information 
Security Management System) 
certifi cation for the Corporate 

IT department to systematically 
manage risks and ensure

 business continuity.

Subsequently, to obtain ISO 
27001 ISMS certifi cation for our 

key global sites.

P L A N S  F O R
T H E  F U T U R E

S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  R E P O R T

P R O T E C T I O N  O F 
C O N F I D E N T I A L  I N F O R M A T I O N

R O B U S T

R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T

F R A M E W O R K
G R O U P - W I D E

A L I G N M E N T

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9
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G R I  C O N T E N T 
I N D E X

GRI Standards Disclosure Title Page Number and Reasons for Omissions, if applicable

Universal Standards

GRI 102: General Disclosures 2016

Organisational Profi le

102-1 Name of the organisation Venture Corporation Limited

102-2 Activities, brands, products, 
and services

Page 1-7, Corporate Profi le

102-3 Location of headquarters Page 13

102-4 Location of operations Page 163-167

102-5 Ownership and legal form Page 197-198

102-6 Markets served Page 163-167, 189-193

102-7 Scale of the organisation Page 12, 106, 163-167
Our People > Overview of Employee Profi le, page 38

102-8 Information on employees and 
other workers

Our People > Overview of Employee Profi le, page 38

102-9 Supply chain Confi dentiality constraints

102-10 Signifi cant changes to the 
organisation and its supply chain

No signifi cant changes

102-11 Precautionary Principle or approach In general, the Precautionary Principle is embedded in our 
approach to sustainability.

102-12 External initiatives Not applicable

102-13 Membership of associations Venture has memberships of association with relevant 
organisations.

Strategy

102-14 Statement from senior
decision-maker

Letter from the Board, page 25

Ethics and Integrity

102-16 Values, principles, standards, and 
norms of behaviour

Venture’s Sustainability Approach > Governance, page 28

Governance

102-18 Governance structure Venture’s Sustainability Approach > Governance > 
Our Sustainability Governance Structure, page 28

Stakeholder Engagement

102-40 List of stakeholder groups Venture's Sustainability Approach > Stakeholder Engagement, 
page 32

102-41 Collective bargaining agreements In line with Venture’s Code of Conduct, all Venture employees 
are free to participate in recognised labour unions or other 
bona fi de representatives within the framework of Company 
procedures, applicable local laws and regulations and prevailing 
industrial relations and practices.

F U T U R E
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GRI Standards Disclosure Title Page Number and Reasons for Omissions, if applicable

102-42 Identifying and selecting 
stakeholders 

Venture's Sustainability Approach > Stakeholder Engagement, 
page 32

102-43 Approach to stakeholder 
engagement

Venture's Sustainability Approach > Stakeholder Engagement, 
page 32

102-44 Key topics and concerns raised Venture's Sustainability Approach > Stakeholder Engagement, 
page 32

Reporting Practice 

102-45 Entities included in the 
consolidated fi nancial statements

a. Page 163-167 provides an overview of all our main subsidiaries.
b. About this Report, page 27

102-46 Defi ning report content and topic 
Boundaries 

About this Report, page 27
Venture’s Sustainability Approach > Materiality, page 33

102-47 List of material topics Venture’s Sustainability Approach > Materiality, page 33

102-48 Restatements of information There have been no restatements of information from the 
previous report covering the fi nancial year 2018.

102-49 Changes in reporting About this Report, page 27
Venture’s Sustainability Approach > Materiality, page 33

102-50 Reporting period About this Report, page 27

102-51 Date of most recent report Our Sustainability Report for FY2019 was published in our 
Annual Report for FY2019 on 7 April 2020.

102-52 Reporting cycle Annual

102-53 Contact point for questions 
regarding the report 

About this Report, page 27

102-54 Claims of reporting in accordance 
with the GRI Standards

About this Report, page 27

102-55 GRI content index GRI Content Index, page 49-54

102-56 External assurance About this Report, page 27

Topic Specifi c Disclosures

Economic Performance

GRI 103: Management Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic 
and its Boundary

Page 8-12
Venture’s Sustainability Approach > Materiality, page 33
Economic Performance, Page 34

103-2 The management approach and 
its components 

Page 8-12
Economic Performance, page 34

103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach

Page 8-12
Economic Performance, page 34

GRI 201: Economic Performance 2016

201-1 Direct economic value generated 
and distributed

Page 8-12, 106-196

S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  R E P O R T

G R I  C O N T E N T 
I N D E X

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9
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GRI Standards Disclosure Title Page Number and Reasons for Omissions, if applicable

Environment

Energy

GRI 103: Management Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic 
and its Boundary

Our Environment, page 35
Our Environment > Energy and GHG Emissions, page 36

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 

Our Environment, page 35
Our Environment > Energy and GHG Emissions, page 36

103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach

Our Environment, page 35
Our Environment > Energy and GHG Emissions, page 36

GRI 302: Energy 2016

302-1 Energy consumption within the 
organisation

Our Environment > Energy and GHG Emissions, page 36

Our processes do not use any heating, cooling, or steam 
consumption. We do not sell any electricity, heating, cooling, 
or steam energy to other organisations.

302-3 Energy intensity Our Environment > Energy and GHG Emissions, page 36

The energy type included in the numerator of our intensity ratio 
is electricity consumption within the organisation, while the 
denominator is revenue.

Water

GRI 103: Management Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic 
and its Boundary

Our Environment, page 35
Our Environment > Water, page 37

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 

Our Environment, page 35
Our Environment > Water, page 37

103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach

Our Environment, page 35
Our Environment > Water, page 37

GRI 303: Water 2016

303-1 Water withdrawal by source Our Environment > Water, page 37

Emissions

GRI 103: Management Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic 
and its Boundary

Our Environment, page 35
Our Environment > Energy and GHG Emissions, page 36

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 

Our Environment, page 35
Our Environment > Energy and GHG Emissions, page 36

103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach

Our Environment, page 35
Our Environment > Energy and GHG Emissions, page 36
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G R I  C O N T E N T 
I N D E X

GRI Standards Disclosure Title Page Number and Reasons for Omissions, if applicable

GRI 305: Emissions 2016

305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG 
emissions

Our Environment > Energy and GHG Emissions, page 36

GHG conversion is based on the Greenhouse Gas Protocol. 
Emission factors for our electricity consumption in Singapore 
are sourced from the Energy Market Authority (EMA), 2019. The 
emissions factor for our electricity consumption in Malaysia 
is based on Malaysian Green Technology Corporation’s “2017 
CDM Electricity Baseline for Malaysia” report.

305-4 GHG emissions intensity Our Environment > Energy and GHG Emissions, page 36

The GHG emissions included in the numerator of our 
intensity ratio is energy indirect (Scope 2) emissions, while the 
denominator is revenue.

Environmental Compliance

GRI 103: Management Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic 
and its Boundary

Venture’s Sustainability Approach > Ethics and Compliance, 
page 29-30
Our Environment, page 35

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 

Venture’s Sustainability Approach > Ethics and Compliance, 
page 29-30
Our Environment, page 35

103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach

Venture’s Sustainability Approach > Ethics and Compliance, 
page 29-30
Our Environment, page 35

GRI 307: Environmental Compliance 2016

307-1 Non-compliance with 
environmental laws and regulations

Our Environment, page 35

Social

Occupational Health and Safety

GRI 103: Management Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic 
and its Boundary

Occupational Health and Safety, page 44

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 

Occupational Health and Safety, page 44

103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach

Occupational Health and Safety, page 44

S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  R E P O R T

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9
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GRI Standards Disclosure Title Page Number and Reasons for Omissions, if applicable

GRI 403: Occupational Health and Safety 2016

403-1 Workers representation in formal 
joint management–worker health 
and safety committees

Occupational Health and Safety, page 44

The WSH Committees cover employees at the fi ve main sites in 
report scope.

GRI 403: Occupational Health and Safety 2016

403-2 Types of injury and rates of injury, 
occupational diseases, lost days, 
absenteeism, and number of 
work-related fatalities

Occupational Health and Safety, page 45

The breakdown by gender is currently not applicable as it is not 
a regulatory requirement to report incidents based on gender.

Training and Education

GRI 103: Management Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic 
and its Boundary

Our People, page 38
Our People > Talent Development, page 42-43

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 

Our People, page 38
Our People > Talent Development, page 42-43

103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach

Our People, page 38
Our People > Talent Development, page 42-43

GRI 401: Employment 2016

401-1 New employee hires Our People > Talent Attraction and Retention, page 39

GRI 404: Training and Education 2016

404-1 Average hours of training per year 
per employee

Our People > Talent Development, page 42-43

404-2 Programs for upgrading employee 
skills and transition assistance 
programs

Our People > Talent Development, page 42-43

Customer Privacy

GRI 103: Management Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic 
and its Boundary

Protection of Confi dential Information, page 47-48

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 

Protection of Confi dential Information, page 47-48

103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach

Protection of Confi dential Information, page 47-48
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G R I  C O N T E N T 
I N D E X

GRI Standards Disclosure Title Page Number and Reasons for Omissions, if applicable

GRI 418: Customer Privacy

418-1 Substantiated complaints 
concerning breaches of customer 
privacy and losses of customer data

Protection of Confi dential Information, page 47-48

Socioeconomic Compliance

GRI 103: Management Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic 
and its Boundary

Venture’s Sustainability Approach > Ethics and Compliance, 
page 29-31

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 

Venture’s Sustainability Approach > Ethics and Compliance, 
page 29-31

GRI 103: Management Approach 2016

103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach

Venture’s Sustainability Approach > Ethics and Compliance, 
page 29-31

GRI 419: Socioeconomic Compliance 2016

419-1 Non-compliance with laws and 
regulations in the social and 
economic area

Venture’s Sustainability Approach > Ethics and Compliance, 
page 29-31

S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  R E P O R T

V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
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 Venture Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) firmly believe that their growth and 
success are anchored on a framework of sound corporate governance principles, practices and processes. The focus of the 
Group’s governance framework, formulated on the Company’s mission and core values, is to promote accountability and 
transparency. The Board and Management are committed to uphold the corporate governance framework, by adhering 
to a set of well-defined principles and maintaining effective structures and processes within the Group in compliance with 
these principles. These will translate to sound business decisions, underpinning operational and financial performance and 
delivering value to all stakeholders collectively.

The Company has adopted corporate governance principles and practices that are in line with the Code of Corporate 
Governance 2018 issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore in August 2018 (the “2018 Code”). Beyond compliance 
with baseline regulations, the Company adheres to the substance and spirit of the 2018 Code, fundamental to which 
are the key principles of corporate integrity, transparency, responsibility, accountability and sustainability. From a wider 
perspective, good corporate governance is embodied in the strength of integrity of Management who uphold sound 
governance practices and processes that serve to promote and safeguard the Group’s interests and assets and the interests 
of all stakeholders. The Group believes that good corporate governance is not simply a matter of compliance with the 
2018 Code, or applicable policies and regulatory standards. Rather, it is about embedding the right corporate behaviour 
and mindset in its people, as they are the key upholders of such standards.

The Group’s Social Code of Conduct (the “Code of Conduct”) sets the appropriate tone from the Board in relation to the 
Group’s corporate governance culture, values and ethical behaviour. It serves to reinforce the professional and ethical 
behaviour that the Company expects of its employees, and to ensure a high degree of accountability within the Group. 
The Code of Conduct applies to each of our over 12,500 Group employees worldwide without exception, and is regularly 
reviewed and refined to ensure that it stays relevant and for better application.

This Report describes the Company’s corporate governance practices with specific reference to the principles of the 2018 
Code. The Company has complied in all material aspects with the principles and provisions of the 2018 Code. Where there 
are variations from any of the principles and provisions, an explanation has been provided on how the adopted practices 
are consistent with the intent of the relevant principles and/or provisions.

The Company was among the inaugural constituent companies and continues to remain a constituent of the SGX Fast 
Track, a scheme that recognises the efforts and achievements of listed companies on the Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) which have upheld high standards of corporate governance and maintained a good compliance 
track record. Since 2011, the Company has also taken the Corporate Governance Pledge to demonstrate its commitment 
to maintain high standards of corporate governance, an initiative of the Securities Investors Association (Singapore).

There are other sections in this Annual Report that are also relevant to the discussion on corporate governance, hence this 
Report should be read together with those sections.

BOARD MATTERS – PRINCIPLES 1 TO 5

PRINCIPLE 1 – THE BOARD’S CONDUCT OF ITS AFFAIRS 

The Board’s corporate objective is to achieve sustained value creation for all stakeholders. It strives to accomplish this 
through overseeing the proper conduct of the Group’s business and affairs, ensuring that the Group maintains a sound 
system of risk management and internal controls, as well as overseeing the Group’s strategic and operational initiatives, 
major funding and investments, financial performance reviews and corporate governance practices. 
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The Role of the Board and Matters Requiring Board Approval

The Board oversees the business of the Group and provides stewardship to Management, conferring with them regularly. 
There is an objective decision-making process which allows exercise of independent judgement. There are Group internal 
guidelines setting out authorisation and approval limits for capital and operating expenditure, bank facilities, investments 
and divestments as well as requisitions and expenses. The matters requiring the Board’s review and approval taken at 
meetings or via circulation papers include, inter alia:

a. release of any financial results and disclosures of material information, including recommendation on dividend 
payout for shareholders’ approval;

b. recommendation of any amendment to the Company’s Constitution (“Constitution’’) for shareholders’ approval;

c. appointment of Corporate Representatives to subsidiaries for the purpose of representing the Company in various 
matters;

d. opening or closing of bank accounts, change of bank authorised signatories, mode of operation and dealing 
mandates with the Company’s banks, acceptance of o�ers for banking facilities, any borrowings, or financial 
commitment related to grant of guarantees, securities and collateral guarantees by the Company;

e. acquisition or disposition of any interest in any land, real property or assets;

f. establishment, acquisition or incorporation of any subsidiary, or winding up, dissolution or placement of any 
subsidiary under receivership or judicial management; and

g. creation of any mortgage, pledge, bond, charge, lien or any other encumbrance on the Company’s assets, in whole 
or in part.

At the time of appointment, each of the Directors has undertaken that in the exercise of their powers and duties as a 
Director of the Company, they would apply their best endeavours to comply with the requirements of the  SGX-ST pursuant 
to or in connection with the Listing Rules of the SGX-ST (the “Listing Rules”) and all other applicable securities laws and 
regulations, from time to time in force in Singapore, and to use their best endeavours to procure that the Company shall 
so comply.

Conflicts of Interest

The Board acts in good faith and in the best interests of the Company by exercising due care, skills and diligence, and 
avoiding conflicts of interest. The Directors are cognizant of their fiduciary duties at law. When a potential conflict of interest 
situation arises, the affected Director will recuse himself or herself from the discussions and decisions involving the areas 
of potential conflict, unless the Board is of the opinion that his or her participation is necessary. Where such participation 
is permitted, the conflicted Director excuses himself or herself for an appropriate period during the discussions to facilitate 
full and frank exchange by the other Directors, and shall in any event recuse himself or herself from the decision-making.

Pursuant to Section 156 of the Companies Act, each Director is to declare to the Company his interests (direct or indirect) 
in all transactions with the Company and provide details on the nature of such interests as soon as practicable after the 
relevant facts have come to his knowledge.
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Board & Board Committees Meetings

In the discharge of its duties, the Board is supported by four Board Committees; namely, the Audit Committee, the 
Nominating Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Investment Committee, each of which has clear written 
Terms of Reference that set out their duties and responsibilities, in alignment with the 2018 Code. The Terms of Reference 
are reviewed and updated as and when necessary.

The Company held four formal Board meetings and various Board Committee meetings in 2019. The attendance of the 
Directors at these meetings and the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), as well as the frequency of such meetings, are as 
shown below.

Meetings held in FY2019 Board
Audit

Committee
Nominating
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Investment
Committee AGM

Wong Ngit Liong 4 of 4 – 2 of 2 – 2 of 2 1 of 1

Koh Lee Boon 4 of 4 4 of 4 2 of 2 5 of 5 – 1 of 1

Goon Kok Loon 4 of 4 3 of 4 – 4 of 5 1 of 2 1 of 1

Wong Yew Meng 4 of 4 4 of 4 2 of 2 5 of 5 – 1 of 1

Jonathan S. Huberman 4 of 4 4 of 4 – – 2 of 2 1 of 1

Han Thong Kwang 4 of 4 4 of 4 – – 2 of 2 1 of 1

Kay Kuok Oon Kwong(1) 3 of 4 – 1 of 1 – – 1 of 1

Tan Seok Hoong @Mrs 
Audrey Liow(2) 4 of 4 – – 3 of 3 1 of 1 1 of 1

Cecil Vivian Richard Wong(3) 1 of 1 1 of 1 1 of 1 2 of 2 – 1 of 1

Notes:

(1) Ms Kay Kuok Oon Kwong was appointed as a member of the Nominating Committee (“NC”) on 1 March 2019. She was subsequently elected as 
Chairperson of NC on 7 August 2019 and attended 1 of 1 meeting held after her appointment to the NC.

(2) Ms Tan Seok Hoong @Mrs Audrey Liow was appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee (“RC”) and a member of the Investment Committee 
(“IVC”) on 1 March 2019. She attended 3 of 3 meetings held after her appointment to the RC and 1 of 1 meeting held after her appointment to the IVC.

(3) Mr Cecil Vivian Richard Wong retired from the Board on 24 April 2019.

In addition to the scheduled meetings of the Board and the Board Committees during the financial year, the Directors have also 
met, on an ad-hoc basis, to discuss specific matters as deemed appropriate by the Board and Board Committees members.

Director Orientation & Development / Training

On appointment, an incoming Director is briefed on his/her roles, duties, obligations, responsibilities and expectations, 
which are set out in a formal letter from the Company. The new Director is also given the schedule of the Board and 
Board Committees meetings for the year, immediate past financial statements, press releases and annual report, Terms 
of Reference of Board Committees, and other pertinent documents. Lines of communication, including direct access to 
the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), Management and Company Secretary, are 
established and provide a new Director with the opportunity to establish exchanges and obtain information to perform 
his/her statutory duties.

Orientation programmes are also organised to acquaint new Directors with the Group’s business and governance policies, 
including site tours and briefings by senior Management. Site visits provide an intimate understanding of the Group’s key 
business operations, and give them an opportunity to interact with the executives of the Group. Relevant training and 
briefing programmes for Directors are organised and paid for by the Company, including first-time Directors, in areas such 
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as accounting, corporate governance and industry-specific knowledge, as appropriate, to ensure that they are kept abreast 
of developments within the Group and the industry, as well as of new laws and regulations. Training in relevant areas 
conducted by the Singapore Institute of Directors is arranged for first-time Directors within one year of their appointments 
to the Board. To keep abreast of changes in the Financial Reporting Standards or to provide a refresher on relevant areas 
of law, external consultants may be invited to brief the Board. Directors may also request for training and development in 
areas of interest to the Board. The Board is regularly briefed by Management on the Group’s activities and provided with 
financial updates and investor engagement activity updates on a monthly basis.

During the year, the Directors participated in organised site visits to three of the Group’s manufacturing and research and 
development facilities in Singapore and Malaysia. During those visits, the Directors attended management presentations 
regarding the Group’s operations and products under development, and had the opportunity to interact with key executives 
at these facilities. A number of Directors also attended the Group’s annual management conference held on 28 November 
2019, during which they had the opportunity to participate in robust in-depth discussions with senior Management and 
all key executives from across the Group regarding the Company’s medium to long-term strategic directions. In addition,
Ms Tan Seok Hoong @Mrs Audrey Liow attended several courses organised by the Singapore Institute of Directors, including 
two courses under its Listed Entity Director Programme. 

Access to Information

The Directors have separate and independent access to Management and the Company Secretary. The agenda for the 
meetings of the Board and Board Committees, together with the appropriate supporting documents, are circulated to 
the Board and Board Committees prior to such meetings. Minutes of the Board Committee meetings are circulated to all 
Directors so that each Director is apprised of the topics considered and discussed during each Board Committee meeting.

In addition, to ensure that the Board is able to fulfil its responsibilities and to make informed decisions in a timely manner, 
Management regularly provides the Board with annual financial plans, monthly management accounts and reports, and 
other relevant information or documents. The Management is also invited to attend Board meetings to provide updates 
on the Group’s operations and business, to furnish additional information on various corporate matters and/or to discuss 
issues which may be raised by the Directors.

Generally, at each Board meeting:

(a) the chairperson of each Board Committee provides an update on the significant matters discussed at the Board 
Committee meetings preceding each quarterly Board meeting;

(b) the CEO and/or relevant members of the executive committee (“EXCO”) provide updates on the Group’s business 
and operations;

(c) the CFO presents the Group’s quarterly financial performance; and

(d)  presentations in relation to specific business matters may be made by Management.

Interaction at the presentations by CEO and/or EXCO gives the Board a good understanding of the Group’s business and 
any issues and/or challenges, and promotes active engagement with key executives. The Board also sets aside time to 
meet without the presence of Management at each scheduled meeting.

The Directors, individually or collectively, may in furtherance of their duties, seek and obtain independent professional 
advice as and when the need arises, at the expense of the Company.
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Company Secretary

The Company Secretary, who is present at all Board and Board Committees meetings, ensures that Board procedures 
and applicable rules and regulations are followed and complied with, and advises and provides guidance on corporate 
governance, administrative, legal and regulatory compliance matters. The Company Secretary is legally trained, with 
experience in legal matters and company secretarial practices. The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary 
rests with the Board.

Under the direction of the Chairman, the Company Secretary’s responsibilities include:

(a) supervising, monitoring and advising on Board procedures and compliance by the Company with its Constitution, 
laws and regulations applicable in Singapore, the Listing Rules and the 2018 Code;

(b) ensuring timely flow of information to the Board and the Board Committees and between Management and 
Directors, and keeping an open and regular line of communication between the Company, the SGX-ST and the 
Accounting & Corporate Regulatory Authority;

(c) updating and informing the Board on the principles and best practices of corporate governance;

(d) facilitating orientation for new Board appointees and supporting continuous training and development for 
Directors; and

(e) facilitating the annual board performance evaluation process.

PRINCIPLE 2 – BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE

The Board comprises eight members: Mr Wong Ngit Liong, Mr Koh Lee Boon, Mr Goon Kok Loon, Mr Wong Yew Meng, 
Mr Jonathan S. Huberman, Mr Han Thong Kwang, Ms Kay Kuok Oon Kwong and Ms Tan Seok Hoong @Mrs Audrey Liow. 
All are Independent Non-Executive Directors except for the Chairman and CEO, Mr Wong Ngit Liong. There are no 
alternate directors appointed. The profile of each Director is found on pages 15 to 19 of this Annual Report.

Board Independence

At the beginning of every financial year, each Director provides a disclosure of his/her interests to the Company. In line 
with Sections 156 and 165 of the Companies Act, when there are changes to the interests declared at the beginning of the 
financial year, the Director makes interim declarations; which are then tabled at the next Board meeting. Each Independent 
Director is required to complete a declaration of independence which is reviewed by the Nominating Committee on an 
annual basis, based on the provisions in the 2018 Code and the Listing Rules.

The Nominating Committee performs an annual review of the Directors’ interests in which potential or perceived conflicts 
affecting the independence of the Directors are considered (including time commitments, length of service and other 
factors relevant to their independence). In line with Rule 210(5) of the Listing Rules, the Nominating Committee assessed 
the independence of Directors under the following circumstances:

a. whether the Director has a relationship with the Company or its related corporations, substantial shareholders or 
its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere with the exercise of his/her independent 
judgement in the best interests of the Company;
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b. whether the Director is or has been employed by the Company or any of its related corporations in the current or 
any of the past three financial years;

c. whether the Director has an immediate family member who is or has been employed by the Company or any of 
its related corporations in the current or any of the past three financial years, and whose remuneration is or was 
determined by the Remuneration Committee;

d. whether the Director or his/her immediate family member has, in the current or immediate past financial year, 
provided to or received from the Company or any of its subsidiaries any significant payments or material services, 
other than compensation for Board service;

e. whether the Director or a Director whose immediate family member, in the current or immediate past financial year, 
is or was, a substantial shareholder or a partner in (with 5% or more stake), or an executive officer of, or a director 
of, any organisation which provided to or received from the Company or any of its subsidiaries any significant 
payments or material services; 

f. whether the Director has been a Director on the Board for an aggregate period of more than nine years; and

g.  any other applicable circumstances.

Accordingly, the Nominating Committee has reviewed and ascertained that Mr Koh Lee Boon, Mr Goon Kok Loon,
Mr Wong Yew Meng, Mr Jonathan S. Huberman, Mr Han Thong Kwang, Ms Kay Kuok Oon Kwong and Ms Tan Seok Hoong 
@Mrs Audrey Liow, continue to remain independent, having considered factors such as conduct, character, judgement, 
and any relationship with the Company, related corporations, substantial shareholders and officers, that could be 
reasonably perceived to interfere with the exercise of the Director’s independent judgement in the best interests of 
the Company. The seven Independent Non-Executive Directors do not have direct or indirect shareholdings exceeding
5% in the Company nor any relationships with the Company, its related corporations or the Company’s shareholders 
with 5% or more voting rights in the Company.

Where a Director has served on the Board for more than nine years, the Board has conducted a more rigorous review 
to determine if such Director should be considered independent notwithstanding his tenure, and the following were the 
factors taken into consideration:

a. whether the Director is free from any dealings, relationships or circumstances that could aªect or appear to 
aªect his independent judgement, particularly with regard to whether the Director has indicated or demonstrated 
an alignment or habitual support for any specific group of stakeholders e.g. specific shareholders, instead of 
representing the interests of all stakeholders;

b. whether the length of service has had any adverse impact on the Director’s objectivity and judgement, and whether 
during the tenure there has been any impairment to his ability to discharge his duties and responsibilities in the 
overall interests of the Group, taking into consideration the interests of all stakeholders; and

c. whether the Director continues to exhibit a firm commitment to his role and continues to actively contribute with 
his knowledge and experience of the Group’s business built up over the years.

The Board has taken the above factors into consideration in determining whether each of the three Directors who have 
served on the Board beyond nine years, namely, Mr Koh Lee Boon, Mr Goon Kok Loon and Mr Wong Yew Meng can 
continue to be independent, as well as their respective level of active participation, attendance record and performance 
on the Board and their respective Board Committees.
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The Board also considered that the Board, as a whole, comprises members who have varying lengths of tenure with a 
balanced spread of less and more experience regarding the business and operations of the Company, which therefore 
decreases the probability of a lack of objectivity in the Board. Based on these considerations, the Board concurred with 
the Nominating Committee’s views that the three long-serving Directors can continue to be independent. All three 
long-serving Directors abstained from the discussions and taking a decision in respect of their own independence.

Rule 210(5)(d)(iii) of the Listing Rules, which comes into effect on 1 January 2022, requires a director who has been a 
director for an aggregate period of more than nine years prior to 1 January 2022, and whose continued appointment as an 
independent director is being sought, be approved in separate resolutions by (A) all shareholders and (B) all shareholders, 
excluding shareholders who are also directors or the chief executive officer of the company, and associates of such 
directors and chief executive officers.

The Nominating Committee and the Board currently subject the independence of any Director who has served for more 
than nine consecutive years to a particularly rigorous review, and they will address the said Rule 210(5)(d)(iii) prior to it 
coming into effect on 1 January 2022.

Lead Independent Director

Mr Koh Lee Boon, the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nominating Committee and 
the Audit Committee, was appointed as the Lead Independent Director of the Company on 25 April 2014. As Lead 
Independent Director, he provides leadership in situations where the Chairman is conflicted, especially as the Chairman 
is not deemed independent. The Lead Independent Director may also be contacted if shareholders have any concerns, 
where contact through the normal channels of the Chairman and CEO or Management has failed to resolve, is inadequate 
or inappropriate. At least once a year, the Lead Independent Director will meet with other Independent Non-Executive 
Directors and external auditors and provide feedback to the Executive Director accordingly.

Board Diversity 

The Company is committed to attracting talented and experienced individuals to serve as Directors, regardless of their 
gender, race, ethnicity, religion, age, disability status or any other aspects of diversity. To this end, the Company endeavours 
to ensure that the Board and its Board Committees comprise individuals with diverse experience and expertise who, as 
a group, will provide an appropriate balance and range of skills, experience, perspectives, and knowledge for effective 
stewardship of the Company’s business. Collectively, the Board possesses core competencies in areas such as accounting, 
finance, business and management experience, law, industry knowledge, strategic planning experience, customer-based 
experience or knowledge and members who are able to make positive contributions to the Company.

The Board regularly examines its composition and size to assess the optimum number needed to facilitate robust 
engagement and effective decision-making. Board membership is regularly renewed with the appointment of new members 
with the right blend of strengths, skills, talents and experience, and who have the capacity to contribute effectively.

Although gender is but one aspect of diversity, the Company values the importance of having such gender diversity 
and its ability to augment the collective strength of the Board. With the appointment of Ms Kay Kuok Oon Kwong and
Ms Tan Seok Hoong @Mrs Audrey Liow as Directors in 2018, there is now a one-quarter representation of women on 
the Board.
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PRINCIPLE 3 – CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr Wong Ngit Liong is the CEO of the Company and Chairman of the Board. As CEO, Mr Wong Ngit Liong is responsible for 
leading the Management of the Company and presides over the implementation of strategic objectives of the Company. 
Combining the roles of Chairman and CEO brings about clear leadership and accountability and unparalleled depth of 
knowledge to deal with the strategic challenges and growth opportunities for the Group. 

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the roles of CEO and Chairman, and the roles and responsibilities have 
been set out in writing and formally approved by the Board, primarily covering leadership role, strategy and accountability, 
organisational culture and talent development, administration as well as communication with shareholders.

Chairman’s Role

In his role as Chairman, Mr Wong Ngit Liong’s responsibility is to lead and ensure the effectiveness of the Board and this 
includes: leading the Board in a strategic and effective way; promoting high standards of corporate governance; promoting 
a culture of openness and debate within the Board; encouraging constructive relationships within the Board and between 
the Board and Management; ensuring that Non-Executive Directors contribute effectively and that their contributions are 
taken into account by the Board; setting the agenda and ensuring that adequate time is available to discuss all agenda 
items, in particular, strategic issues; ensuring that the Directors receive complete, adequate and timely information; and 
ensuring effective communication with shareholders.

CEO’s Role

In his role as CEO, Mr Wong Ngit Liong’s responsibility encompasses: providing strong leadership and effective day-to-day 
management of the Company to deliver the strategic plan; developing, with the Board, a consensus for the Company’s vision 
and mission; developing and implementing the strategic plan approved by the Board; driving a culture of compliance and 
ethical behaviour; recruiting and retaining senior Management; ensuring appropriate talent management and remuneration 
frameworks are established; organising the Company’s structure and personnel assignments for the orderly conduct and 
operation of the Company; implementing, with Management, the strategies and policies in pursuit of the Group’s objectives; 
and ensuring that the Board is informed about key Company activities and issues in a timely manner.

In this role, Mr Wong Ngit Liong is supported by the EXCO comprising key management personnel, who are senior members 
of Management heading the various business units as well as the CFO and the Chief Human Resource Officer. The EXCO, 
which is chaired by the CEO, meets regularly and at least once a month to oversee the management of the Group and 
implementation of the Group’s strategic plan. From time to time, other members of Management may be invited to attend 
EXCO meetings, wherever relevant.

Independent Non-Executive Directors comprise majority of the Board and Board Committees

In his dual role, Mr Wong Ngit Liong has been able to consistently ensure that strategic directions from the Board 
are implemented seamlessly within the Group. To strengthen the segregation of the roles of Chairman and CEO, the 
Company has implemented internal controls and safeguards within the Group to ensure independent decision-making. 
In addition, Independent Non-Executive Directors form the overwhelming majority of the Board, numbering seven out of 
eight members of the Board. This reposes a high level of accountability, promotes an appropriate balance of power and 
authority and ensures a greater capacity for independent decision-making at the Board, in keeping with the spirit of good 
corporate governance. The appointment of a Lead Independent Director adds to the independent element on the Board.
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The strong level of independence on the Board enables it to engage in robust decision-making, monitor results, and 
assess and remunerate Management on its performance. It also more than meets the requirements of the 2018 Code 
which recommends that where the Chairman of the Board is also the CEO of the Group, the Independent Directors should 
constitute a majority of the Board. During meetings, the Non-Executive Directors, who are also Independent Directors, 
constructively challenge and review implementation and proposals on the Group’s strategy.

In addition, the Audit Committee, the Nominating Committee and the Remuneration Committee are chaired by 
Independent Non-Executive Directors, and the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee comprise entirely 
of Independent Non-Executive Directors whilst the Nominating Committee’s membership comprises a majority of 
Independent Non-Executive Directors.

PRINCIPLE 4 – BOARD MEMBERSHIP

Selection Process for New Directors 

The Nominating Committee has a formal and transparent selection process for appointment of new Directors. The 
Nominating Committee assesses the appropriate mix of expertise and experiences needed for an eªective Board and 
recommends the most suitable candidates, after reviewing their qualities and profiles, taking into consideration factors such 
as experience, technological skills and expertise, diversity and how they will complement and augment the competencies 
of the current Board. It considers prospective candidates from an extensive network of contacts, evaluates and shortlists 
candidates with the relevant experience and expertise in combination or all of the following areas of general management, 
finance, accounting and governance aspects, and knowledge of the Group’s industry, business and markets. Suitable 
candidates are then recommended to the Board for consideration.

Multiple Board Representations

The Board determines the maximum number of listed company board representations which a Director may hold. The 
Board has concurred with the Nominating Committee’s recommendation that the maximum number of listed company 
board representations which a Director may hold should not exceed six, taking into consideration, inter alia, the market 
capitalisation of the other listed companies, their financial year end, schedule of meetings, time commitment required, 
intensity of participation, whether the Director has executive responsibilities in other organisations (or other principal 
commitments), as well as the individual Director’s ability to effectively manage multiple appointments. None of the 
Directors are board members of five or more other listed companies. The Nominating Committee reviews the principal 
commitments of each Director on an annual basis and as and when there is a change of circumstances involving a 
Director, and is satisfied that each Director has given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company.

Nominating Committee

The Nominating Committee, which is chaired by Ms Kay Kuok Oon Kwong, comprises three Independent Non-Executive 
Directors and one Executive Director. Ms Kay Kuok Oon Kwong was appointed to the Nominating Committee on
1 March 2019, and was elected as the Chairperson on 7 August 2019. The other members are Mr Koh Lee Boon,
Mr Wong Yew Meng and Mr Wong Ngit Liong. The Nominating Committee met twice in 2019 and had informal discussions 
on other occasions.
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The role of the Nominating Committee is:

a. to make recommendations to the Board on all Board appointments and re-appointments and to ensure a formal 
and transparent process and need for progressive renewal of the Board; and

b. to ensure that the Board undertakes a formal annual assessment of its effectiveness as a whole, and that of each of 
its Board Committees and individual Directors, and to make recommendations to the Board on the same,

and its responsibilities inter alia, include:

a. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of new executive and
non-executive Directors, including making recommendations on the composition of the Board generally and the 
balance between executive and non-executive Directors;

b. to regularly review the Board structure, size and composition and make recommendations to the Board with regards 
to any adjustments that are deemed necessary;

c. to be responsible for assessing nominees or candidates for appointment or election to the Board, determining 
whether or not such nominee has the requisite qualifications and whether or not he/she is independent;

d. to review and recommend to the Board plans for succession, in particular for the Chairman, CEO and key 
management personnel;

e. to determine, on an annual basis and as and when required, the independence of a Director in accordance with the 
criteria set out in the 2018 Code and the Listing Rules. To make recommendations to the Board on the assessment 
of the independence of Directors who have served on the Board beyond nine years from the date of his first 
appointment; 

f. to recommend Directors who are retiring by rotation to be put forward for re-election;

g. to decide whether or not a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties as a Director of 
the Company, particularly when he/she has multiple board representations, taking into consideration the Director’s 
number of listed company board representations and other principal commitments, and recommend to the Board 
the maximum number of listed company board representations which any Director may hold;

h. to make recommendations to the Board on the process and criteria for evaluation of the performance of the Board, 
its Board Committees and Directors, and to be responsible for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole 
and the Board Committees, and for assessing the contribution of each individual Director to the effectiveness of the 
Board. This assessment process shall be disclosed annually;

i. to recommend to the Board the appointment of an Independent Director to be the Lead Independent Director; and

j. to review the training and professional development programmes for the Board and to ensure that new Directors 
are aware of their duties and obligations.

The Nominating Committee regularly reviews the composition of the Board and Board Committees and had recommended 
to the Board to refresh the composition of the Nominating Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Investment 
Committee, to which the Board had concurred. These committees were reconstituted on 1 March 2019. 
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Re-Election of Directors

Each year, the Nominating Committee reviews the nomination of Directors for re-election. The Nominating Committee 
takes into account the competencies, time commitments, contributions and performance of the Directors with reference 
to their attendance, preparedness, participation and candour at meetings of the Board and Board Committees, as well 
as the proficiency with which they have discharged their responsibilities, in recommending the Directors for re-election.

All Directors subject themselves for re-nomination and re-election at least once every three years, pursuant to the 
Constitution. Directors appointed by the Board during the financial year shall only hold o¬ce until the next AGM, and 
thereafter, be eligible for re-election at the AGM.

Mr Jonathan S. Huberman and Mr Han Thong Kwang, who are retiring by rotation will submit themselves for re-election 
pursuant to Regulation 106 of the Constitution. The Directors had each abstained from the discussion and taking a decision 
in respect of their own nomination.

The Board has accepted the Nominating Committee’s recommendations to seek approval from shareholders at the 
forthcoming AGM to re-elect Directors  Mr Jonathan S. Huberman and Mr Han Thong Kwang, who are retiring under 
Regulation 106 of the Constitution.

PRINCIPLE 5 – BOARD PERFORMANCE

Board Performance Evaluation 

A board performance evaluation exercise is carried out annually to evaluate the performance of the Board and its Board 
Committees in discharging their roles. The evaluation is based on performance criteria which have been benchmarked 
against the criteria adopted by other listed companies with similar market capitalisation and in similar industries, and 
reference is also made to the board performance evaluation form set out in the Nominating Committee Guide published 
by the Singapore Institute of Directors. The evaluation process, undertaken by the Nominating Committee is via a 
structured survey with a questionnaire to the Directors for their feedback and comments on a set of agreed criteria. Inputs 
of individual Directors are collated for the Nominating Committee to review and, thereafter to present the results to the 
Board for discussion and decision on follow-up actions, if any.

For the year under review, the Nominating Committee reviewed the board performance evaluation questionnaire and 
included additional questions reflective of the Company’s global operations. The revised questionnaire along with a set 
of “Explanatory Notes” to assist the Directors in their completion of the questionnaire were approved and implemented.

The evaluation criteria encompasses, inter alia, assessment of the size, independence and quality of the Board composition, 
adequacy and quality of information provided to the Board, whether the Board demonstrates good understanding of the 
Group’s strategic objectives and key issues, provides insightful inputs and monitors its progress in its oversight role, depth 
of understanding of risk management and internal control issues, attentiveness to sustainability issues, Board interaction 
dynamics, and communication with the CEO and Management. The professional development needs of the Directors are 
reviewed to ensure that they are appropriately equipped with the relevant skills and knowledge to discharge their duties.

The objective of the annual board performance evaluation exercise is to assess the contributions and eªectiveness of the 
Board as a whole, each Board Committee and Board member. Whilst there is no individual director evaluation per se, the 
strengths and contributions of each individual Director and their demonstrated commitment to his/her role on the Board 
are reviewed in the context of the performance evaluation exercise, and areas identified for improvement will be addressed.
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The board performance evaluation conducted for FY 2019 concluded, inter alia, that:

a. the quality of information disseminated to members of the Board and Board Committees was adequate to make 
informed decisions;

b. the Board and Management had a cordial relationship that encouraged open communication, constructive 
discussion and independent decision-making;

c. the Board demonstrated responsiveness and pro-activeness;

d. there was a high standard of conduct amongst members of the Board and the Board members pro-actively disclosed 
any potential conflicts of interests;

e. the Board meetings and Board Committees meetings were well-conducted, sufficient time was allocated to consider 
all matters, and the decision-making processes of the Board took into account key issues and all stakeholders; and

f. the Board comprised competent Directors with varied and relevant experience and expertise.

REMUNERATION MATTERS – PRINCIPLES 6 TO 8

PRINCIPLE 6 – PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPING REMUNERATION POLICIES

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises four Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr Koh Lee Boon,
Mr Goon Kok Loon, Mr Wong Yew Meng and Ms Tan Seok Hoong @Mrs Audrey Liow. The Remuneration Committee which 
is chaired by Mr Koh Lee Boon met twice in 2019 and is guided by clear written Terms of Reference. Ms Tan Seok Hoong 
@Mrs Audrey Liow was appointed to the Remuneration Committee on 1 March 2019. The Remuneration Committee met 
five times in 2019.

The role of the Remuneration Committee is:

a. to ensure there is a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on Director and executive remuneration, 
and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual Directors and key management personnel; and 

b. to ensure that no Director is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration,

and the principal duties and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are:

a. to review and recommend to the Board in consultation with the Chairman of the Board, a general framework 
of remuneration and to determine the specific remuneration packages and terms of employment for each of 
the Directors and key management personnel, and including employees related to the Directors and controlling 
shareholders of the Group, if any;

b. to function as the committee referred to in the employee share schemes of the Company and shall have all the 
powers as set out in the schemes;
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c. to carry out its duties in the manner it deems expedient, subject always to any regulations or restrictions that may 
be imposed upon the Remuneration Committee by the Board from time to time;

d. to review the Company’s obligations arising in the event of termination of the Executive Directors’ and key 
management personnel’s contracts of service, to ensure that such contracts of service contain fair and reasonable 
termination clauses which are not overly generous; and 

e. to review whether Executive Directors and key management personnel should be eligible for benefits under
long-term incentive schemes, and carefully evaluate the costs and benefits of such schemes.

As appropriate, the Remuneration Committee will seek expert advice inside and/or outside the Company on the 
remuneration of Directors and any such engagement of remuneration consultants would be disclosed, including a 
statement on whether the remuneration consultants have any such relationship with the Company. No remuneration 
consultants were engaged for FY 2019.

PRINCIPLE 7 – LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION

PRINCIPLE 8 – DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee recommends the annual fees for the Directors and ensures that the remuneration framework 
of key management personnel are aligned to long-term interests and policies of the Group. This enables the Company to 
attract, motivate and retain the best talents to further the growth of the Group’s business.

Directors’ Fees for Non-Executive Directors

The fees for each Non-Executive Director take into account the Director’s contributions, responsibilities on Board 
Committees, experience, qualifications and time commitment. Management also benchmarked the fees for Directors 
against listed companies of comparable size, complexities of operation, global presence and industry, taking into account 
the demanding responsibilities, workload and time commitment arising from the increasing complexities of the Group’s 
activities. These ensure that the remuneration level and mix are appropriate to recognise each Non-Executive Director’s 
contributions and responsibilities.

Non-Executive Directors’ fees require shareholders’ approval at the Company’s AGM. Management submitted its proposal 
for the fees based on the Directors’ fee structure of the Board and Board Committees for FY 2019 set out in the table below. 
The Remuneration Committee endorsed the proposal for the Board’s recommendation for the payment of S$868,617 as 
Directors’ fees for FY 2019 to shareholders for approval. There have been no revisions to the Directors’ fee structure since 
FY 2017. The slight increase of $18,617 from the FY 2018 Directors’ fees of $850,000 is due to the addition of Ms Kay Kuok 
Oon Kwong to the Nominating Committee and Ms Tan Seok Hoong @Mrs Audrey Liow to the Remuneration Committee 
and the Investment Committee, and partially offset by the retirement of Mr Cecil Vivian Richard Wong as a Director on
24 April 2019. Directors’ fees continue to be paid in arrears upon the approval of shareholders at the Company’s AGM. 
The Executive Director does not receive any Director’s fees. There is no scheme or arrangement for payment of Directors’ 
fees in the form of equity. The Directors had each abstained from the discussion and taking a decision in respect of their 
own fees.
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The Directors’ fee structure of the Board and Board Committees for FY 2019 is as follows:

Annual Fee
S$

Chairman Member
Board Not applicable 60,000

Audit Committee 35,000 25,000

Nominating Committee 30,000 25,000

Remuneration Committee 30,000 25,000

Investment Committee Not applicable 25,000

A breakdown showing the proposed Directors’ fees of each Non-Executive Director for FY 2019 is as follows:

Name of Director

Director’s
Fees

S$

Director’s
Fees

%

Fixed
Remuneration

%

Variable Bonus,
Variable Salary &
Benefits-in-kind

%
Total

%
Koh Lee Boon 140,000 100 – – 100

Goon Kok Loon 145,000 100 – – 100

Wong Yew Meng 135,000 100 – – 100

Jonathan S. Huberman 110,000 100 – – 100

Han Thong Kwang 110,000 100 – – 100

Kay Kuok Oon Kwong(1) 82,973 100 – – 100

Tan Seok Hoong @Mrs 
Audrey Liow(2) 101,918 100 – – 100

Cecil Vivian Richard Wong(3) 43,726 100 – – 100

Notes:

(1) Ms Kay Kuok Oon Kwong was appointed as a member of the Nominating Committee (“NC”) on 1 March 2019. She was subsequently elected as 
Chairperson of NC on 7 August 2019.

(2) Ms Tan Seok Hoong @Mrs Audrey Liow was appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Investment Committee on 
1 March 2019.

(3) Mr Cecil Vivian Richard Wong retired from the Board on 24 April 2019. 
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CEO’s Remuneration

As Chairman of the Board and Executive Director, CEO Mr Wong Ngit Liong does not receive Director’s fees. As a member 
of Management, his remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and it comprises both cash-based and 
share-based components. Information on the CEO’s remuneration including options  granted pursuant to the Venture 
Corporation Executives’ Share Option Scheme 2015 (“2015 Scheme”) and awards granted pursuant to the Venture 
Corporation Restricted Share Plan (“RSP”) adopted by the Company in 2011 are set out below.

CEO and Chairman

Remuneration 2015 Scheme
Number of share
options granted

in FY 2019(4)

RSP
Number of RSP
shares awarded

in FY 2019(4)

Total
S$

Fixed(1)

%
Variable(2)

%
Total(3)

%

Wong Ngit Liong 8,693,688 17 83 100 33,000 20,000

Notes:

(1) The fixed remuneration includes base salary, fixed allowances and annual wage supplement.
(2) The variable remuneration includes performance bonus and benefits-in-kind.
(3) The total remuneration includes applicable employer CPF contributions.
(4) The fair value of share options granted under the 2015 Scheme and the fair value of awards granted under the RSP can be found in Note 25 to the 

financial statements.

Key Management Personnel Remuneration 

The Group’s practice of aligning rewards to performance is central to its overall strategy on human capital management 
and retention. The Group’s remuneration approach draws a clear connection between performance and remuneration 
to support the organisation’s strategic objectives of driving a performance-excellence mindset, improving organisational 
eªectiveness, as well as attracting and retaining talent with an overarching goal of sustaining operational and financial 
excellence for the Group. The Group’s performance-based remuneration framework and practices are also designed 
to reflect market considerations as well as alignment with all stakeholders’ interests. Thus, the Group seeks to provide a 
competitive overall compensation that, among other things:

• commensurates with the contributions of each employee to the Group’s strategic objectives;
• is aligned to the financial performance of the Group and against pre-determined financial targets;
• is based on demonstrable qualities of leadership, talent management and team building; 
• takes into account industry performance and outlook;
• places emphasis on sustained performance over time; and
• is subject to higher weightage for variable and performance-based components. 

Performance Review and Evaluation Process

The Group has an annual and continuous performance review process that evaluates each employee’s contributions. 
Each year, all employees are required to set out their objectives, targets and performance conditions comprising both 
financial and non-financial factors, constituting qualitative and quantitative elements, which must be aligned to overall 
strategic direction, objectives and core values of the Group. These work goals are reviewed regularly throughout the year 
and each employee’s performance, including that of key management personnel, is assessed against the pre-determined 
performance targets.
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In particular, key management personnel are evaluated inter alia, based on the following qualitative and quantitative criteria:

a. Achievement of Goals and Targets

i. Financial performance of his respective business unit against targets, inter alia including:
– Revenue generated
– Accounts receivables vs accounts payables management
– Return on investment
– Cash conversion cycle

ii. How well the needs of new and existing customers are executed and managed
iii. Operational excellence
iv. Operational control / business processes control
v. Risk management
vi. Leadership development / succession planning
vii. Innovation / creativity / IP content
viii. Work improvement programmes
ix. Other contributions such as improvement in accountability, teamwork, sharing of information across sites

b. Leadership Capabilities

i. Vision
ii. Judgement
iii. Strategic focus
iv. Accountability
v. Talent management
vi. Customer focus and relationship management
vii. Communication
viii. Teamwork
ix. Problem solving and creativity

For greater objectivity of assessment, all final performance ratings are comprehensively discussed and ascertained by at 
least two levels of managerial personnel. For key management personnel, their contributions and performance are further 
evaluated based on the achievement of the aforesaid objectives, and comprehensively reviewed at the Remuneration 
Committee meetings. 

Fixed and Variable Components of Remuneration 

The remuneration framework consists of both fixed and variable components. The base salary and annual wage supplement 
form the fixed component. Base salaries of key management personnel are determined based on the scope, criticality and 
complexity of each role, the individual’s experience, competencies and market competitiveness. The variable component 
is determined based on the employee’s performance evaluation and contributions, and the Group’s financial performance 
in the relevant financial year. It is then paid out to eligible employees, including key management personnel based on a 
guided formula. Taking into account the risk policies of the Group, the variable component is symmetric with risk outcomes 
and sensitive to the time horizon of risks, as well as the Group’s financial performance. 

Long-Term Incentives

The Company’s long-term incentive schemes are aimed at promoting an ownership culture and talent retention. The 
share-based schemes are components of an employee’s overall remuneration framework, which is intended to align 
employees’ interests with that of shareholders, as well as other stakeholders, so as to improve performance and achieve 
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sustainable growth for the Group. The allocation of share-based components to employees is guided by a framework 
administered by the Remuneration Committee. An employee’s sustained performance and potential for growth are among 
the key considerations for granting such incentives to employees, in particular, to key management personnel. 

Before each grant, the EXCO reviews the allocation of share-based components to eligible employees, and thereafter 
tables it for approval by the Remuneration Committee. Share-based components are vested over a pre-determined time 
horizon to ensure that employees continuously maintain a high level of contribution and commitment to the Group’s 
performance and profitability. 

Venture’s current long-term incentive schemes consist of (a) the 2015 Scheme that was approved and adopted by the 
Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) held on 25 April 2014, and (b) the RSP adopted by the Company at the 
EGM on 28 April 2011, both of which support the Company’s continuing eªorts to reward, retain and motivate employees to 
achieve outstanding sustained performance and potential for growth, in particular, the key management personnel.

a. 2015 Scheme

i. Objective

 The 2015 Scheme was implemented to: (a) encourage and foster employees ownership, mindset and 
loyalty to the Group as well as align the interests of employees with the interests of the shareholders;
(b) motivate employees to optimise their performance and maintain high levels of contribution to the Group’s 
performance and profitability; and (c) attract and retain high-performing employees who can create value 
for the Group.

ii. Vesting period and Options to acquire shares are issued at a premium

Share options granted under the 2015 Scheme (“Options”) have a one-year vesting period. The exercise of 
outstanding Options in the second and third year after the date of the grant is subject to a premium of 25% 
and 15% of the grant price respectively. The Options will expire on the fifth anniversary of the date of grant. 

iii. Employees eligible to receive Options

Eligible employees are nominated and considered, on selective basis annually, for grant of Options based on 
their overall performance and contribution. The performance review and evaluation process are set out in the 
paragraphs above. The number of Options granted takes into consideration the position, job performance, 
potential for future development and contribution to the success and development of the Group.

iv. Maximum number of Options to be granted 

At the forthcoming AGM, Directors will be seeking shareholders’ approval to authorise Directors of the 
Company to: 

(a) offer and grant Options pursuant to the provisions of 2015 Scheme during the Relevant Period; and

(b) allot and issue such number of ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (the “Shares”) from 
time to time as may be required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of Options granted pursuant to
(a) above,
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provided that the maximum number of Shares to be issued in connection with Options granted during the 
Relevant Period, shall not exceed 0.4% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the 
capital of the Company as of the date immediately before the grant of the Options.

“Relevant Period” means the period from this Annual General Meeting until the earlier of: (i) the conclusion 
of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company; and (ii) the date by which the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held.

Details of the Options granted under the 2004 Scheme and the 2015 Scheme and methodology of valuation, 
exercise price of Options that were granted, outstanding Options and vesting schedule are set out on pages 
94 to 97 of the Directors’ Statement and Note 25 to the financial statements.

v. Size and Duration

The maximum number of new Shares which may be issued pursuant to Options granted under the 2015 
Scheme on any date, when added to the aggregate number of Shares delivered and deliverable in respect of 
all awards made under the RSP after 30 April 2014 shall not exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares 
(excluding treasury shares).

 The 2015 Scheme will continue in force for a maximum of 10 years commencing on 1 January 2015.

b. Restricted Share Plan

i. Objective 

The Venture Corporation Restricted Share Plan was approved by shareholders on 26 April 2011. The RSP 
was implemented in line with the focus of the Group in pursuing quality growth and to encourage sustained 
commitment from key leaders to grow shareholder value over a long period of time through a sense of 
ownership in the Company, as well as to align the interests of key leaders as stakeholders of the Company. 
The Group has been pursuing innovation and technical competencies, building depth and density in 
engineering and research and development, as well as manufacturing operations and processes – to create 
distinct differentiators in its technology services, products and solutions offerings.

ii. Eligible employees and Vesting period 

Award of fully-paid ordinary Shares of the Company, which have a five-year vesting period (or such other 
period determined by the Remuneration Committee), are made to selected managers in senior positions 
in the Group or in leadership positions in Management, technology or possess other domain expertise and 
competencies and who are in a position to contribute or have significantly contributed to the performance, 
growth and profitability of the Group.

Details of the awards made under the RSP as well as the methodology of valuation, unvested RSP awards 
and vesting schedule are set out on pages 98 and 99 of the Directors’ Statement and Note 25 to the financial 
statements.

iii. Size and Duration

The aggregate number of treasury shares which may be delivered pursuant to awards under the RSP granted 
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on any date, shall not exceed 3% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) from time 
to time.

The RSP will continue in force for a maximum of 10 years commencing on 28 April 2011.

Key Management Personnel Remuneration 

The aggregate cash-based remuneration of the key management personnel in FY 2019 is S$4,710,960. The percentage 
breakdown of the fixed and variable components for each individual is set out below. The Remuneration Committee 
believes that the remuneration framework enables the Company to motivate employees and, to attract and retain talents 
to achieve its business targets and execute its strategic objectives.

In making available the cash-based remuneration of the key management personnel in bands of S$250,000, and disclosing 
precisely the aggregate cash-based remuneration of the key management personnel, the Company provides a macro 
perspective of the total remuneration without compromising the Group’s business interests, and at the same time, 
minimises competitive pressures which would arise from more detailed disclosures.

In FY 2019, the key management personnel (who are not Directors or the CEO) are Mr Lee Ghai Keen, Mr Dharma Nadarajah, 
Mr Ng Chee Kwoon, Mr Lim Sita and Mr Wong Chee Kheong. 

 Remuneration Bands (Fixed and Variable) /
Key Management Personnel

Remuneration 2015 Scheme
Number
of share
options
granted

in FY 2019(4)

RSP
Number of
RSP shares
awarded in
FY 2019(4)

Fixed(1)

%
Variable(2)

%
Total(3)

%

Between S$1,000,000 - S$1,249,999

2 48 52 100 28,000 15,000

Between S$750,000 - S$999,999

2 45 55 100 28,000 15,000

Between S$250,000 - S$499,999

1 79 21 100 0 0

Notes:

(1) The fixed remuneration includes base salary, fixed allowances and annual wage supplement.
(2) The variable remuneration includes performance bonus and benefits-in-kind.
(3) The total remuneration includes applicable employer CPF contributions.
(4) The fair value of share options granted under the 2015 Scheme and the fair value of awards granted under the RSP can be found in Note 25 to the 

financial statements.

There were no termination, retirement or post-employment benefits granted to the CEO or the key management personnel 
in FY 2019.

There are no immediate family members of a Director or the CEO in a managerial role in the Company nor in any of the 
principal subsidiaries. There are no immediate family members of a Director or the CEO whose remuneration exceeds 
S$100,000 in FY 2019.
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ACCOUNTABILITY & AUDIT – PRINCIPLES 9 TO 12

PRINCIPLE 9 – RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the governance of risk, including determining the nature and extent of the significant risks 
which the Company is willing to take. The Board oversees the Company’s risk management framework and policies, and 
ensures that Management maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls, to safeguard the interests 
of the Company and its shareholders. If there are any material weakness identified by the Board or Audit Committee, 
Management takes the necessary steps to address them.

The Group has in place an Enterprise Risk Management Integrated Framework (“ERM Framework”). This ERM Framework 
sets out the formal, systematic and comprehensive guidelines and rules to identify and manage significant risks that might 
aªect the Group’s achievement of its business objectives. The risk management process has been integrated throughout 
the Group and is an essential part of its business planning and monitoring process. Policy and methodology have been 
introduced detailing procedures, methodologies and evaluation criteria to ensure clarity and consistency in the application 
of the risk management process across the Group. Key risks, control measures and management actions are continually 
identified and monitored by the operational units and reviewed by Management. Management then applies appropriate 
controls and mitigating steps (whenever applicable and cost effective) to manage the risk to an acceptable level.

In addition, the Group has in place a Control Self-Assessment (“CSA”) programme which provides a tangible control 
framework that establishes control ownership amongst functional managers and staª in their respective areas of 
responsibilities. Relevant functional managers across the Group assess the effectiveness of the relevant existing controls in 
their respective areas of responsibilities. The scores are aggregated to give an overall assurance score. The self-assessments 
performed by such functional managers provide the assurance that key controls to address the financial, operational, 
compliance and information technology risks identified to be relevant and important to the Company’s operations are 
adequate and eªective.

Leveraging on the results of the ERM Framework, the CSA, the external auditors’ report, internal audits and quality 
certifications of the Group’s management systems, the CEO and the key management personnel would in turn provide an 
annual attestation to the Audit Committee and to the Board, relating to the adequacy and eªectiveness of the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems.

The Board has, together with the Audit Committee, reviewed the Group’s risk assessment programmes and internal control 
processes. For FY 2019, the Board and the Audit Committee have received and have reviewed the assurance from:

a. the CEO and the CFO, that the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the Group’s operations and finances; and 

b. the CEO and the relevant key management personnel that the Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems (including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls) were adequate and 
effective.

Based on the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, work performed by the internal and external 
auditors, reviews performed by Management and various Board Committees, the assurance from the CEO, the CFO and 
the relevant key management personnel, the Board is satisfied and the Audit Committee concurs with the Board that 
the Group’s internal controls (including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls) and risk 
management systems, were adequate and eªective as at 31 December 2019.
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The Board and the Audit Committee however, note that the system of internal controls provides reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance that the Group will not be aªected by any event (that could be reasonably foreseen) as it strives to 
achieve its business objectives. In this regard, the Board also notes that no system can provide absolute assurance against 
the occurrence of material errors, poor judgement in decision-making, human error, fraud or other irregularities.

Accountability

The Board’s responsibility is to present a balanced and fair assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects 
to the public via the release of the Group’s financial results. The Audit Committee and the Board reviews and approves the 
financial results before its dissemination, as well as any media release of the Group’s financial results. Since the SGX-ST’s 
introduction of the requirement for Directors to issue a Negative Assurance Statement to accompany the Group’s financial 
results announcement, a process is in place to support Management’s representations to the Board on the integrity of the 
Group’s financial statements, and to confirm that there are no transactions or events of a material or unusual nature which 
would render the results misleading in any material aspect, before the Negative Assurance Statement is given by the Board.

The financial statements and other announcements are released via the SGXNet and are also available on the Company’s 
website. The Company’s Annual Reports may be viewed or downloaded from the corporate website as well.

The Board takes appropriate steps to keep abreast of changes and ensure compliance with legislative and regulatory 
requirements, where appropriate.

Whistle-Blowing Policy

In addition, the Company has adopted a Whistle-Blowing Policy for the Group to provide a channel for employees of the 
Group and third parties to report and to raise, in good faith and in confidence, any concerns about possible improprieties in 
matters of financial reporting or other wrongdoings. The objective of the Whistle-Blowing Policy is to facilitate independent 
investigations of such matters and for appropriate follow-up action(s) to safeguard the Company’s interests. The various 
channels of reporting any fraudulent practices and inappropriate activities are clearly communicated to employees and the 
contact may be found on the Company’s corporate website as well.

PRINCIPLE 10 – AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises five Independent Non-Executive Directors. They are Mr Goon Kok Loon, Mr Koh Lee 
Boon, Mr Wong Yew Meng, Mr Jonathan S. Huberman and Mr Han Thong Kwang. Mr Goon Kok Loon is the Chairman of 
the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is constituted and has performed in compliance with the Companies Act, 
Cap 50., the Listing Rules and the 2018 Code. The Audit Committee is guided by clear written Terms of Reference and 
met four times in 2019.

The role of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board with discharging its responsibility in connection with governance 
of risk, safeguarding the Company’s assets, maintaining adequate accounting records, and ensuring that Management 
develops and maintains effective systems of risk management and internal controls to safeguard the interests of the 
Company and its shareholders; and its responsibilities include, inter alia:

a. to review with the external auditors the audit plan, including the nature and scope of the audit before the audit 
commences, their evaluation of the system of internal accounting controls, their audit report and their management 
letter and Management’s response. To ensure co-ordination where more than one audit firm is involved;
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b. to review the quarterly, half-year and annual financial statements before submission to the Board for approval, 
focusing in particular, on changes in accounting policies and practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments 
resulting from the audit, the going concern statement, compliance with accounting standards, and compliance 
with stock exchange and statutory or regulatory requirements;

c.  to discuss problems and concerns, if any, arising from the quarterly, interim and final audits, in consultation with the 
external auditors and the internal auditors where necessary. To review and discuss with the external auditors, any 
suspected fraud or irregularity, or suspected infringement of any law, rules or regulations, which has or is likely to 
have a material impact on the Company’s operating results or financial position, and Management’s response;

d.  to meet (a) with the external auditors and (b) with the internal auditors, in each case without the presence of 
Management, at least annually, to discuss any problems and concerns they may have, and to review the assistance 
given by Management to the external auditors;

e. to review annually the scope and results of the external audit and its cost effectiveness as well as the independence 
and objectivity of the external auditors;

f.  where the auditors also provide non-audit services to the Company, to review the nature and extent of such services 
in order to balance the maintenance of objectivity and value for money, and to ensure that the independence of the 
auditors would not be affected;

g. to review the internal audit programme and ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors and 
Management. To ensure that the internal audit function is staffed with persons with the relevant qualification and 
experience, and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit functions; 

h. to review the balance sheet and profit and loss account of the Company and the consolidated balance sheet and 
profit and loss account, before approval by the Board; 

i. to investigate any matter within its Terms of Reference, with full access to and co-operation by Management and 
full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer to attend its meetings, and reasonable resources to enable 
it to discharge its functions properly. To report to the Board its findings from time to time on matters arising and 
requiring the attention of the Audit Committee;

j. to review interested person transactions falling within the scope of the Listing Rules including transactions that fall 
within the scope of Rule 912, i.e. the review and approval of proposed sale(s) of any units of property projects to the 
Company’s interested persons and/or relatives of a Director, CEO or controlling shareholder;

k. to undertake such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board and such other functions and 
duties as may be required by statute or the Listing Rules, and by such amendments made thereto from time to time;

l. to consider and recommend to the Board on the proposals to the shareholders on the appointment, re-appointment 
and removal of the external auditors, and recommend to the Board for approval of the remuneration and terms of 
engagement of the external auditors; 
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m.  to review and report to the Board at least annually, the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
controls and risk management systems, including financial, operational, compliance and information technology 
controls (such review can be carried out internally or with the assistance of any competent third parties); 

n.  to review the policy and arrangements for concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting or other 
matters to be safely raised, independently investigated and appropriately followed up on;

o.  to review the policy and arrangements by which staff of the Company and any other persons may, in confidence, 
raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters, and ensure that 
arrangements are in place for such concerns to be raised and independently investigated, and for appropriate 
follow-up action to be taken; and

p.  to approve the hiring, removal, evaluation and compensation of the head of the internal audit function, or the 
accounting/auditing firm or corporation to which the internal audit function is outsourced, and ensure that the 
internal audit function is adequately resourced.

The external auditors and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee and meet with the Audit 
Committee without the presence of Management, at least once a year. The external auditors met with the Audit Committee 
without the presence of Management once in 2019.

The Audit Committee, with the assistance of internal auditors, reviews and reports to the Board on the adequacy and 
eªectiveness of the Group’s system of controls, including financial, operational, compliance and information technology 
controls, and risk management policies and systems established by Management. In assessing the eªectiveness of the 
Group’s internal controls, the Audit Committee ensures primarily that key objectives are met, material assets are properly 
safeguarded, there are adequate measures to detect and prevent fraud or errors in the accounting records, accounting 
records are accurate and complete, and reliable financial information is prepared in compliance with applicable internal 
policies, laws and regulations.

The Audit Committee has reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditors during the year and is of the 
opinion that the provision of such services will not aªect the independence and objectivity of the external auditors.

None of the Audit Committee members is a former partner or director of the Group’s existing audit firm.

The Audit Committee which comprises a majority of Independent Non-Executive Directors, has more than two members, 
including the Audit Committee Chairman, who have recent and relevant accounting or related financial management 
expertise or experience. The Audit Committee also takes measures to keep abreast of the changes to accounting standards 
and issues which have a direct impact on financial statements, with briefings provided by professionals or external 
consultants as necessary.

In line with the notice issued on 24 January 2017 by the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority, Monetary 
Authority of Singapore and SGX-ST, the Audit Committee is to provide its own commentary on the key audit matters 
(“KAMs”) reported by the external auditors. During the audit of the financial statements for FY 2019, one KAM was reported 
by the external auditors and are set out on page 102 of this Annual Report. The Audit Committee’s commentaries on the 
reported KAM is set out below.
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 KAM Audit Committee’s Comments

Impairment review 
of goodwill allocated 
to GES International 
Group’s cash-
generating unit

The carrying value of goodwill is a significant item within the Group’s balance sheet. In particular, 
goodwill allocated to GES International Group contributed 17% and 90% of the Group’s total 
assets and goodwill respectively. Impairment assessments, performed annually, require judgement 
about future market conditions, including growth rates and discount rates. The Audit Committee 
considered the approach, methodology and key assumptions applied in the valuation model and 
the report from external valuation specialist. The Audit Committee also considered the findings of 
the external auditors, including their assessment of the appropriateness of the key assumptions 
used. With these, the Audit Committee concurred with Management’s conclusion that there is no 
impairment of goodwill as at 31 December 2019.

External Auditors

The Audit Committee oversees the Company’s relationship with its external auditors, and among other things recommends 
to the Board the appointment and re-appointment of the external auditor. The Company has considered the adequacy of 
the resources and experience of the audit firm, the audit engagement partner assigned to the audit, the firm’s other audit 
engagements, the size and complexity of the Group, and the number and experience of supervisory and professional staª 
assigned to the audit, and is satisfied that the re-appointment of the external auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, would be in 
compliance with Rule 712 of the Listing Rules. 

The Board and the Audit Committee have also reviewed and are accordingly satisfied that the appointment of diªerent 
audit firms for a small number of the Company’s subsidiaries (as set out on pages 162 to 168 of this Annual Report) would 
not compromise the standard and eªectiveness of the audit of the Company and the Group. None of the Company’s 
subsidiaries are listed on a stock exchange. The subsidiaries which have significant contributions in terms of revenue 
and net assets are all audited by member firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (“DTTL”). The subsidiaries which are 
audited by non-DTTL member firms are insignificant and do not have material revenue contribution or net assets. In this 
regard, the Company has complied with Rule 716 of the Listing Rules.

The aggregate amount of fees paid to the external auditors for audit and non-audit services are set out in Note 30 to the 
financial statements.

Internal Audit Department

The Internal Audit department is an independent function that reports directly to the Chairman of the Audit Committee on 
audit matters and to the CEO and CFO on administrative matters. The Internal Audit department has unrestricted access 
to all of the Group’s documents and records, as well as to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee approves the hiring, 
removal, evaluation and compensation of the head of the Internal Audit department.

The Internal Audit Charter empowers the internal auditors to provide independent and objective assessments and 
consulting services which are designed to evaluate the adequacy and eªectiveness of the Group’s system of internal 
controls. A risk-based approach is used to develop the annual audit plan to ensure that all high risk areas are monitored for 
proper coverage and audit frequency.

The Audit Committee reviews and approves the audit plans and resource allocation to ensure that the internal auditors 
have the necessary resources to adequately and eªectively perform their duties. The Internal Audit team employs suitably 
qualified and experienced independent personnel to provide audit and consulting services. They either possess a recognised 
degree in accountancy, or an equivalent professional qualification. A training and development programme is in place to 
ensure that the internal auditors are equipped with technical knowledge and skill sets that are appropriate and relevant.
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The Internal Audit department is guided by and has met standards for the professional practice of internal audit promulgated 
by the Institute of Internal Auditors (“IIA”). An external assessment of the Internal Audit department in 2015 a¬rmed that its 
activities conform on the whole to the standards set by the IIA.

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee comprises four Independent Non-Executive Directors, an Executive Director and two members 
of the Management team. They are Mr Wong Ngit Liong, Mr Goon Kok Loon, Mr Jonathan S. Huberman, Mr Han Thong 
Kwang, Ms Tan Seok Hoong @Mrs Audrey Liow, Mr Ng Chee Kwoon and Mr Wong Chee Kheong. Ms Tan Seok Hoong
@Mrs Audrey Liow and Mr Wong Chee Kheong were appointed on 1 March 2019. 

The role of the Investment Committee is to set broad overall investment guidelines for the Company and to assess 
and review investments, opportunities and performance, guided by clear written Terms of Reference. The Investment 
Committee is chaired by Mr Wong Ngit Liong and met twice in 2019.

The functions of the Investment Committee are:

a. to set broad investment policies and guidelines to achieve objectives of the Company and the Group, which include:

i. effective management of the Group’s excess cash holdings for middle to long-term investments;

ii. capital preservation by investing in low risk investment products;

iii. long-term average return that is above appropriate market benchmarks; and

iv. adequate liquidity on the investments;

b. to approve the investment mandate for investment office;

c. to assess investment opportunities for the Company and the Group;

d. to review investment performance of the Company and the Group;

e. to oversee the Company’s exercise of the Share Buy-Back Mandate; and

f. to undertake such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT – PRINCIPLES 11 TO 13

PRINCIPLE 11 – SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND CONDUCT OF GENERAL MEETINGS

PRINCIPLE 12 – ENGAGEMENT WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Communication

The Company is committed to promoting eªective communication with all shareholders. It has put in place established 
policies and procedures, ensuring all shareholders are provided with equal and timely access to material information 
concerning the Company. Prompt and relevant information with regard to the Company’s corporate developments and 
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financial performance is disseminated in compliance with its continuous disclosure obligations in line with the 2018 Code 
and the Listing Rules.

The Company’s communication framework and practices provide open and fair, as well as meaningful and timely, 
shareholders’ communication and interaction on a non-selective basis.

Every quarter, the Company holds a briefing session for analysts who cover Venture, after the release of its quarterly 
financial results. Key Management of the Group presides over the briefing session and oªers a comprehensive review 
of the Company’s performance. An information package comprising the financial statements, press announcement and 
a set of presentation slides are shared with all participants. The same information package is disseminated through the 
SGX-ST SGXNet System at the time of the briefing and also made available on the Company’s corporate website for ease 
of access and download.

The Company typically establishes shareholder communication via a series of local non-deal road shows, global conference 
calls, one-on-one meetings or group meetings after its results announcement each quarter. The various channels of 
shareholder communication enable Management and the Investor Relations and Corporate Communications team to 
share the same information across a wider group of investors.

In line with the recent amendments to Rule 705(2) of the Listing Rules which took effect from 7 February 2020 (“Amended 
Listing Rules”), the Company has announced on 27 February 2020 that it will publish its financial statements on a 
half-yearly basis in accordance with the Amended Listing Rules, with effect from the financial year ending 31 December 
2020. The Company will provide an executive summary of key financial information as well as a business commentary and 
outlook for the first and third quarter performance of the Group. It also intends to continue with its regular shareholder 
communication via the various channels listed above.

General Meetings

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s general meetings. However, if they are not able to do so, the 
Constitution allows each shareholder to appoint up to two proxies to attend, speak and vote on his/her behalf at the 
Company’s general meetings. Nonetheless, pursuant to the Companies (Amendment) Act 2014 (“Act”), shareholders who 
are relevant intermediaries (as defined in the Act) are allowed to appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote 
at the Company’s general meetings. 

The Company’s general meetings are attended by all the Directors, external auditors, the Company Secretary and 
Management. Prior to the commencement of the AGM, the Company makes a presentation, highlighting key business 
developments and its full year financial performance. Shareholders are given the opportunity to share their views and put 
their questions to the meeting(s). The Company engages in active discussion and interaction with shareholders during 
the meeting(s). The minutes of shareholder meeting records the proceedings as well as relevant questions raised by 
shareholders and answers given by the Board.

Currently, shareholders can vote by proxy but not in absentia. The Company will consider amending its Constitution if the 
Board is of the view that there is justifiable demand for absentia voting, and after the Company has evaluated and put in 
place the necessary measures and safeguards to facilitate such voting.

The Company has implemented poll voting for all resolutions tabled at the Company’s general meetings. Independent 
scrutineers are appointed to review the electronic poll voting system and proxy verification process during the general 
meetings. The independent scrutineers also supervise the poll counting process. The results of each resolution are reported 
at the meeting(s) and announced through the SGX-ST SGXNet System after the meeting(s). All resolutions tabled at the 
Company’s general meetings are separate and distinct.
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Minutes of the general meetings including relevant queries and comments from shareholders and responses from the 
Board are recorded and are available upon request by shareholders. 

Investor Relations

The Company’s corporate website (www.venture.com.sg) has a dedicated “Investor Relations” link which features the 
latest and past financial results and related information. The contact details of the Investor Relations and Corporate 
Communications team are available on the dedicated link, as well as the Annual Report, to enable shareholders to easily 
contact the Company. The Investor Relations and Corporate Communications team has procedures in place for addressing 
investors’ queries or complaints as soon as possible.

Management takes an active role in participating in investor relations activities, meeting regularly with local and foreign 
shareholders and the investment community. During the year, the Company conducted more than 100 investor 
communication engagements covering non-deal road shows, corporate access forums and conferences, one-on-one 
and group meetings and conference calls. 

The Investor Relations and Corporate Communications team handles queries by analysts, investors and shareholders in the 
form of letters, electronic mail, web portal mails and telephone calls. The Company endeavours to respond to all queries 
expeditiously. In addition, explanations and clarifications are provided to all interested parties on an equal-opportunity 
basis. This practice by the Company is in line with its commitment towards fair disclosure and the Listing Rules. 

The Company continues to receive support from over several equity sales and research institutions that regularly provide 
reports and updates on the Company to the investment community. To ensure accuracy of the coverage, the Company 
initiates direct and regular communications with the financial analysts and equity sales teams of these institutions.

The Company’s Report to Shareholders is filed on an annual basis. The Report, together with the Notice of AGM, Letter 
to Shareholders and Circular, if applicable, are made available to all shareholders, including overseas shareholders, within 
the mandatory period, providing shareholders with adequate time to review the documents thoroughly. The Company 
also publishes the Notice of AGM and Notice of EGM, if applicable, in a major local news publication and on its corporate 
website. Full copies of the Notices are also lodged with the SGX-ST.

Through the comprehensive shareholder communication programme put in place, the Company has provided accessibility 
to all shareholders on an equal-opportunity basis. Management and the Investor Relations and Corporate Communications 
team have received positive feedback from the investment community for the provision of regular, eªective and fair 
communication, as well as quality and timely information.

Dividend and Dividend Policy

Although the Company does not have a formal dividend policy, it strives to pay dividends that are on par or higher than 
the previous year. Since 2018, the Company has paid interim and final dividends. Barring unforeseen circumstances, the 
Company aims to declare dividends at sustainable rates considering a wide range of factors, including the Company’s 
capital structure, profitability, cash flow, future earnings, working capital and capital expenditure requirements, investment 
plans, as well as other corporate considerations. 

The Board of Directors has recommended a final dividend of 50 cents per share on a one-tier tax-exempt basis for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2019. This is in addition to the interim dividend of 20 cents per share paid on
19 September 2019 on a one-tier tax-exempt basis.
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The proposed dividend is subject to Shareholders’ approval at the AGM to be held in 2020. The dividend payment date 
and the book closure date will be set out in the Notice of AGM. 

PRINCIPLE 13 – ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company firmly believes that engaging its various key stakeholders to understand their relevant interests and concerns, 
and finding the right balance in addressing them, are crucial to its long-term success. The table on page 32 of the Annual 
Report summarises the Company’s approach to its key stakeholder engagement.

OTHER CODES & PRACTICES

Responsible Business Alliance (“RBA“) Code of Conduct

The Company has adopted the RBA Code of Conduct, which builds on the Group’s commitment to sound 
management philosophy, and good employment and workplace-related practices, among other desirable corporate 
practices.

In the Company’s most recent audit by the RBA conducted in February 2019, the Company completed the RBA 
Validated Audit Process and achieved a Platinum Status.

Internal Code on Dealings in Securities

The Company has an internal code on dealings in securities to comply with Rule 1207(19) of the Listing Rules. 
Directors and officers are advised not to deal in the Company’s securities during the period commencing two weeks 
before the announcement of a performance update for the first and third quarters of the Company’s financial year 
(if applicable), and the period of one month before the announcement of the Company’s half-year and full-year 
financial statements.

The Company, its Directors and o¬cers are not expected to deal in the Company’s securities on considerations of 
a short-term nature.

The Company, its Directors and o¬cers are required to observe insider trading provisions under the Securities and 
Futures Act (Cap 289) at all times even when dealing in the Company’s securities within the permitted periods. 
Directors of the Company are required to report all dealings to the Company Secretary.

Interested Person Transactions

The Company has established procedures to ensure that all transactions with interested persons are reported in 
a timely manner to the Audit Committee for review that the transactions are carried out in a way that is fair and 
at arms’ length – on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its 
shareholders.

There were no transactions conducted with interested persons in FY 2019.
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Material Contracts

Directors complete a declaration of interests annually, in compliance with Section 165 of the Companies Act. There 
were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries involving the interests of the CEO, 
Directors, controlling shareholders or key management, which were either subsisting at the end of the financial year 
or, if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year.
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The following table summarises our corporate governance practices with specific reference to the disclosure requirements 
in the principles and provisions of the 2018 Code: 

2018 Code Principles & Provisions Compliance Page Reference

BOARD MATTERS

The Board’s Conduct of Affairs

Principle 1: The Company is headed by an effective Board which is collectively 
responsible and works with Management for the long-term success of the 
Company.

Y 55 to 56

Provision 1.1
The Board puts in place a code of conduct and ethics, sets appropriate tone-from-
the-top and desired organisational culture, and ensures proper accountability 
within the Company.

Y 55

Provision 1.2
Directors are provided with opportunities to develop and maintain skills and 
knowledge. Information on induction, training and development provided to new 
and existing Directors.

Y 57 to 58

Provision 1.3 
Disclosure in the Annual Report of matters that require Board approval. Y 56

Provision 1.4
Names of the Board Committee members, the terms of reference, delegation 
of the Board’s authority to make decisions, and a summary of each Board 
Committee’s activities. 

Y
57, 63 to 64,

66 to 67,
75 to 77 & 79

Provision 1.5
The number of the Board and Board Committees meetings held in the year, and 
attendance of each individual Director at these meetings. 

Y 57

Provision 1.6
Management provides Directors with complete, adequate and timely information 
prior to meetings and on an on-going basis. 

Y 58

Provision 1.7
Directors have separate and independent access to Management, the Company 
Secretary and external advisers (where necessary) at the Company’s expense. 

Y 58

Board Composition and Guidance

Principle 2: The Board has an appropriate level of independence and diversity 
of thought and background in its composition to enable it to make decisions 
in the best interests of the Company.

Y 59 to 63
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2018 Code Principles & Provisions Compliance Page Reference

Provision 2.1
The Board should identify in the Company’s Annual Report each Director it 
considers to be independent.  

Y 14 to 19 &
59 to 60

Provision 2.2
Independent Directors make up a majority of the Board where the Chairman is 
not independent. 

Y 59 & 62

Provision 2.3
Non-Executive Directors make up a majority of the Board. Y 59 & 62

Provision 2.4
The Board and Board Committees are of an appropriate size, and comprise 
directors who as a group provide the appropriate balance and mix of skills, 
knowledge, experience, and other aspects of diversity such as gender and age, so 
as to avoid groupthink and foster constructive debate. 

Y 61

Provision 2.5
Non-Executive Directors and/or Independent Directors meet regularly without 
the presence of Management. The Chairman of such meetings provide feedback 
to the Board and/or Chairman. 

Y 58 & 61

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principle 3: There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership 
of the Board and Management, and no one individual has unfettered powers 
of decision-making.

Y 62 to 63

Provision 3.1
The role of the Chairman and the CEO are undertaken by separate persons. 

N – Have been 
addressed by 
appropriate 
measures

62

Provision 3.2
The Board establishes and sets out in writing the division of responsibilities 
between the Chairman and the CEO. 

Y 62

Provision 3.3
The Board has a Lead Independent Director. Y 61

Board Membership

Principle 4: The Board has a formal and transparent process for the 
appointment and re-appointment of Directors, taking into account the need 
for progressive renewal of the Board.

Y 63 & 65
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2018 Code Principles & Provisions Compliance Page Reference

Provision 4.1
The Nominating Committee (“NC”) makes recommendation to the Board on 
relevant matters relating to review of succession plans, performance evaluation, 
training and development programmes, and appointment and re-appointment of 
Directors.

Y 64 to 65

Provision 4.2
The NC comprises at least three Directors, the majority of whom, including the NC 
Chairman, are independent. The Lead Independent Director, if any, is a member 
of the NC. 

Y 63

Provision 4.3
Process for the selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors to the 
Board, including criteria used to identify and evaluate potential new Directors and 
channels used in searching for appropriate candidates. 

Y 63 & 65

Provision 4.4
NC and Board determines if a Director is independent notwithstanding the 
existence of a relationship with the Company, its related corporations, its 
substantial shareholders or its officers; discloses the relationships and the Board’s 
reasons for considering him/her as independent. 

Y 59 to 60

Provision 4.5
Information on listed company directorships and principal commitments of each 
Director. Y 15 to 19

Board Performance

Principle 5: The Board undertakes a formal annual assessment of its 
effectiveness as a whole, and that of each of its Board Committees and 
individual Directors.

Y 65 to 66

Provision 5.1
The NC recommends the objective performance criteria and process for the 
evaluation of performance of the Board, Board Committees, Chairman and 
individual Directors. 

Y 65

Provision 5.2
Disclosure in the Annual Report on how the assessment of the Board, its Board 
Committees and individual Directors have been conducted.  Y 65
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REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 6: The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for 
developing policies on Director and executive remuneration, and for fixing 
the remuneration packages of individual Directors and key management 
personnel. No Director is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

Y 67 to 73

Provision 6.1
The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) reviews and makes recommendation on the 
framework of remuneration and specific remuneration packages.

Y 67

Provision 6.2
The RC comprises at least 3 Directors. All members of the RC are Non-Executive 
Directors, the majority of whom, including the RC Chairman, are independent. 

Y 66

Provision 6.3
The RC considers all aspects of remuneration, including termination terms, to 
ensure they are fair. 

Y 67 to 73

Provision 6.4
Disclosure of the engagement of any remuneration consultants and their 
independence in the Annual Report. 

N.A. 67

Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 7: The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and key 
management personnel are appropriate and proportionate to the sustained 
performance and value creation of the Company, taking into account the 
strategic objectives of the Company.

Y 67 to 73

Provision 7.1
A significant and appropriate proportion of Executive Directors’ and key 
management personnel’s remuneration is structured so as to link rewards to 
corporate and individual performance. 

Y 69 to 73

Provision 7.2
The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is appropriate to the level 
of contribution, taking into account factors such as effort, time spent, and 
responsibilities. 

Y 67 to 68

Provision 7.3
Remuneration is appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the Directors and key 
management personnel. 

Y 67 to 73
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Disclosure on Remuneration

Principle 8: The Company is transparent on its remuneration policies, level 
and mix of remuneration, the procedure for setting remuneration, and the 
relationships between remuneration, performance and value creation.

Y 67 to 73

Provision 8.1
Disclosure in the Annual Report of the policy and criteria for setting remuneration, 
as well as names, amounts and breakdown of remuneration of: 

(a) each individual Director and the CEO; and Y 67 to 69

(b) at least the top five key management personnel (who are not Directors 
or the CEO) in bands no wider than S$250,000 and in aggregate the total 
remuneration paid to these key management personnel. 

Y 69 to 73

Provision 8.2
Disclosure of names and remuneration of employees who are substantial 
shareholders of the Company, or are immediate family members of a Director, 
the CEO or a substantial shareholder of the Company, and whose remuneration 
exceeds S$100,000 during the year, in bands no wider than S$100,000. 

Y 73

Provision 8.3
Disclosure of all forms of remuneration and other payments and benefits, paid by 
the Company and its subsidiaries to Directors and key management personnel of 
the Company; Disclosure of details of employee share schemes.

Y 67 to 73

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Risk Management and Internal Controls

Principle 9: The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures 
that Management maintains a sound system of risk management and internal 
controls, to safeguard the interests of the Company and its shareholders.

Y 74 to 75

Provision 9.1
The Board determines the nature and extent of the significant risks which the 
Company is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives and value creation. 

Y 74 to 75

Provision 9.2
Disclosure in the Annual Report that the Board has received assurance from:

(a) the CEO and the CFO that the financial records have been properly 
maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
Company’s operations and finances; and

Y 74 to 75

    size:W210mm x H297mm     1st              Financial    Black  size:W210mm x H297mm     1stPage 88

W000082-20_0022_Venture AR_2019 - Financials_FA_260320 R4.indd   88 26/3/20   12:06 PM



F U T U R E
R E A D Y

89
T H E  C O M P A N Y ’ S  C O M P L I A N C E
A N D  D I S C L O S U R E  S C O R E C A R D 
O N  T H E  2 0 1 8  C O D E  O F  C O R P O R A T E  G O V E R N A N C E  ( “ 2 0 1 8  C O D E ” )

2018 Code Principles & Provisions Compliance Page Reference

(b) the CEO and other key management personnel who are responsible, 
regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk 
management and internal control systems. 

Y 74 to 75

Audit Committee

Principle 10: The Board has an Audit Committee (“AC”) which discharges its 
duties objectively.

Y 75

Provision 10.1
The duties of the AC include: 

(a) reviewing the significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as 
to ensure the integrity of the financial statements of the Company and any 
announcements relating to the Company’s financial performance; 

Y 75 to 76

(b) reviewing at least annually the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal controls and risk management systems; 

Y 74 to 77

(c) reviewing the assurance from the CEO and the CFO on the financial 
records and financial statements; 

Y 74

(d) making recommendations to the Board on: (i) the proposals to the 
shareholders on the appointment and removal of external auditors; and 
(ii) the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors; 

Y 76

(e) reviewing the adequacy, effectiveness, independence, scope and results of 
the external audit and the Company’s internal audit function; and 

Y 76 to 77

(f) reviewing the policy and arrangements for concerns about possible 
improprieties in financial reporting or other matters to be safely raised, 
independently investigated and appropriately followed up on; the Company 
publicly discloses, and clearly communicates to employees, the existence 
of a whistle-blowing policy and procedures for raising such concerns.

Y 77

Provision 10.2
The AC comprises at least 3 Directors, all of whom are non-executive and 
the majority of whom, including the AC Chairman, are independent. At least 2 
members, including the AC Chairman, have recent and relevant accounting or 
related financial management expertise of experience. 

Y 75 & 77

Provision 10.3
The AC does not comprise former partners or Directors of the Company’s existing 
auditing firm or auditing corporation. 

Y 77
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Provision 10.4
Primary reporting line of the internal audit function is to the AC. The AC decides 
on the appointment, termination and remuneration of the head of the internal 
audit function.

Y 78

Provision 10.5
The AC meets with the external auditors without the presence of Management, 
at least annually.

The AC meets with the internal auditors without the presence of Management, 
at least annually.

Y

N

76 & 77

76

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT

Shareholder Rights and Conducts of General Meetings

Principle 11: The Company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably 
in order to enable them to exercise shareholders’ rights and have the 
opportunity to communicate their views on matters affecting the Company. 
The Company gives shareholders a balanced and understandable assessment 
of its performance, position and prospects.

Y 79 to 81

Provision 11.1
The Company provides shareholders with the opportunity to participate effectively 
in and vote at general meetings of shareholders. 

Y 80

Provision 11.2
The Company tables separate resolutions at general meetings of shareholders on 
each substantially separate issue.

Y 80

Provision 11.3
All Directors and external auditors attend general meetings of shareholders; 
Directors’ attendance is disclosed. 

Y 57 & 80

Provision 11.4
The Company’s Constitution allow for absentia voting at general meetings of 
shareholders. 

N – Will be 
addressed when 
there is justifiable 

demand and 
necessary 

safeguards are 
put in place

80

Provision 11.5
Publication of minutes of general meetings of shareholders on the Company’s 
corporate website.

N – Not published 
but available on 

request
81
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Provision 11.6
The Company has a dividend policy and communicates it to shareholders. Y 81

Engagement with Shareholders

Principle 12: The Company communicates regularly with its shareholders 
and facilitates the participation of shareholders during general meetings 
and other dialogues to allow shareholders to communicate their views on 
various matters affecting the Company.

Y 79 to 81

Provision 12.1
The Company provides avenues for communication between the Board and all 
shareholders. Y 79 to 81

Provision 12.2
The Company has in place an investor relations policy. Y 81

Provision 12.3
Company’s investor relations policy sets out the mechanism through which 
shareholders may contact the Company. Y 81

MANAGING STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIPS

Engagement with Stakeholders

Principle 13: The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and 
balancing the needs and interests of material stakeholders, as part of its 
overall responsibility to ensure that the best interests of the Company are 
served.

Y 82

Provision 13.1
The Company has arrangements in place to identify and engage with its material 
stakeholder groups and to manage its relationships with such groups. Y 82

Provision 13.2
Disclosure in the Annual Report of the Company’s strategy and key areas of focus 
in relation to the management of stakeholder relationships. Y 32

Provision 13.3
The Company maintains a current Corporate website. Y 81
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The Directors present their statement together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement 
of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

In the opinion of the Directors, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position 
and statement of changes in equity of the Company as set out on pages 106 to 196 are drawn up so as to give a true 
and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2019, and the financial 
performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the financial year 
then ended and at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay 
its debts when they fall due.

1 DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

Wong Ngit Liong
Koh Lee Boon
Goon Kok Loon
Wong Yew Meng
Jonathan S. Huberman
Han Thong Kwang
Kay Kuok Oon Kwong
Tan Seok Hoong @Mrs Audrey Liow

2 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS
 BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any arrangement 
whose object is to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares 
or debentures in the Company or any other body corporate, except for the options and awards mentioned in 
paragraphs 3 to 5 of the Directors’ Statement.
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3 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The Directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the share capital and 
debentures of the Company and related corporations as recorded in the register of Directors’ shareholdings kept by 
the Company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act except as follows:

Holdings
in names of 

Directors or nominees

Holdings in which
Directors are deemed

to have an interest

Name of directors in 
which interests are held

At
1 January

2019 or
date of

appointment,
if later

At
31 December

2019

At
1 January

2019 or
date of

appointment,
if later

At
31 December

2019

Ordinary shares of the Company

Wong Ngit Liong 20,238,219 20,238,219 – –
Koh Lee Boon 3,000 3,000 – –
Goon Kok Loon – – 5,000 5,000
Tan Seok Hoong @Mrs Audrey Liow 3,000 3,000 – –

Share options to subscribe for
shares of the Company

Wong Ngit Liong 77,000 110,000 – –

Restricted shares of the Company granted

Wong Ngit Liong 180,000 200,000 – –

 The Directors’ interests as at 21 January 2020 are the same as those as at 31 December 2019.

4 SHARE OPTIONS

(a) The Venture Corporation Executives’ Share Option Scheme (“the 2004 Scheme”)

(i) The 2004 Scheme in respect of unissued ordinary shares in the Company was approved by the 
shareholders of the Company in an Extraordinary General Meeting on 30 April 2004 and had expired 
on 30 April 2014. Notwithstanding the expiry of the 2004 Scheme, any outstanding and unexercised 
options held by option holders prior to such expiry will continue to remain valid.
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4 SHARE OPTIONS (cont’d)

(a) The Venture Corporation Executives’ Share Option Scheme (“the 2004 Scheme”) (cont’d)

(ii) Under the 2004 Scheme, an option entitles the option holder to subscribe for a specified number 
of new ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company, at the subscription price determined 
with reference to the market price of the shares at the time of the grant of the option and adjusted 
for certain premium depending on when the options are exercised, and may be exercised during 
the exercise period applicable to those options and in accordance with a vesting schedule to be 
determined by the Remuneration Committee on the date of the grant. No options have been granted 
at a discount.

(iii) Details of the unissued shares under options granted pursuant to the 2004 Scheme, options granted, 
exercised and cancelled/lapsed during the financial year, and options outstanding as at 31 December 
2019 were as follows:

Number of options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company

Date of 
grant

Grant 
No.

Outstanding
at 1 January

2019 Granted Exercised
Cancelled/

Lapsed

Outstanding at 
31 December 

2019

 Subscription
price

per share
Exercisable 

period

3 April
2014

2004
Grant 10

43,000 – (43,000) – – $9.315(a)

$8.570(b)

$7.452(c)

3 April 2015
 to 2 April

2019

43,000 – (43,000) – –

(a) If exercised between 3 April 2015 and 2 April 2016
(b) If exercised between 3 April 2016 and 2 April 2017
(c) If exercised between 3 April 2017 and 2 April 2019

(iv) The following are details of options granted to the Directors and employees of the Group under the 
2004 Scheme: 

Number of options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company

Name of participant

Options 
granted

during the
financial year

Aggregate
options

granted since
commencement

of Scheme to
end of the

financial year

Aggregate
options

exercised since
commencement

of Scheme to
end of the

financial year

Aggregate
options

cancelled/
lapsed since 

commencement
of Scheme to

end of the
financial year

Aggregate
options

outstanding as
at end of the

financial year

i) Director of the 
Company:

 Wong Ngit Liong – 576,000 (260,000)  (316,000) –

ii) Other Employees – 29,104,000 (10,293,000)  (18,811,000) –

– 29,680,000 (10,553,000)  (19,127,000) –
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4 SHARE OPTIONS (cont’d)

(b) The Venture Corporation Executives’ Share Option Scheme (“the 2015 Scheme”)

(i) The 2015 Scheme in respect of unissued ordinary shares in the Company was approved by the 
shareholders of the Company in an Extraordinary General Meeting on 25 April 2014 and commenced 
on 1 January 2015.

(ii) Under the 2015 Scheme, an option entitles the option holder to subscribe for a specified number 
of new ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company, at the subscription price determined 
with reference to the market price of the shares at the time of the grant of the option and adjusted 
for certain premium depending on when the options are exercised, and may be exercised during 
the exercise period applicable to those options and in accordance with a vesting schedule to be 
determined by the Remuneration Committee on the date of the grant. No options had been granted 
at a discount.

(iii) Details of the unissued shares under options granted pursuant to the 2015 Scheme, options granted 
and cancelled/lapsed during the financial year, and options outstanding as at 31 December 2019 were 
as follows:

Number of options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company

Date of 
grant

Grant 
No.

Outstanding
at 1 January

2019 Granted Exercised
Cancelled/

Lapsed

Outstanding at
31 December

2019

Subscription
price

per share
Exercisable

period

16 June
2015

2015 
Grant 1

225,000 – (162,000) – 63,000 $9.663(a)

$8.890(b)

$7.730(c)

16 June
2016 to

15 June 2020

16 June
2016

2015 
Grant 2

529,000 – (195,000) – 334,000 $10.510(d)

$9.670(e)

$8.410(f)

16 June
2017 to

15 June 2021

16 June
2017

2015 
Grant 3

2,052,000 – (300,000) (24,000) 1,728,000 $15.500(g)

$14.260(h)

$12.400(i)

16 June
2018 to

15 June 2022

– 2015 
Grant 4*

– – – – – – –

19 June
2019

2015
Grant 5

– 1,078,000 – (6,000) 1,072,000 $20.640(j)

$18.990(k)

$16.510(l)

19 June 
2020 to 

18 June 2024

2,806,000 1,078,000  (657,000) (30,000) 3,197,000

(a) If exercised between 16 June 2016 and 15 June 2017
(b) If exercised between 16 June 2017 and 15 June 2018
(c) If exercised between 16 June 2018 and 15 June 2020
(d) If exercised between 16 June 2017 and 15 June 2018
(e) If exercised between 16 June 2018 and 15 June 2019
(f) If exercised between 16 June 2019 and 15 June 2021
(g) If exercised between 16 June 2018 and 15 June 2019
(h) If exercised between 16 June 2019 and 15 June 2020
(i) If exercised between 16 June 2020 and 15 June 2022
(j) If exercised between 19 June 2020 and 18 June 2021
(k) If exercised between 19 June 2021 and 18 June 2022
(l) If exercised between 19 June 2022 and 18 June 2024
* There were no options granted during the financial year ended 31 December 2018

    size:W210mm x H297mm     1st              Financial    Black  size:W210mm x H297mm     1stPage 96

W000082-20_0022_Venture AR_2019 - Financials_FA_260320 R4.indd   96 26/3/20   12:07 PM



F U T U R E
R E A D Y

97
D I R E C T O R S ’
S T A T E M E N T

4 SHARE OPTIONS (cont’d)

(b) The Venture Corporation Executives’ Share Option Scheme (“the 2015 Scheme”) (cont’d)

(iv) The following are details of options granted to the Directors and employees of the Group under the 
2015 Scheme: 

Number of options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company

Name of participant

Options
granted

during the 
financial year

Aggregate
options

granted since
commencement

of Scheme to
end of the

financial year

Aggregate
options

exercised since
commencement

of Scheme to
end of the

financial year

Aggregate
options

cancelled/
lapsed since

commencement
of Scheme to

end of the
financial year

Aggregate 
options 

outstanding as 
at end of the 

financial year

i) Director of the 
Company:

 Wong Ngit Liong 33,000 250,000 (140,000) – 110,000

ii) Other Employees 1,045,000 8,494,000 (4,862,000) (545,000) 3,087,000

1,078,000 8,744,000 (5,002,000) (545,000) 3,197,000

The 2004 Scheme and 2015 Scheme are administered by the Remuneration Committee whose members are:

Koh Lee Boon (Chairman)
Goon Kok Loon
Wong Yew Meng 
Tan Seok Hoong @Mrs Audrey Liow (Appointed on 1 March 2019)

No employee of the Company or employee of related corporations has received 5% or more of the total options 
available under these schemes.

There are no options granted to any of the Company’s controlling shareholders or their associates as defined in the 
Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

There are no other unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under option at the end of the financial year 
except as disclosed above.
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5 RESTRICTED SHARES

The Venture Corporation Restricted Share Plan (“RSP”) was approved at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 
28 April 2011. 

The RSP is to encourage sustained commitment from key leaders to grow shareholder value over a long period 
of time through a sense of ownership in the Company. The RSP will also align the interests of key leaders as 
stakeholders of the Company. 

The RSP is administered by the Remuneration Committee whose members are all Independent Non-Executive 
Directors.

Managers in senior positions in the Group or leadership positions in management, technology or possess other 
domain expertise and competencies and who are in a position to contribute or have significantly contributed to 
the performance, growth and profitability of the Group, as may be designated by the Remuneration Committee, 
shall be eligible to participate in the RSP. Such managers must have been employed in the Company and/or its 
subsidiaries for a minimum period as determined by the Remuneration Committee.

The mode of settlement of the awards under the RSP may be by way of:

(i) allotment and issue of new shares; and/or

(ii) the delivery of existing shares; and/or

(iii) payment of the equivalent value in cash (after deduction of any applicable taxes and Central Provident Fund 
and/or other statutory contributions); and/or

(iv) a combination of above (i), (ii) and (iii).

Size of RSP

If new shares are issued to participants, the number of new shares issued:

(i) when added to the number of new shares issued and issuable and existing shares delivered and deliverable 
in respect of all awards granted under the RSP, shall not exceed 3% of the total number of issued shares 
(excluding shares held in treasury) from time to time;

(ii) when added to the number of new shares issued and issuable and existing shares delivered and deliverable in 
respect of (a) all awards granted under the RSP; and (b) all options granted and outstanding under the 2004 
Scheme, shall not exceed 15% of the total number of issued shares (excluding shares held in treasury) on the 
day preceding the relevant date of grant, where the relevant date of grant falls on or prior to 30 April 2014; 
and

(iii) when added to the number of new shares issued and issuable and existing shares delivered and deliverable in 
respect of (a) all awards granted under the RSP; and (b) all options granted and outstanding under the 2015 
Scheme, shall not exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares (excluding shares held in treasury) on the 
day preceding the relevant date of grant, where the relevant date of grant falls after 30 April 2014.
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5 RESTRICTED SHARES (cont’d)

Movements in the awards by the Company during the respective financial years were as follows:

2019 2018

At 1 January 900,000 960,000
Granted 170,000 –
Lapsed (80,000) –
Vested (80,000) (60,000)
At 31 December 910,000 900,000

6 AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises five members, all of whom are Independent Non-Executive Directors. The members 
of the Audit Committee are:

Goon Kok Loon (Chairman)
Koh Lee Boon
Wong Yew Meng
Jonathan S. Huberman
Han Thong Kwang

The Audit Committee held four meetings since the date of the last Directors’ report.

The Audit Committee performed its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act, 
Cap. 50 and the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited which include, inter alia, the 
review of the following: 

(i) quarterly, interim and annual financial statements;

(ii) audit plans and reports of the external and internal auditors;

(iii) adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s system of controls, including financial, operational, compliance 
and information technology controls and risk management policies and systems; and 

(iv) the assistance given by management to the external and internal auditors. 

Further details of the functions and activities of the Audit Committee are as set out in the Corporate Governance 
Report.

The Audit Committee has full access to management and the co-operation of management. The external auditors 
and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee and meet with the Audit Committee without 
the presence of management at least once a year.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for
re-appointment as external auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.
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7 AUDITORS

 The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Wong Ngit Liong
Chairman of the Board

Goon Kok Loon
Director

20 March 2020

Goon Kok Loon

    size:W210mm x H297mm     1st              Financial    Black  size:W210mm x H297mm     1stPage 100

W000082-20_0022_Venture AR_2019 - Financials_FA_260320 R4.indd   100 26/3/20   12:07 PM



F U T U R E
R E A D Y

101
I N D E P E N D E N T
A U D I T O R ’ S  R E P O R T
T O  T H E  M E M B E R S  O F  V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Venture Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and the statement of financial position of 
the Company as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group and the statement of 
changes in equity of the Company for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 106 to 196.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position 
and statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)s”) so as to 
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as 
at 31 December 2019 and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated 
cash flows of the Group and of the changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) 
Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements 
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key Audit Matters How the matter was addressed in the audit

Impairment review of goodwill allocated to GES 
International Group’s cash-generating unit (“CGU”)

The aggregated goodwill of $639.7 million constituted 
20% of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2019. 
The Group is required to annually test goodwill for 
impairment. This assessment requires the exercise of 
significant judgement about future market conditions, 
including growth rates and discount rates, particularly 
those affecting the business of GES International Group, 
of which the goodwill contributed 17% and 90% of the 
Group’s total assets and goodwill respectively.  

The key assumptions to the impairment test are disclosed 
in Note 16 to the financial statements. 

Management has assessed that there is no impairment 
of goodwill as the recoverable amount is higher than the 
carrying value as at 31 December 2019. 

Our audit procedures focused on evaluating and 
challenging the key assumptions used by management 
as part of the value-in-use computations in conducting 
the impairment review for goodwill allocated to GES 
International Group’s CGU. 

These procedures included:

• using our internal valuation specialists to evaluate 
the appropriateness of the valuation model and 
the reasonableness of the expectations for the 
key macro-economic assumptions used in the 
impairment analysis, in particular the discount rates 
and long-term growth rates by comparing the 
expectations to those used by management and its 
external valuation specialist;

• challenging the cash flow forecasts used, with 
comparison to recent performance, trend analysis 
and market expectations, including retrospective 
reviews to prior year’s forecasts against actual 
results; and

• stress testing key assumptions, assessing the 
impact on the recoverable amounts based on 
sensitivity analysis, and understanding the degree 
to which assumptions would need to move before 
impairment would be triggered.

Based on our procedures, we noted management’s key 
assumptions to be within a reasonable range of our 
expectations.

We have also assessed and reviewed the adequacy and 
appropriateness of the disclosures made in the financial 
statements.
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Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I)s, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient 
to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and 
transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair 
financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

(a) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

(b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

(c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

(d) Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern.

(e) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

(f) Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary 
corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mr John Tan Hon Chye. 

Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

20 March 2020
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The Group The Company
Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and bank balances 6 714,467 712,826 303,794 271,723
Trade receivables 7 898,910 735,943 15,866 10,387
Other receivables and prepayments 8 17,327 29,997 2,468 1,520
Contract assets 9 8,478 19,202 – –
Inventories 10 706,150 808,166 59,358 61,154
Trade receivables due from subsidiaries 11 – – 50,581 44,114
Other receivables due from subsidiaries 11 – – 18,041 17,940
Income tax recoverable 4 22 – –
Total current assets 2,345,336 2,306,156 450,108 406,838

Non-current assets
Other receivables 8 138 455 – –
Investments in subsidiaries 11 – – 1,227,849 1,227,849
Investments in associates 761 725 – –
Other financial assets 12 25,229 22,939 7,440 6,977
Property, plant and equipment 13 231,739 230,686 38,560 40,283
Right-of-use assets 14 27,472 – 15,637 –
Intangible assets 15 172 181 – –
Goodwill 16 639,708 639,708 – –
Deferred tax assets 17 3,690 3,747 – –
Total non-current assets 928,909 898,441 1,289,486 1,275,109

Total assets 3,274,245 3,204,597 1,739,594 1,681,947

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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The Group The Company
Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities
Bank loans 18 1,058 1,798 – –
Trade payables 19 490,329 529,015 32,963 42,510
Other payables and accrued expenses 20 169,652 205,224 28,155 34,246
Contract liabilities 21 49,380 74,029 1,209 –
Lease liabilities 22 10,601 – 5,732 –
Trade payables due to subsidiaries 11 – – 2,286 5,213
Other payables due to subsidiaries 11 – – 20,567 20,751
Income tax payable 34,274 40,374 4,144 3,679
Total current liabilities 755,294 850,440 95,056 106,399

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 17 3,040 2,058 – –
Lease liabilities 22 17,318 – 10,158 –
Total non-current liabilities 20,358 2,058 10,158 –

Capital and reserves
Share capital 23 811,082 803,220 811,082 803,220
Treasury shares 23 (19,993) (19,081) (19,993) (19,081)
Share-based awards reserve 23 4,559 3,774 4,559 3,774
Investments revaluation reserve 23 1,790 665 1,658 1,194
Translation reserve 24 (78,403) (55,044) – –
Other reserves 23 2,577 3,079 (1,697) (815)
Accumulated profits 1,774,586 1,613,253 838,771 787,256
Equity attributable to owners

of the Company 2,496,198 2,349,866 1,634,380 1,575,548
Non-controlling interests 2,395 2,233 – –
Total equity 2,498,593 2,352,099 1,634,380 1,575,548

Total liabilities and equity 3,274,245 3,204,597 1,739,594 1,681,947

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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The Group
Note 2019 2018

$’000 $’000

Revenue 26 3,633,431 3,484,603

Changes in finished goods, work in progress and raw materials used (2,726,672) (2,530,837)
Employee benefits expense 30 (333,151) (317,436)
Depreciation and amortisation expense (38,692) (30,726)
Research and development expense (36,572) (82,988)
Foreign currency exchange gain 4,442 1,735
Other operating expenses (94,026) (101,093)
Other income 27 746 1,541
Investment revenue 28 11,005 9,209
Finance costs (interest expenses on bank loans and lease liabilities) (523) (982)
Share of profit (loss) of associates 36 (58)

Profit before income tax 420,024 432,968

Income tax expense 29 (56,643) (62,885)

Profit for the year 30 363,381 370,083

Other comprehensive (loss) income

Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Fair value gain (loss) on other financial assets,
through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 1,125 (1,127)

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 24 (23,448) 21,045
Other comprehensive (loss) income for the year, net of tax (22,323) 19,918

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 341,058 390,001

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company 363,130 370,062
Non-controlling interests 251 21

363,381 370,083

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 340,896 390,082
Non-controlling interests 162 (81)

341,058 390,001

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 31 126.0 128.8

Fully diluted earnings per share 31 125.3 127.3

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Note
Share

capital
Treasury

shares

Share-
based

awards
reserve

Investments
revaluation

reserve
Translation

reserve
Other

reserves
Accumulated

profits

Equity
attributable

to owners
of the

Company

Non-
controlling

interests Total

The Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 January 2018 761,706 (1,879) 3,524 1,836 (76,191) 3,292 1,473,462 2,165,750 2,314 2,168,064

Total comprehensive income 
for the year

Profit for the year – – – – – – 370,062 370,062 21 370,083

Other comprehensive (loss) income – – – (1,127) 21,147 – – 20,020 (102) 19,918

Total – – – (1,127) 21,147 – 370,062 390,082 (81) 390,001

Transactions with owners, recognised 
directly in equity

Issue of shares 23 41,514 – (959) – – – – 40,555 – 40,555

Purchase of treasury shares 23 – (18,060) – – – – – (18,060) – (18,060)

Treasury shares reissued pursuant to 
equity compensation plans 23 – 858 (290) – – (568) – – – –

Share options lapsed – – (61) – – – 61 – – –

Recognition of share-based payments 25 – – 1,560 – – – – 1,560 – 1,560

Disposal of other financial assets, FVTOCI 12 – – – (44) – – 44 – – –

Final tax-exempt dividend paid in respect 
of the previous financial year 36 – – – – – – (172,413) (172,413) – (172,413)

Interim tax-exempt dividend paid in 
respect of the current financial year 36 – – – – – – (57,608) (57,608) – (57,608)

Appropriation to reserve fund – – – – – 355 (355) – – –

Total 41,514 (17,202) 250 (44) – (213) (230,271) (205,966) – (205,966)

Balance at 31 December 2018 803,220 (19,081) 3,774 665 (55,044) 3,079 1,613,253 2,349,866 2,233 2,352,099

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Profit for the year – – – – – – 363,130 363,130 251 363,381

Other comprehensive income (loss) – – – 1,125 (23,359) – – (22,234) (89) (22,323)

Total – – – 1,125 (23,359) – 363,130 340,896 162 341,058

Transactions with owners, recognised 
directly in equity

Issue of shares 23 7,862 – (164) – – – – 7,698 – 7,698

Purchase of treasury shares 23 – (2,178) – – – – – (2,178) – (2,178)

Treasury shares reissued pursuant to 
equity compensation plans 23 – 1,266 (384) – – (882) – – – –

Share options lapsed – – (277) – – – 277 – – –

Recognition of share-based payments 25 – – 1,610 1,610 – 1,610

Final tax-exempt dividend paid in respect 
of the previous financial year 36 – – – – – – (144,021) (144,021) – (144,021)

Interim tax-exempt dividend paid in 
respect of the current financial year 36 – – – – – – (57,673) (57,673) – (57,673)

Appropriation to reserve fund – – – – – 380 (380) – – –

Total 7,862 (912) 785 – – (502) (201,797) (194,564) – (194,564)

Balance at 31 December 2019 811,082 (19,993) 4,559 1,790 (78,403) 2,577 1,774,586 2,496,198 2,395 2,498,593

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Note
Share

capital
Treasury

shares

Share-
based 

awards 
reserve

Investments
revaluation

reserve
Other

reserves
Accumulated

profits Total

The Company $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 January 2018 761,706 (1,879) 3,524 1,876 (247) 710,255 1,475,235

Total comprehensive income 
for the year

Profit for the year – – – – – 306,917 306,917

Other comprehensive loss for the year – – – (638) – – (638)

Total – – – (638) – 306,917 306,279

Transactions with owners, recognised 
directly in equity

Issue of shares 23 41,514 – (959) – – – 40,555

Share options lapsed – – (61) – – 61 –

Purchase of treasury shares 23 – (18,060) – – – – (18,060)

Treasury shares reissued pursuant to 
equity compensation plans 23 – 858 (290) – (568) – –

Recognition of share-based payments 25 – – 1,560 – – – 1,560

Disposal of other financial assets, FVTOCI 12 – – – (44) – 44 –

Final tax-exempt dividend paid in respect 
of the previous financial year 36 – – – – – (172,413) (172,413)

Interim tax-exempt dividend paid in 
respect of the current financial year 36 – – – – – (57,608) (57,608)

Total 41,514 (17,202) 250 (44) (568) (229,916) (205,966)

Balance at 31 December 2018 803,220 (19,081) 3,774 1,194 (815) 787,256 1,575,548

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Profit for the year – – – – – 252,932 252,932

Other comprehensive income for the year – – – 464 – – 464

Total – – – 464 – 252,932 253,396

Transactions with owners, recognised 
directly in equity

Issue of shares 23 7,862 – (164) – – – 7,698

Share options lapsed – – (277) – – 277 –

Purchase of treasury shares 23 – (2,178) – – – – (2,178)

Treasury shares reissued pursuant to 
equity compensation plans 23 –  1,266 (384) – (882) – –

Recognition of share-based payments 25 – – 1,610 – – – 1,610

Final tax-exempt dividend paid in respect 
of the previous financial year 36 – – – – – (144,021) (144,021)

Interim tax-exempt dividend paid in 
respect of the current financial year 36 – – – – – (57,673) (57,673)

Total 7,862 (912) 785 – (882) (201,417) (194,564)

Balance at 31 December 2019 811,082 (19,993) 4,559 1,658 (1,697) 838,771 1,634,380

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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The Group
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Operating activities
Profit before income tax 420,024 432,968
Adjustments for:

Share of (profit) loss of associates (36) 58
Allowance for inventories 976 1,258
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 30,040 30,640
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8,459 –
Net re-measurement of expected credit loss allowance (1,464) 1,578
Amortisation of intangible assets 193 86
Interest income (11,005) (9,209)
Dividend income (901) (935)
Interest expense 523 982
Share-based payments expense 1,610 1,560
Loss (Gain) on disposal of plant and equipment, net 109 (98)

Operating profit before working capital changes 448,528 458,888

Trade receivables (175,659) 41,821
Other receivables, prepayments and contract assets 23,486 15,185
Inventories 89,283 (93,914)
Trade payables (35,432) (60,424)
Other payables, accrued expenses and contract liabilities (58,473) (50,019)

Cash generated from operations 291,733 311,537

Interest paid (523) (982)
Income tax paid (61,509) (56,331)

Net cash from operating activities 229,701 254,224

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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The Group
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Investing activities
Interest received 10,578 7,805
Dividends received from associates – 30
Dividends received from other equity investments 901 935
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (35,071) (58,480)
Proceeds on disposal of plant and equipment 348 206
Addition of intangible assets (120) (366)
Proceeds on disposal of other financial assets – 2,942
Purchase of other financial assets (1,378) (1,628)

Net cash used in investing activities (24,742) (48,556)

Financing activities
Dividends paid (201,694) (230,021)
Proceeds from new bank loans (Note A) 1,663 5,387
Repayment of bank loans (Note A) (2,358) (34,601)
Repayments of lease liabilities (Note A) (8,117) –
Proceeds from issuance of shares 7,698 40,555
Purchase of treasury shares (2,178) (18,060)

Net cash used in financing activities (204,986) (236,740)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (27) (31,072)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 712,826 752,447
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on the balance of

cash held in foreign currencies 1,668 (8,549)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 6) 714,467 712,826

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

    size:W210mm x H297mm     1st              Financial    Black  size:W210mm x H297mm     1stPage 112

W000082-20_0022_Venture AR_2019 - Financials_FA_260320 R4.indd   112 26/3/20   12:07 PM



F U T U R E
R E A D Y

113
C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T  O F
C A S H  F L O W S
Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9

Note A: Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will 
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Non-cash changes

31
December

2018

Initial
adoption of

SFRS(I)
16

1 January 
2019

Net lease
liabilities
additions

after
SFRS(I) 16
adoption

Foreign
exchange

movement
Financing

 cash flows(i)

31
December

2019

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Bank loans (Note 18) 1,798 – 1,798 – (45) (695) 1,058

Lease liabilities (Notes 22 and 37) – 17,351 17,351 18,766 (81) (8,117) 27,919

Non-cash changes

1 January 
2018

Foreign exchange
movement

Financing
cash flows(i)

31
December

2018

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Bank loans (Note 18) 30,828 184 (29,214) 1,798

(i) The cash flows comprise the net amount of proceeds from borrowings and repayments of borrowings in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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1 GENERAL

The Company (Registration No. 198402886H) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with its principal place 
of business and registered office at 5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5, #05-01/12 TECHplace II, Singapore 569873. The 
Company is listed on the mainboard of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”). The financial 
statements are expressed in Singapore dollars.

The Company is a leading global provider of technology solutions, products and services. The principal activities 
of the Company are to provide manufacturing, product design and development, engineering and supply-chain 
management services.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 11.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement of financial position and statement of changes 
in equity of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors 
on 20 March 2020.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical 
cost basis, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with 
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) 
(“SFRS(I)s”).

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and 
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly 
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, 
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would take 
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except 
for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of SFRS(I) 2 Share-based Payment, leasing 
transactions that are within the scope of SFRS(I) 16 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to 
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in SFRS(I) 1-2 Inventories or value in use in SFRS(I) 
1-36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance 
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
entity can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(a) BASIS OF ACCOUNTING (cont’d)

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

(b) BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements 
of the Company and entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. 
Control is achieved when the Company:

• Has power over the investee;
• Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
• Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee 
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or 
not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including: 

• The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of 
the other vote holders; 

• Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties; 

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

• Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the 
current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including 
voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 
when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary 
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company 
ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to 
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance. 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(b) BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (cont’d)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over 
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and 
the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. 
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of 
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated 
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value 
of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities 
of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. 

All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted 
for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified 
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable SFRS(I)s). 
The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded 
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, or when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an 
associate.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries and associates are carried at cost 
less any impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss.

(c) BUSINESS COMBINATIONS - Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the 
acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-
date fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree, and 
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair 
values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments 
(see below). The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do 
not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. 
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its 
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset 
or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised 
in profit or loss.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the acquired 
entity are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains control) and the 
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior 
to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified 
to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(c) BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (cont’d)

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition 
under the SFRS(I) are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

• Deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are 
recognised and measured in accordance with SFRS(I) 1-12 Income Taxes and SFRS(I) 1-19 Employee 
Benefits respectively;

• Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment transactions of the acquiree or the 
replacement of an acquiree’s share-based payment awards transactions with share-based payment 
awards transactions of the acquirer in accordance with the method in SFRS(I) 2 Share-based Payment 
at the acquisition date; and

• Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with SFRS(I) 5 Non-current 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate 
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the 
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another SFRS(I).

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which 
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is 
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see below), or additional 
assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that 
existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete 
information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and is subject to a maximum 
of one year from acquisition date.

(d) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of 
financial position when the Group or the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of 
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(d) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Financial assets

All financial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date basis where the purchase or sale of 
financial assets is under a contract whose terms require delivery of assets within the time frame established 
by the market concerned.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair 
value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.

Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order 
to collect contractual cash flows; and

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVTOCI): 

• The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

Despite the aforegoing, the Group may make the following irrevocable election/designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

• The Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment 
in other comprehensive income if certain criteria are met; and

• The Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI 
criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(d) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Financial assets (cont’d)

Amortised cost and effective interest method (cont’d)

For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points 
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums 
or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. For 
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated 
by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the amortised cost of the 
debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured 
subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than purchased or originated 
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the 
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised 
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting 
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is 
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount of the financial asset.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Group recognises interest income by 
applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial 
recognition. The calculation does not revert to the gross basis even if the credit risk of the financial asset 
subsequently improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the “investment revenue” line item.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) 
to designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if 
the equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a 
business combination to which SFRS(I) 3 applies. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(d) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Financial assets (cont’d)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI (cont’d)

A financial asset is held for trading if: 

• It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or 

• On initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 
together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 

• It is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and 
effective hedging instrument). 

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve. The 
cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, instead, 
they will be transferred to accumulated profits. 

The Group has designated all investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading as at FVTOCI on 
initial application of SFRS(I) 9 (see Note 12). 

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right 
to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of 
the investment. Dividends are included in the “revenue” line item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at 
FVTPL. Specifically, investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates 
an equity investment that is neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a business 
combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition. 

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. The 
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and 
is included in the “investment revenue” line item (Note 28). Fair value is determined in the manner described 
in Note 4(c)(v).
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(d) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Financial assets (cont’d)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at each reporting date. Specifically: 

• For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the “foreign currency exchange gain (loss)” 
line item; 

• For financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the “foreign currency exchange gain (loss)” line item; and 

• For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange differences are recognised in other 
comprehensive income in the investments revaluation reserve.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on investments in debt instruments 
that are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, lease receivables, contract assets, as well as on loan 
commitments and financial guarantee contracts. No impairment loss is recognised for investments in equity 
instruments. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument. 

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets. The expected credit 
losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit 
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including 
time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on the financial instrument 
has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that 
financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”). The assessment of whether lifetime 
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring 
since initial recognition instead of on evidence of a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date 
or an actual default occurring. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is 
expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the 
reporting date.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(d) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Financial assets (cont’d)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with 
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making 
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and 
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue 
cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in 
which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from publicly available economic reports, independent rating 
agencies, financial analysts, various external sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate 
to the Group’s core operations, as well as other publicly available financial information. 

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition:

• An actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 
internal credit assessment; 

• Significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial instrument; 

• Existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected 
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations; 

• An actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; 

• Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; or

• An actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations. 

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial 
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days 
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the 
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has 
a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in 
the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but 
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The 
Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of 
“investment grade” as per globally understood definition.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(d) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Financial assets (cont’d)

Significant increase in credit risk (cont’d)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management 
purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are 
generally not recoverable. 

• When there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty; or 

• Information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is 
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals 
held by the Group). 

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is 
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate 
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired 
includes observable data about the following events: 

(a) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; 

(b) A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; 

(c) The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise 
consider; 

(d) It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or 

(e) The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(d) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Financial assets (cont’d)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject 
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where 
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss. 

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. 
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability 
of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as 
described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross 
carrying amount at the reporting date. 

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows 
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to 
receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater for cases where evidence of significant increases 
in credit risk at the individual instrument level may not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped 
on the following basis: 

• Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade and other receivables and amounts due from 
customers are each assessed as a separate group. Loans to related parties are assessed for expected 
credit losses on an individual basis); 

• Past-due status; 

• Nature, size and industry of debtors; and 

• External credit ratings where available. 

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to 
share similar credit risk characteristics. 

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL 
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime 
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12m ECL at the 
current reporting date. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(d) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Financial assets (cont’d)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses (cont’d)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with 
a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for 
investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve, and does not reduce 
the carrying amount of the financial asset in the statement of financial position.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the 
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, 
on derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, 
on derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition 
to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation 
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a Group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity 
in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability 
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a Group entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net 
of direct issue costs. 

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No 
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own 
equity instruments.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(d) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (cont’d)

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, 
2) held-for-trading, or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of 
the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortised cost as at 
each reporting date, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the 
instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the “foreign currency exchange gain 
(loss)” line item in profit or loss for financial liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging relationship. 

The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency 
and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value as at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised 
in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in 
which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(d) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (cont’d)

Offsetting arrangements

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when the Group and the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; 
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. A right 
to set-off must be available today rather than being contingent on a future event and must be exercisable 
by any of the counterparties, both in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency 
or bankruptcy.

(e) LEASES

The accounting for leases before 1 January 2019 are as follows:

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases 
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as 
a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line 
basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

The accounting for leases from 1 January 2019 are as follows:

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group 
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements 
in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months 
or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an 
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate specific to the lessee.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(e) LEASES (cont’d)

The Group as lessee (cont’d)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

• fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at 
the commencement date;

• the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

• the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to 
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the 
lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease 
payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use 
asset) whenever:

• the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting 
in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is 
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;

• the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment 
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the 
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a 
change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); or

• a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in 
which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised 
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments 
made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. 
They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(e) LEASES (cont’d)

The Group as lessee (cont’d)

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site 
on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions 
of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under SFRS(I) 1-37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the 
related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying 
asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that 
the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful 
life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position. 

The Group applies SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired 
and accounts for any identified impairment loss as described in Note 2(j).

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease 
liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which 
the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in the line ‘Other operating 
expenses’ in the statement of profit or loss.

As a practical expedient, SFRS(I) 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead 
account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has not 
used this practical expedient. For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional 
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease 
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

(f) INVENTORIES - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct 
materials, and where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing 
the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average 
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs to completion 
and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

(g) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(g) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than freehold land, over their 
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

  Factory buildings    - 25 to 60 years
  Leasehold land and buildings   - 25 to 60 years (term of lease)
  Machinery and equipment   - 2 to 10 years
  Leasehold improvements and renovations - 2 to 10 years
  Office equipment, furniture and fittings - 2 to 10 years
  Computer hardware    - 3 years
  Motor vehicles    - 2 to 10 years

  Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined 
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit 
or loss.

(h) GOODWILL - Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control 
is acquired (the acquisition date). Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration 
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity over net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable 
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds 
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and 
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for 
impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other 
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss 
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of a subsidiary or the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is 
included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(i) INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately, such as computer software and intellectual property, are recorded at 
cost less accumulated amortisation (where they have finite useful lives) and accumulated impairment losses. 
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives 
of 3 to 5 years. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each annual 
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Internally-generated intangible assets–research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an 
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

• The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

• The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

• The ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

• How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

• The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development 
and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

• The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure 
incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no 
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is charged to profit or 
loss in the period in which it is incurred. The Group has capitalised development expenditure as intangible 
assets and these are amortised using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life, which normally 
does not exceed three years.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(i) INTANGIBLE ASSETS (cont’d)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Customer relationships acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from 
goodwill. The cost of such intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, customer relationships acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Customer relationships are amortised on a straight-line 
basis over their useful lives of 10 years.

(j) IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL - As at each reporting 
date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable 
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, or 
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation 
basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the 
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset (or CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss.

(k) ASSOCIATES - An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence 
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or 
joint control over those policies.

    size:W210mm x H297mm     1st              Financial    Black  size:W210mm x H297mm     1stPage 132

W000082-20_0022_Venture AR_2019 - Financials_FA_260320 R4.indd   132 26/3/20   12:07 PM



F U T U R E
R E A D Y

133
N O T E S  T O
F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S
3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(k) ASSOCIATES (cont’d)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as 
held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with SFRS(I) 5 Non-current Asset Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised 
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s 
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses 
of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in 
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its 
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal 
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee 
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the 
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee 
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after 
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired. 

The requirements of SFRS(I) 1-28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures are applied to determine 
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s investment in an 
associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested 
for impairment in accordance with SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its 
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount, any 
impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that 
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with SFRS(I) 1-36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of 
the investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an 
associate, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the 
former associate and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest 
at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance 
with SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The difference between the carrying 
amount of the associate at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained 
interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate is included in the determination 
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same basis as would be 
required if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to profit or 
loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to 
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued. 

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an investment 
in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate. There is no 
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(k) ASSOCIATES (cont’d)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the Group continues to use the equity 
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been 
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or 
loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities. 

When a Group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the 
transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the 
extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

(l) PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event and it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 
received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

(m) SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS - The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments (comprising of share 
options and restricted shares) to qualifying employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured 
at fair value of the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair values determined at the grant date of the 
equity-settled share-based payments are expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based 
on the Group’s estimate of the number of equity instruments that will eventually vest. At the end of each 
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The 
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative 
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share-based awards reserve.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transactions costs are credited to share capital when 
the equity instruments are exercised. When the equity instruments are exercised, the carrying value of 
such instrument is transferred from the share-based awards reserve to share capital. When the vested 
equity instruments lapsed or are cancelled, the carrying value of such instrument is transferred from the
share-based awards reserve to accumulated profits. 

Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based payments are disclosed 
in Note 25.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(n) GOVERNMENT GRANTS - Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that 
the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and the grants will be received. The benefit 
of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the 
difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates. 
Government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise 
acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in the statement of financial position and 
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Other government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the costs 
for which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable 
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial 
support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they 
become receivable.

(o) REVENUE RECOGNITION 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for 
estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances. The Group recognises revenue when it 
transfers control of a product or service to a customer. 

The Group derives its revenue primarily from manufacturing services, design services and tooling. 

Revenue is recognised over time for arrangements with customers for which:

• The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group; and

• The Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

When one or both of the above conditions are not met, the Group recognises revenue when it has transferred 
control of the goods, which generally occurs upon delivery and passage of title to the customer. 

For most of the Group’s arrangement with customers, the individual manufactured product or service is 
capable of being distinct and is assessed as a separate performance obligation. In cases where the promise 
to transfer the individual good or service is not separately identifiable from other promises in the contract 
and is, therefore, not distinct, the contract is seen to contain only one performance obligation. A contract’s 
transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognised as revenue when, or 
as, the performance obligation is satisfied. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(o) REVENUE RECOGNITION (cont’d)

(i) Manufacturing services

When the Group has an alternative use for the goods produced or does not have a legal enforceable 
right to payment for work completed to date (inclusive of a reasonable profit margin for work in 
progress inventory), revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and 
titles have passed, at which time all the following conditions are satisfied: 

• the Group has transferred to the buyer the control and significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the goods; 

• the Group has present right to payment for the goods transferred; 

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; and

• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group.

When the Group does not have an alternative use for the goods produced and has a legal enforceable 
right to payment (inclusive of a reasonable profit margin) for work completed to date, revenue is 
recognised over time. 

The Group also provides Non-Recurring Engineering (“NRE”) services which may include (but are not 
limited to) procuring, setting up and qualifying manufacturing hardware for some of its customers as 
part of its manufacturing services. Once ready for use, the use and disposal of such manufacturing 
hardware is directed by the customers. If the criteria for over time revenue recognition is not met, 
revenue is recognised when the manufacturing hardware is ready to be used as per customer 
specifications for the mass production of customers’ products. If the criteria for over time revenue 
recognition is met, revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion based on the 
cost-to-cost method.

The Group has reduced revenue based on products expected to be returned or rebates which are 
entitled to by customers. These are estimated based on the Group’s accumulated historical experience 
to estimate the number of returns and the rebates using the expected value method. It is considered 
highly probable that a significant reversal in the cumulative revenue recognised will not occur given 
the historical trends.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(o) REVENUE RECOGNITION (cont’d)

(ii) Design services and tooling

Revenue from design services and tooling is recognised over time by reference to the stage of 
completion of the contract. The stage of completion of the contract is determined as follows, using 
methods that best depict the transfer of control to the customer: 

• Revenue from design services is recognised based on engineers’ certification of each project’s 
progress. When the Group has a right to consideration from a customer in an amount that 
corresponds directly with the value to the customer of the Group’s performance completed to 
date, the Group adopts the practical expedient to recognise revenue in the amount to which 
the entity has a right to invoice. 

• Revenue from tooling contracts is recognised based on the cost-to-cost method. 

A contract asset is recognised for the cumulative revenue recognised but not yet invoiced whilst 
a contract liability is recognised for advance payments from customers which the Group needs to 
perform work to satisfy the performance obligations.

Dividend income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have 
been established.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 
interest rate applicable.

(p) BORROWING COSTS - Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific 
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. No interest 
expense has been capitalised during the year.

(q) RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an 
expense when employees have rendered the services entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to 
state-managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund (“CPF”), are dealt 
with as payments to defined contribution plans where the Group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent 
to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(r) EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue 
to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered 
by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

(s) INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items 
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not 
taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the Company and subsidiaries operate by 
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises 
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries 
and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is 
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising 
from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits 
of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed as at each reporting date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to 
be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled 
or the asset is realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting 
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority 
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(s) INCOME TAX (cont’d)

Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in the profit or loss, except when they 
relate to items credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity), in which case the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity respectively), or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business 
combination. In the case of a business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating 
goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.

(t) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual financial statements of each 
Group entity are measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated financial statements of the Group and 
the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company are presented in 
Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company, and the presentation currency for the 
consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the 
entity’s functional currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. 
As at each reporting date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary 
items are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences 
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains or losses are recognised in 
other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss 
is also recognised in other comprehensive income.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
foreign operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Singapore dollars using exchange rates prevailing 
at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are translated at the 
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if 
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity 
under the header of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a 
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, loss of joint control over 
a jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or loss of significant influence over an associate 
that includes a foreign operation), all of the accumulated exchange differences in respect of that operation 
attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit or loss. Any exchange differences that have previously 
been attributed to non-controlling interests are derecognised, but they are not reclassified to profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(t) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION (cont’d)

In the case of a partial disposal (i.e. no loss of control) of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, 
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests 
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. of associates or jointly controlled 
entities that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share 
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities 
(including monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), and of 
borrowings, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of 
equity under the header of translation reserve.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation subsequent to 1 January 2005 and any fair 
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as 
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the spot rate of exchange at the reporting date.

Prior to 1 January 2005, the Group treated certain goodwill and any fair value adjustments to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition as assets and liabilities of the parent. Therefore, 
those assets and liabilities are non-monetary items already expressed in the functional currency of the parent 
and no further translation differences occur.

(u) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - Cash and cash equivalents comprise 
cash on hand and demand deposits that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
 OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

(a) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimates (see below), that management 
has made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have a significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
 OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (cont’d)

(a) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies (cont’d)

(i) Income tax

Management has assessed the achievability of the qualifying terms and conditions of the tax incentives 
awarded to the Company and some of its subsidiaries in the current and previous financial years, 
and is of the view that the Company and its subsidiaries will be able to satisfy all qualifying terms and 
conditions. Accordingly, tax provisions for the Group are adequate as at the end of the reporting period.

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(i) Calculation of expected credit loss and allowance for doubtful debts

When measuring ECL, the Group and the Company use reasonable and supportable forward-looking 
information, which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers 
and how these drivers will affect each other.

Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between 
the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account 
cash flows from collateral and integral credit enhancements.

Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate of 
the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, 
assumptions and expectations of future conditions.

If the expected credit loss rate is increased (decreased) by 10%, as reflected by a change in credit 
provision rates by a factor of 1.1 in the case of an increase and 0.9 in the case of a decrease, expected 
credit loss allowance on trade receivables will increase (decrease) by $144,000 (2018 : $170,000).

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are disclosed in Notes 7 and 8 respectively.

(ii) Impairment of goodwill and investments in subsidiaries

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires 
management to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating units 
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. As the exercise is based on both 
prospective financial and non-financial information, it is highly subjective in nature. Accordingly, 
actual outcome is likely to be different from that forecasted since anticipated events frequently do 
not occur as expected and the variation may be material.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
 OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (cont’d)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(ii) Impairment of goodwill and investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

The carrying amounts of goodwill of the Group and investments in subsidiaries of the Company are 
disclosed in Notes 16 and 11 respectively.

(iii) Allowances for inventories

In determining the net realisable value of the Group’s inventories, an estimation of the recoverable 
amount of inventories on hand is performed based on the most reliable evidence available at the time 
the estimates are made. This represents the value of the inventories which are expected to realise as 
estimated by management. These estimates take into consideration the fluctuations of selling prices or 
cost, or any inventories on hand that may not be realised, directly relating to events occurring after the 
end of the period to the extent that such events confirm conditions existing at the end of the period.

The carrying amount of inventories is disclosed in Note 10.

(iv) Provision for warranty

Provision for warranty is estimated by the Group based on historical claim experience and estimated 
potential rectification costs for the products sold that qualify under the contractual warranty periods. 
These are assessed as a percentage of sales and determined based on the experience on the likelihood 
of claims and risks arising from the contracts covered by the warranty. Other factors such as industry 
benchmarks and technological failure rates are also taken into consideration in the assessment. 
Significant judgement is involved in estimating the provision for warranties, especially for relatively 
new products.

The provision for warranty is disclosed in Note 20.

(v) Stage of completion in relation to revenue recognised over time

The Group recognises revenue from design services, tooling and certain manufacturing services over 
time by reference to the stage of completion of the contract. The stage of completion is determined 
using the method that best depicts the transfer of control to the customer as follows: 

• Revenue from design services is recognised based on engineers’ certification of each project’s 
progress. When the Group has a right to consideration from a customer in an amount that 
corresponds directly with the value to the customer of the Group’s performance completed to 
date, the Group adopts the practical expedient to recognise revenue in the amount to which 
the entity has a right to invoice. 

• Revenue from tooling contracts and certain manufacturing services are recognised based on 
the cost-to-cost method (i.e. incurred cost to date compared to total budgeted cost).
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
 OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (cont’d)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(v) Stage of completion in relation to revenue recognised over time (cont’d)

The stage of completion is estimated by the Group based on past experience and the knowledge of 
the engineers. 

The revenue recognised and the related contract assets and contract liabilities are disclosed in Notes 
26, 9 and 21 respectively.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

(a) Categories of financial instruments

The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

The Group The Company
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets

Amortised cost:
Cash and bank balances 714,467 712,826  303,794 271,723
Trade receivables 898,910 735,943  15,866 10,387
Trade receivables due from subsidiaries – –  50,581 44,114
Other receivables 8,097 20,834  1,802 1,138
Other receivables due from subsidiaries  – –  18,041 17,940

1,621,474 1,469,603  390,084 345,302
Other financial assets  25,229 22,939  7,440 6,977
Total  1,646,703 1,492,542  397,524 352,279

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost:
Bank loans  1,058 1,798 – –
Trade payables  490,329 529,015 32,963 42,510
Trade payables due to subsidiaries  – – 2,286 5,213
Other payables and accrued expenses 133,656 165,158 26,138  32,229
Other payables due to subsidiaries  – – 20,567 20,751
Lease liabilities 27,919 – 15,890 –

Total 652,962 695,971 97,844 100,703
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(b) Financial instruments subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar 
agreements

The Group does not have any financial instruments which are subject to offsetting, enforceable master 
netting arrangements or similar netting agreements. 

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives

The Group has financial risk management programmes which set out the Group’s overall business strategies 
and its risk management philosophy. The Group’s overall financial risk management programme seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects of financial performance of the Group. These programmes cover specific 
areas, such as market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk 
and are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors to ensure that they remain pertinent to the Group’s 
operations.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages 
and measures the risk. 

(i) Foreign exchange risk management

The Group operates internationally, giving rise to market risk from changes in foreign exchange rates. 
The Group manages its foreign exchange exposure mainly by matching revenue and costs in the 
relevant currencies to create a natural hedge.

The Company has a number of investments in foreign subsidiaries, whose net assets are exposed 
to currency translation risk. As at each reporting date, the carrying amounts of significant monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the respective Group entities’ functional 
currencies are as follows:

The Group*

Assets Liabilities
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Singapore dollar 27,148 37,050  58,853 37,913
United States dollar 204,477 148,378  108,502 109,665
Euro 5,926 8,656  6,878 9,461
Japanese yen 410 107  556 1,446
Swiss francs 251 309  11,650 372
Chinese renminbi 9,219 15,415  21,539 23,151
Malaysian ringgit 35,699 34,589  30,600 32,459

* Figures include intercompany monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the respective Group 
entities’ functional currencies.

             Financial    Black size:W210mm x H297mm     1st Page 145

W000082-20_0022_Venture AR_2019 - Financials_FA_260320 R4.indd   145 26/3/20   12:07 PM



V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9

146
N O T E S  T O
F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S
3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(i) Foreign exchange risk management (cont’d)

The Company
Assets Liabilities

2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

United States dollar 110,243 113,822 84,961 91,788
Euro 627 1,662 895 3,021
Japanese yen – – – 1,111

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following table details the sensitivity to a 5% change in the following foreign currencies against 
the functional currencies of each group entity. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign 
currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of 
the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis includes only significant outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary 
items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes external loans within the Group where the denomination of the loan 
is in a currency other than the functional currency of the borrower.

If the relevant foreign currency strengthens by 5% against the functional currency of each group entity 
as at the year end, profit for the year would increase (decrease) by the following amounts, mainly due 
to year-end exposures on significant net monetary balances denominated in the respective foreign 
currencies.

The Group The Company
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Singapore dollar impact (1,585) (43) – –
United States dollar impact 4,799 1,936 1,264 1,102
Euro impact (48) (41) (13) (68)
Japanese yen impact (7) (67) – (56)
Swiss francs impact (570) (3) – –
Chinese renminbi impact (616) (387) – –
Malaysian ringgit impact 255 106 – –

If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 5% against the functional currency of each group entity 
as at the year end, impact on profit for the year would be vice versa.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(ii) Interest rate risk management

Summary quantitative data of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments can be found 
in section (iv) of this Note. The Group’s policy is to maintain cash equivalents and borrowings, as 
disclosed in Notes 6 and 18 respectively, with reputable international financial institutions. 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis has not been presented as management does not expect any 
reasonable changes in interest rates to have a material impact on the Group’s and Company’s profit 
or loss.

(iii) Overview of the Group’s exposure to credit risk and credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Group. At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk without taking into account any collateral held or other credit enhancements, which will 
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties 
arises from:

• The carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk 
of financial loss from defaults. The Group assesses the credit worthiness of its counterparties using 
credit rating information. This credit rating information is supplied by independent rating agencies 
where available and, if not available, the Group uses other publicly available financial information and 
its own trading records to assess its major customers. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of 
its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is 
spread amongst approved counterparties. 
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(iii) Overview of the Group’s exposure to credit risk and credit risk management (cont’d)

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following categories:

Category Description Basis for recognising 
expected credit losses (ECL)

Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and 
does not have any past-due amounts.

Trade receivables and contract
assets: lifetime ECL – not credit-
impaired

Other receivables: 12-month ECL

Doubtful Amount is >30 days past due or there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition.

Lifetime ECL – 
not credit-impaired

In default Amount is >90 days past due or there is evidence 
indicating the asset is credit-impaired.

Lifetime ECL – credit-impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in 
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no 
realistic prospect of recovery.

Amount is written off

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses the new customer’s financial information and 
where available, external credit scores, to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines 
credit limits by customer. 

Credit approvals and other monitoring procedures are also in place to ensure that follow-up action 
is taken to recover overdue debts. Furthermore, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each 
trade debt and debt investment on an individual basis at the end of the reporting period to ensure that 
adequate loss allowance is made for irrecoverable amounts. 

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and 
geographical areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of trade 
receivables and, where appropriate, credit guarantee insurance cover is purchased. 

Of the trade receivables balance at the end of the year, 70% is due from the Group’s top ten customers 
by revenue (2018 : 46%). Apart from this, the Group does not have significant credit risk exposure to 
any single counterparty or any Group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The Group 
defines counterparties as having similar characteristics if they are related entities. Concentration of 
credit risk related to the top ten customers did not exceed 20% (2018 : 15%) of total assets at any 
time during the year. Concentration of credit risk to any other counterparty exceeded 3% but not 13% 
(2018 : 5% but not 10%) of total assets at any time during the year. The concentration of credit risk is 
limited due to the fact that the customer base is large and unrelated.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings 
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(iii) Overview of the Group’s exposure to credit risk and credit risk management (cont’d)

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets and other items, as well as 
maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating grades:

Note

Internal
credit

assessment
12-month or
lifetime ECL

Gross
carrying
amount

$’000

Loss
allowance

$’000

Net
carrying
amount

$’000

The Group

31 December 2019

Trade receivables 7 Performing Lifetime ECL
(simplified
approach)(i)

900,261 (1,351) 898,910

Trade receivables 7 In default Lifetime ECL 87 (87) –

Other receivables 8 Performing 12-month
ECL(ii)

8,097 – 8,097

Contract assets 9 Performing Lifetime ECL
(simplified
approach)(i)

8,478 – 8.478

(1,438)

31 December 2018

Trade receivables 7 Performing Lifetime ECL
(simplified
approach)(i)

737,636 (1,693) 735,943

Trade receivables 7 In default Lifetime ECL 6,177 (6,177) –

Other receivables 8 Performing 12-month
ECL(ii)

20,834 – 20,834

Contract assets 9 Performing Lifetime ECL
(simplified
approach)(i)

19,202 – 19,202

(7,870)
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(iii) Overview of the Group’s exposure to credit risk and credit risk management (cont’d)

Note

Internal
credit

assessment
12-month or
lifetime ECL

Gross
carrying
amount 

$’000

Loss
allowance

$’000

Net
carrying
amount

$’000

The Company

31 December 2019

Trade receivables 7 Performing Lifetime ECL
(simplified
approach)(i)

15,878 (12) 15,866

Other receivables 8 Performing 12-month
ECL(ii)

1,802 – 1,802

Trade receivables due 
from subsidiaries

11 Performing Lifetime
ECL(ii)

55,581 (5,000) 50,581

Other receivables due 
from subsidiaries

11 Performing 12-month 
ECL(ii)

18,041 – 18,041

(5,012)

31 December 2018

Trade receivables 7 Performing Lifetime ECL
(simplified
approach)(i)

10,399 (12) 10,387

Other receivables 8 Performing 12-month
ECL(ii)

1,138 – 1,138

Trade receivables due 
from subsidiaries

11 Performing Lifetime
ECL(ii)

49,114 (5,000) 44,114

Other receivables due 
from subsidiaries

11 Performing 12-month 
ECL(ii)

17,940 – 17,940

(5,012)
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(iii) Overview of the Group’s exposure to credit risk and credit risk management (cont’d)

Notes:

(i) For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach in SFRS(I) 9 to measure the loss 
allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses on these items by using a provision matrix, 
estimated using historical credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate to 
reflect current conditions and estimates of future economic conditions. Accordingly, the credit risk profile of these assets is 
presented based on their past due status in terms of the provision matrix. Notes 7 and 9 include further details on the loss 
allowance for these assets respectively.

(ii) In determining the ECL, the Group has taken into account the historical default experience and the financial position of the 
counterparties, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and general economic conditions of the industry in which 
the debtors operate, in estimating the probability of default of each of these financial assets occurring within their respective 
loss assessment time horizon, as well as the loss upon default in each case.

(iv) Liquidity risk management

The Group maintains sufficient cash and bank balances, and internally generated cash flows to finance 
its activities.

Liquidity risk is managed by matching the payment and receipt cycle. The Group has sufficient cash 
from operations and credit lines from financial institutions (Note 18) to fund its capital investments 
and working capital requirements.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(iv) Liquidity risk management (cont’d)

Liquidity and interest risk analysis

Non-derivative financial assets

The following tables detail the expected maturity for non-derivative financial assets. 
The tables below have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the 
financial assets including interest that will be earned on those assets except where the Group and 
the Company anticipate that the cash flow will occur in a different period. The adjustment column 
represents the possible future cash flows attributable to the instrument included in the maturity 
analysis which are not included in the carrying amount of the financial assets on the statement of 
financial position.

Weighted
average

effective
interest

rate

On
demand

or within 
1 year

Within
2 to 5
years

After 
5 years Adjustment Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The Group

31 December 2019

Non-interest bearing – 1,367,230 21,174 4,193 – 1,392,597
Fixed interest rate 

instruments 2.02 255,390 – – (1,284) 254,106
1,622,620 21,174 4,193 (1,284) 1,646,703

31 December 2018

Non-interest bearing – 1,253,712 20,553 2,847 – 1,277,112
Fixed interest rate 

instruments 2.16 217,454 – – (2,024) 215,430
1,471,166 20,553 2,847 (2,024) 1,492,542
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(iv) Liquidity risk management (cont’d)

Liquidity and interest risk analysis (cont’d)

Non-derivative financial assets (cont’d)

Weighted
average

effective
interest

rate

On
demand

or within 
1 year

Within
2 to 5
years

After 
5 years Adjustment Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The Company

31 December 2019

Non-interest bearing – 156,492 7,440 – – 163,932
Fixed interest rate 

instruments 1.99 234,754 – – (1,162) 233,592
391,246 7,440 – (1,162) 397,524

31 December 2018

Non-interest bearing – 175,871 6,977 – – 182,848
Fixed interest rate 

instruments 1.86 170,221 – – (790) 169,431
346,092 6,977 – (790) 352,279
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(iv) Liquidity risk management (cont’d)

Liquidity and interest risk analysis (cont’d)

Non-derivative financial liabilities

The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative financial liabilities. 
The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on 
the earliest date on which the Group and the Company can be required to pay. The table includes 
both interest and principal cash flows. The adjustment column represents the possible future cash 
flows attributable to the instrument included in the maturity analysis which is not included in the 
carrying amount of the financial liabilities on the statement of financial position.

Weighted
average

effective
interest

rate

On
demand

or within 
1 year

Within
2 to 5
years

After 
5 years Adjustment Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The Group

31 December 2019

Non-interest bearing – 623,985 – – – 623,985
Variable interest rate 

instruments  0.41 1,059 – – (1) 1,058
Lease liabilities 3.00 11,416 17,475 – (972) 27,919

636,460 17,475 – (973) 652,962

31 December 2018

Non-interest bearing – 694,173 – – – 694,173
Variable interest rate 

instruments  0.41 1,799 – – (1) 1,798
695,972 – – (1) 695,971
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(iv) Liquidity risk management (cont’d)

Liquidity and interest risk analysis (cont’d)

Non-derivative financial liabilities (cont’d)

Weighted
average

effective
interest

rate

On
demand

or within 
1 year

Within
2 to 5
years

After 
5 years Adjustment Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The Company

31 December 2019

Non-interest bearing – 81,954 – – – 81,954
Lease liabilities  1.82 5,965 10,309 – (384) 15,890

87,919 10,309 – (384) 97,844

31 December 2018

Non-interest bearing – 100,703 – –  – 100,703
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(v) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

Other than the fair values of long-term receivables and other financial assets which are disclosed 
in Notes 8 and 12 respectively, the carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, trade and other 
receivables, bank loans, and trade and other payables approximate their respective fair values due to 
the relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

Financial assets/ 
Financial liabilities

Fair value as at

Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation 
technique(s) and 

key input(s)

2019 2018
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other financial assets (see Note 12)

The Group

Quoted equity
shares

21,036 – 20,092 – Level 1 Quoted bid prices 
in an active market

Unquoted equity
shares

4,193 – 2,847 – Level 2 Net tangible asset 
of the underlying 
investment / most 
recent transacted 
prices which 
approximate fair 
value

The Company

Quoted equity
shares

7,440 – 6,977 – Level 1 Quoted bid prices 
in an active market

There were no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy during
the year.

(d) Capital management policies and objectives

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 18, and 
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued capital, reserves and accumulated profits 
as presented in the statements of changes in equity. Some of the subsidiaries of the Group operating in 
the People’s Republic of China are required to set aside a part of profit after tax in a separate reserve called 
“Reserve Fund” as disclosed in Note 23.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(d) Capital management policies and objectives (cont’d)

The Board of Directors reviews the capital structure regularly to achieve an appropriate capital structure. 
As part of this review, the Board considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of 
capital and makes adjustments to the capital structure, where appropriate, in light of changes in economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from the previous year.

5 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Some of the Group’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the basis 
determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The balances are unsecured, interest-free 
and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

 During the year, Group entities entered into the following trading transactions with related parties:

The Group
2019 2018

$’000 $’000

Purchase of goods from associate 80 145
Sale of goods to associate 29 3
Dividends received from associates – 30

Compensation of Directors and key management personnel

The remuneration of 7 (2018 : 8) directors and 6 (2018 : 6) other key management personnel during the year were 
as follows:

The Group
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Short-term benefits 16,853 14,314
CPF contributions 244 82
Share-based payments 993 841

18,090 15,237
Directors’ fees 869 850
Total 18,959 16,087

The remuneration of Directors and other key management personnel is determined by the Remuneration Committee 
having regard to various factors including the individual’s contribution to the achievement of the organisation and 
business objectives.
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6 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

The Group The Company
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash 460,361 497,395 70,202 102,292
Fixed deposits 254,106 215,431 233,592 169,431
Cash and cash equivalents in

the statement of cash flows 714,467 712,826 303,794 271,723

The fixed deposits’ interest rates for the Group and the Company range from 1.55% to 3.35% (2018 : 1.61% to 4.20%) 
per annum with an original maturity of one year or less.

7 TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group The Company
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Outside parties 898,910 735,943 15,866 10,387

The average trade credit period on sales of goods is 83 days (2018 : 79 days). No interest is charged on the trade 
receivables. Loss allowance for trade receivables has been measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected 
credit losses (ECL). The ECL on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default 
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that are 
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment 
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date. 

There has been no significant change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the 
current reporting period.

A trade receivable is written off when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and 
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into 
bankruptcy proceedings. None of the trade receivables that have been written off is subject to enforcement activities.
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7 TRADE RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables from contracts with customers based on the Group’s 
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for 
different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished 
between the Group’s different customer base.

The Group
Trade receivables – days past due

31 December 2019
Not past

due < 30 days
31 – 60

days
61 – 90

days
> 90
days Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Expected credit loss rate 0.1% 0.2% 2.0% 6.3% 8.4%

Lifetime ECL:
 - Not credit-impaired 839 104 170 179 59 1,351
 - Credit-impaired – – – – 87 87

839 104 170 179 146 1,438

31 December 2018

Expected credit loss rate 0.1% 0.3% 3.0% 5.8% 6.7%

Lifetime ECL:
 - Not credit-impaired 678 256 460 234 65 1,693
 - Credit-impaired – – – – 6,177 6,177

678 256 460 234 6,242 7,870

The Company’s provision matrix is not disclosed as the lifetime ECL is insignificant but the expected credit loss rates 
applied approximate that of the Group as their loss patterns are similar.

Management is of the view that majority of the Group’s and the Company’s trade receivables are within their 
expected cash collection cycle. There are certain trade receivables which are less than 3% (2018 : 3%) of the total 
trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period that are outstanding for periods longer than the expected 
credit terms as agreed with the customers. The average days overdue of these receivables is 71 days (2018 : 60 days).
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7 TRADE RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

The table below shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables in accordance 
with the simplified approach set out in SFRS(I) 9:

The Group The Company
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

Collectively
assessed:

not credit-
impaired

Individually
assessed:

credit-
impaired Total

Collectively
assessed:

not credit-
impaired

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 January 2018 – 6,160 6,160 –
Transfer from credit-impaired 120 (120) – –
Net re-measurement of loss

allowance 1,578 – 1,578 12
Foreign exchange (gains) losses (5) 137 132 –
Balance at 31 December 2018 1,693 6,177 7,870 12
Written off – (4,902) (4,902) –
Doubtful debt recovery – (1,077) (1,077) –
Net re-measurement of loss

allowance  (387) – (387) –
Foreign exchange losses (gains) 45 (111) (66) –
Balance at 31 December 2019 1,351 87 1,438 12

8 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

The Group The Company
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other receivables 3,985 15,777 1,753 1,105
Deposits 4,112 5,057 49 33
Prepayments 9,368 9,618 666 382

17,465 30,452 2,468 1,520
Less: Amounts receivable

within 12 months (17,327) (29,997) (2,468) (1,520)

Amounts receivable
after 12 months 138 455 – –

For the purpose of impairment assessment, other receivables are considered to have low credit risk as they are 
not due for payment at the end of the reporting period and there has been no significant increase in the risk of 
default on the receivables since initial recognition. Accordingly, for the purpose of impairment assessment for these 
receivables, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses (ECL). 
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8 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS (cont’d)

There has been no significant change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the 
current reporting period in assessing the loss allowance for other receivables.

Based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience with the relevant counterparties, as well as available forward-
looking information, the Group has assessed the expected credit loss rate on other receivables to be insignificant.

9 CONTRACT ASSETS

The Group The Company
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Contract assets 8,478 19,202 – –

Contract assets comprise unbilled revenue and other recoverables from customers for which the Group has 
performed work at balance sheet date, but the agreed billing milestones have not been reached. Such unbilled 
revenue and recoverables arise from design services contracts, tooling work and other non-recurring engineering 
services. Any amount previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at 
which it is invoiced to the customer.

The decrease in the Group’s contract assets between 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019 was attributable 
mainly to lower accrued revenue for design services contracts, as invoices were raised when billing milestones were 
met subsequent to 31 December 2018.

Management estimates the loss allowance on amounts due from customers at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, 
taking into account the historical default experience and the future prospects of the relevant customers’ industry. 
None of the amounts due from customers at the end of the reporting period is past due.

There has been no significant change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the 
current reporting period in assessing the loss allowance for the contract assets.

Based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience with the relevant customers, as well as available forward-
looking information, the Group has assessed the expected credit loss rate on contract assets to be insignificant.
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10 INVENTORIES

The Group The Company
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Raw materials 427,432 548,936 32,414 34,454
Work in progress 85,454 88,922 12,868 15,153
Finished goods 193,264 170,308 14,076 11,547

706,150 808,166 59,358 61,154

In 2019, the Group recognised an expense of $976,000 (2018 : $1,258,000) in respect of provisions and write-offs 
of aged inventory determined based on assessments of net realisable value and estimates on forecasted usage.

11 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Company
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost  1,148,474  1,148,474
Less: Impairment loss  (3,203)  (3,203)
Net carrying amount  1,145,271  1,145,271
Advances to subsidiaries(1)  112,840  112,840
Less: Impairment in advances to subsidiaries  (30,262)  (30,262)

 1,227,849  1,227,849

(1) Advances to subsidiaries are an extension of the Company’s investment and hence are capital in nature. 

Trade receivables from subsidiaries of $50,581,000 (2018 : $44,114,000) are stated at net of allowance for doubtful 
debts of $5,000,000 (2018 : $5,000,000). 

Amounts due to and from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and payable within 12 months other than 
advances to subsidiaries as mentioned above. 

For purpose of impairment assessment, loss allowance for trade receivables due from subsidiaries has been 
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. Other receivables due from subsidiaries are considered to have 
low credit risk and there has been no significant increase in the risk of default during the current reporting period. 
Accordingly, for the purpose of impairment assessment for these receivables, the loss allowance is measured at an 
amount equal to 12-month ECL. There has been no significant change in the estimation techniques or significant 
assumptions made during the current reporting period for trade and other receivables due from subsidiaries.

    size:W210mm x H297mm     1st              Financial    Black  size:W210mm x H297mm     1stPage 162

W000082-20_0022_Venture AR_2019 - Financials_FA_260320 R4.indd   162 26/3/20   12:07 PM



F U T U R E
R E A D Y

163
N O T E S  T O
F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S
3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9

11 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

 Details of the Company’s significant subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries
Country of
incorporation

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting

power held Principal activities
2019 2018

% %

Advanced Products
Corporation Pte Ltd

Singapore 100 100 Trading and manufacturing
of electronics products and
provision of electronics
services

Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 Investment holding

Venture Electronics
(Europe) B.V.
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd)(6)

Netherlands 100 100 Investment holding

Venture Hungary Electronics
Manufacturing Limited
Liability Company
(95% owned by Venture
Electronics (Europe) B.V.
and 5% owned by Cebelian
Holdings Pte Ltd)(3)

Hungary 100 100 Design, manufacture,
assemble and distribute
electronic products

Venture Electronics
Spain S.L.
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
Venture Electronics
(Europe) B.V.)(1)

Spain 100 100 Manufacture, design,
engineering, customisation
and logistic services

Venture Electronics
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd)(1)

People’s 
Republic of
China

100 100 Trading and manufacturing
of electronic and 
computer-related products

Venture Electronics
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd)(5)

People’s 
Republic of
China

100 100 Manufacture and sale of
terminal units

VM Services, Inc.
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd)(6)

United States
of America

100 100 Trading and manufacturing
of electronic and 
computer-related products

             Financial    Black size:W210mm x H297mm     1st Page 163

W000082-20_0022_Venture AR_2019 - Financials_FA_260320 R4.indd   163 26/3/20   12:07 PM



V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9

164
N O T E S  T O
F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S
3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9

Name of subsidiaries
Country of
incorporation

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting

power held Principal activities
2019 2018

% %

Venture Electronics
International, Inc.
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
VM Services, Inc.)(6)

United States
of America

100 100 Manufacture, design,
engineering, customisation
engineering, and logistic
services

Venture Design
Services Inc.
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
VM Services, Inc.)(6)

United States
of America

100 100 Trading and manufacturing
of electronics and 
computer-related products, 
provision of engineering,
customisation logistics and 
repair services

Venture Enterprise 
Innovation, Inc.
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
VM Services, Inc.)(6)

United States
of America

100 100 Manufacturing of high 
technology products, and
provision of design solutions
and services

VIPColor
Technologies Pte Ltd
(a subsidiary of Cebelian
Holdings Pte Ltd)(7)

Singapore 100 95.5 Develop and market colour
imaging products for label
printing

Advanced Instrument Pte. Ltd.
(formerly known as
V*Comms Pte. Ltd.)
(a subsidiary of Advanced Products
Corporation Pte Ltd) 

Singapore 100 100 Design, integrate and trading
of electronic security system
and electronic products

Venture International Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100 Import and export of 
electronic parts,
components, equipment,
devices and instruments

VIPColor
Technologies USA, Inc.
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
VIPColor Technologies
Pte Ltd)(6)(7)

United States
of America

100 95.5 Develop and market colour
imaging products for label
printing

Innovative Trek
Technology Pte Ltd

Singapore 100 100 Information system
development and support

11 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)
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11 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

Name of subsidiaries
Country of

incorporation

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting

power held Principal activities
2019 2018

% %

Advanced Products
Corporation Pte Ltd

Singapore 100 100 Trading and manufacturing
of electronics products and
provision of electronics
services

Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 Investment holding

Venture Electronics
(Europe) B.V.
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd) (6)

Netherlands 100 100 Investment holding

Venture Hungary Electronics
Manufacturing Limited
Liability Company
(95% owned by Venture
Electronics (Europe) B.V.
and 5% owned by Cebelian
Holdings Pte Ltd) (3)

Hungary 100 100 Design, manufacture,
assemble and distribute
electronic products

Venture Electronics
Spain S.L.
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
Venture Electronics
(Europe) B.V.) (1)

Spain 100 100 Manufacture, design,
engineering, customisation
and logistic services

Venture Electronics
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd) (1)

People’s 
Republic of
China

100 100 Trading and manufacturing
of electronic and 
computer-related products

Venture Electronics
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd) (5)

People’s 
Republic of
China

100 100 Manufacture and sale of
terminal units

VM Services, Inc.
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd) (6)

United States
of America

100 100 Trading and manufacturing
of electronic and 
computer-related products

Name of subsidiaries
Country of
incorporation

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting

power held Principal activities
2019 2018

% %

Multitech Systems
Pte. Ltd.

Singapore 100 100 Trading and manufacturing
of electronic and 
computer-related products

Scinetic Engineering
Pte Ltd 
(60% owned by the Company
and 40% owned by
GES Investment Pte. Ltd.)

Singapore 100 100 Design, trading and
manufacturing of electronic
and mechanical products

Technocom
Systems Sdn Bhd(1)

Malaysia 100 100 Manufacturing and assembly
of electronic and other
computer products and
peripherals

Pintarmas Sdn. Bhd.
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
Technocom Systems
Sdn Bhd)(1)

Malaysia 100 100 Manufacturing and assembly
of electronic and other
computer products and
peripherals

V-Design Services
(M) Sdn. Bhd.
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
Technocom Systems
Sdn Bhd)(1)

Malaysia 100 100 Design and development of
electronic products and
services

Venture Electronics
Services (Malaysia)
Sdn. Bhd.(1)

Malaysia 100 100 Manufacturing and assembly
of electronic and other
computer products and
peripherals

Venture Electronics
Solutions Pte Ltd

Singapore 100 100 Manufacture, design,
engineering and logistics
services to electronics 
equipment manufacturers

Ventech Investments Ltd
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd)(6)

British Virgin
Islands

100 100 Investment holding

11 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)
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Name of subsidiaries
Country of
incorporation

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting

power held Principal activities
2019 2018

% %

Univac Precision
Engineering Pte Ltd

Singapore 100 100 Manufacture, design,
fabrication, stamping and
injection, metal punching
and spraying of industrial
metal parts, tools and dies

Munivac Sdn. Bhd.
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
Univac Precision Engineering
Pte Ltd)(1)

Malaysia 100 100 Manufacture of
electronic and mechanic
components

Univac Precision, Inc.
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
Univac Precision Engineering
Pte Ltd)(6)

United States
of America

100 100 Design, customisation and
marketing of tool-making
and precision engineering
solutions

Univac Design &
Engineering Pte Ltd
(a subsidiary of Univac
Precision Engineering
Pte Ltd)(2)(7)

Singapore 81.6 81.6 Investment holding

Univac Precision Plastics
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
Univac Design &
Engineering Pte Ltd)(4)(7)

People’s 
Republic of
China

81.6 81.6 Manufacture of plastic
injection moulds and
mouldings with secondary
processes and sub-assembly

Univac Precision Plastics
(Suzhou) Co., Ltd
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
Univac Design &
Engineering Pte Ltd)(4)(7)

People’s 
Republic of
China

81.6 81.6 Manufacture of plastic
injection moulds and
mouldings with secondary
processes and sub-assembly

GES International
Limited

Singapore 100 100 Investment holding and
provision of management
services

11 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)
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Name of subsidiaries
Country of
incorporation

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting

power held Principal activities
2019 2018

% %

GES (Singapore) Pte Ltd
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
GES International Limited)

Singapore 100 100 Provision of manufacturing
services for original design
and manufacture and
electronic manufacturing
services

GES Investment Pte. Ltd.
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
GES International Limited)

Singapore 100 100 Investment holding and
provision of administrative
and technical services to
a subsidiary

Shanghai GES Information
Technology Co., Ltd
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
GES (Singapore) Pte Ltd)(1)

People’s 
Republic of
China

100 100 Provision of manufacturing
services for original design
and manufacture and
electronic manufacturing
services

GES Manufacturing
Services (M) Sdn. Bhd.
(wholly-owned subsidiary of
GES Investment Pte. Ltd.)(1)

Malaysia 100 100 Provision of manufacturing
services to electronics
equipment manufacturers

Winza Pte. Ltd.
(a subsidiary of Advanced Products
Corporation Pte Ltd)

Singapore 100 100 Trading and manufacturing of
electronic and computer 
related products

All the companies are audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore except for the subsidiaries that are indicated as 
follows:

(1) Audited by overseas practices of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited.

(2) Audited by another firm of auditors, BSL Public Accounting Corporation.

(3) Audited by another firm of auditors, Moore Stephens Hezicomp Kft.

(4) Audited by another firm of auditors, Shanghai Huashen Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd.

(5) Audited by another firm of auditors, BDO China Li Xin Da Hua Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd.

(6) Not required by law to be audited in its country of incorporation and not material to the results of the Group.

(7) The profit or loss allocated to non-controlling interests and accumulated non-controlling interests of these non-wholly owned subsidiaries are 
individually insignificant to the Group.

11 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)
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11 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

The net assets of the subsidiaries referred to in Notes (2), (3), (4), (5) and (6) above are less than 20% of the net assets 
of the Group as at the financial year end.

The Company has provided a commitment for financial support of $39,806,000 (2018 : $36,805,000) to certain 
subsidiaries for a period of twelve months from the end of the reporting period so as to enable the subsidiaries to 
continue to operate as going concerns and meet its contractual obligations when they fall due.

12 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group The Company
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Equity instruments measured at fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL)

Unquoted equity shares(a) 1,346 – – –

Equity instruments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

Quoted equity shares(b) 21,036 20,092 7,440 6,977
Unquoted equity shares(a) 2,847 2,847 – –

25,229 22,939 7,440 6,977

Other financial assets refer to equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVTOCI) and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 

(a) The investments in unquoted equity shares include investments in venture capital funds and other investee companies.

(b) The fair values of these securities are based on the quoted closing market prices on the last market day of the financial year. Investments in 
quoted equity securities offer the Group and the Company the opportunity for returns through distribution income and fair value gains. Quoted 
equity shares have no fixed maturity or coupon rate.

Equity instruments measured at FVTOCI are not held for trading. Instead, they are held for medium to long-term 
strategic purposes. Accordingly, management has elected to designate these investments in equity instruments 
as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit or 
loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding these investments for long-term purposes and 
realising their performance potential in the long run.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the Group disposed of quoted equity securities as the underlying 
investment was no longer aligned with the Group’s long-term investment strategy. These investments had a fair 
value of $2,942,000 at the date of disposal, and the cumulative gain on disposal amounted to $44,000, net of tax. 
The cumulative gain on disposal was reclassified from investments revaluation reserve to accumulated profits.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2019, no changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL have 
been included in profit or loss for the year as part of “investment revenue”.
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Freehold 
land 

Factory 
buildings 

Leasehold 
land and 

buildings(i)

Machinery 
and 

equipment

Leasehold
improvements 

and
renovations

Office 
equipment, 

furniture
and fittings

Computer
hardware

Motor
vehicles Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The Group

Cost:

At 1 January 2018 8,626 66,073 113,992 299,304 45,277 45,067 4,264 2,374 584,977

Exchange differences 874 2,583 1,646 4,935 653 1,253 – 28 11,972

Additions 15,756 22,800 – 12,548 2,045 3,104 1,666 561 58,480

Disposals – – – (8,201) (219) (1,984) (1,403) (505) (12,312)

At 31 December 2018 25,256 91,456 115,638 308,586 47,756 47,440 4,527 2,458 643,117

Reclassification on 
adoption of 
SFRS(I) 16(i) – (43,903) 43,903 – – – – – –

At 1 January 2019 25,256 47,553 159,541 308,586 47,756 47,440 4,527 2,458 643,117

Exchange differences (438) 355 (714) (4,567) (1,377) (2,349) – (197) (9,287)

Reclassification(ii) 3,752 (3,752) – – – – – – –

Additions – 147 31 14,145 15,996 4,136 255 361 35,071

Disposals – – – (9,342) (460) (1,636) (332) (121) (11,891)

At 31 December 2019 28,570 44,303 158,858 308,822 61,915 47,591 4,450 2,501 657,010

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 2018 – 31,790 33,639 247,693 31,702 36,424 3,803 1,779 386,830

Exchange differences – 735 687 4,303 519 612 – 22 6,878

Depreciation – 1,996 3,268 16,761 3,466 4,198 701 250 30,640

Disposals – – – (8,174) (174) (1,948) (1,403) (505) (12,204)

At 31 December 2018 – 34,521 37,594 260,583 35,513 39,286 3,101 1,546 412,144

Reclassification on 
adoption of
SFRS(I) 16(i) – (26,975) 26,975 – – – – – –

At 1 January 2019 – 7,546 64,569 260,583 35,513 39,286 3,101 1,546 412,144

Exchange differences – 97 (341) (2,617) (693) (2,200) – (12) (5,766)

Depreciation – 579 4,874 15,979 3,258 4,475 591 284 30,040

Disposals – – – (9,296) (397) (1,601) (19) (121) (11,434)

At 31 December 2019 – 8,222 69,102 264,649 37,681 39,960 3,673 1,697 424,984

Impairment:

At 1 January 2018,
31 December 2018
and 31 December 2019  –  –  –  18  36  190  –  43  287 

Carrying amount:

At 31 December 2019 28,570 36,081 89,756 44,155 24,198 7,441 777 761 231,739

At 31 December 2018 25,256 56,935 78,044 47,985 12,207 7,964 1,426 869 230,686
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

Leasehold 
land and 
building(i)

Machinery 
and 

equipment

Leasehold
improvements 

and
renovations

Office 
equipment, 

furniture
and fittings

Motor 
vehicles Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The Company

Cost:
At 1 January 2018 39,166 42,940 3,186 7,703 1,032 94,027
Additions – 2,413 264 199 509 3,385
Disposals – (2,830) (87) (187) (451) (3,555)
At 31 December 2018 39,166 42,523 3,363 7,715 1,090 93,857
Additions – 438 374 484 – 1,296
Disposals – (91) (11) (221) – (323)
At 31 December 2019 39,166 42,870 3,726 7,978 1,090 94,830

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2018 3,866 40,100 2,440 7,346 831 54,583
Depreciation 1,031 875 243 223 131 2,503
Disposals – (2,830) (44) (187) (451) (3,512)
At 31 December 2018 4,897 38,145 2,639 7,382 511 53,574
Depreciation 1,031 1,267 293 271 157 3,019
Disposals – (91) (11) (221) – (323)
At 31 December 2019 5,928 39,321 2,921 7,432 668 56,270

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2019 33,238 3,549 805 546 422 38,560

At 31 December 2018 34,269 4,378 724 333 579 40,283

(i) The Group and the Company made upfront payment(s) in full to secure the right-of-use of leasehold land and buildings for the purpose of 
the Group’s manufacturing operations, warehousing and office premises. Leasehold factory buildings classified under Factory Buildings were 
classified to Leasehold land and buildings on the adoption of SFRS(I) 16.

(ii) During the year, the Group received an updated Notice of Assessment from the tax authority in relation to a property that was purchased in the 
financial year ended 31 December 2018. The reclassification between Freehold Land and Factory Building is made to reflect the allocation of 
value between land and building of the property in the updated assessment.
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14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Group and the Company lease several assets including leasehold land and buildings and plant and equipment. 
The average lease term is 5.7 years (2018 : 6.4 years).

Leasehold land
and buildings(i)

Plant and 
equipment Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

The Group

Cost:
At 1 January 2019 17,174 177 17,351
Exchange differences (277) – (277)
Additions 18,855 34 18,889
Disposals (123) – (123)
At 31 December 2019 35,629 211 35,840

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2019 – – –
Exchange differences (59) – (59)
Depreciation 8,415 44 8,459
Disposals (32) – (32)
At 31 December 2019 8,324 44 8,368

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2019 27,305 167 27,472

The Company

Cost:
At 1 January 2019 – – –
Additions 18,431 – 18,431
At 31 December 2019 18,431 – 18,431

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2019 – – –
Depreciation 2,794 – 2,794
At 31 December 2019 2,794 – 2,794

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2019 15,637 – 15,637

(i) These pertain to leasehold land and buildings for which the Group and the Company make periodic lease payments. These are used for the 
Group’s manufacturing operations, warehousing and office premises. 

In addition, the Group and the Company made upfront payment(s) in full to secure the right-of-use of certain leasehold land and buildings. These 
leasehold land and buildings, with net book value amounting to $89,756,000 and $33,238,000 (1 January 2019 : $94,972,000 and $34,269,000) 
for the Group and the Company respectively, are presented within property, plant and equipment (Note 13).
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Customer 
relationships

Development
expenditure

Computer
software

Intellectual
property Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The Group

Cost:
At 1 January 2018 168,483 57,792 24,057 1,817 252,149
Exchange differences – 261 (2) 39 298
Additions – 366 – – 366
Disposals – (139) – – (139)
Retirement – – – (1,856)  (1,856)
At 31 December 2018 168,483 58,280 24,055 – 250,818
Exchange differences – (381) 86 – (295)
Additions – – 120 – 120
At 31 December 2019 168,483 57,899 24,261 – 250,643

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 January 2018 168,483 57,583 24,057 1,817 251,940
Amortisation – 86 – – 86
Exchange differences – 569 (2) 39 606
Disposals – (139) – – (139)
Retirement – – – (1,856) (1,856)
At 31 December 2018 168,483 58,099 24,055 – 250,637
Amortisation – 134 59 – 193
Exchange differences – (378) 19 – (359)
At 31 December 2019 168,483 57,855 24,133 – 250,471

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2019 – 44 128 – 172

At 31 December 2018 – 181 – – 181
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (cont’d)

Development
expenditure

Computer
software Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

The Company

Cost:
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and 

31 December 2019  32,533 – 32,533 

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and 

31 December 2019 32,533 – 32,533

Carrying amount:
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and 

31 December 2019 – – –

The amortisation period for development expenditure and computer software is three years which approximates 
the useful lives of the intangible assets. Intellectual property relates to licensing rights for manufacture of equipment 
and is amortised over its estimated useful life of five years.

The fair value of the customer relationships which arose from the acquisition of GES (Note 16) on 29 November 
2006 has been amortised over its useful life of ten years and was fully amortised in 2016. No amortisation charge 
was recorded in profit or loss in 2018 and 2019.

16 GOODWILL

The Group
$’000

Cost:
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019  640,593

Impairment:
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019 (885)

Carrying amount:
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019  639,708
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16 GOODWILL (cont’d)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) that 
are expected to benefit from that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated as 
follows:

2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Technology Products and Design Solutions

(a) GES International Limited and its subsidiaries
(“GES International Group”) (single CGU)  573,568  573,568 

Advanced Manufacturing and Design Solutions

(b) Technocom Systems Sdn Bhd (previously
transferred from Venture Electronics
Solutions Pte Ltd) (single CGU) 10,980 10,980 

(c) Univac Precision Engineering Pte Ltd
and its subsidiaries (“Univac Group”)
(single CGU)  55,160  55,160 

Total  639,708  639,708 

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might 
be impaired.

In accordance with the requirements of SFRS(I) 1-36, the value in use calculations applied a discounted cash flow 
model using management approved cash flow projections.

The key assumptions used in determining the recoverable amount of the CGUs are those regarding discount rates, 
revenue growth rates, profitability margins, capital expenditures, working capital cycles and non-operating cash 
balances, as at the assessment date.

    size:W210mm x H297mm     1st              Financial    Black  size:W210mm x H297mm     1stPage 174

W000082-20_0022_Venture AR_2019 - Financials_FA_260320 R4.indd   174 26/3/20   12:07 PM



F U T U R E
R E A D Y

175
N O T E S  T O
F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S
3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9

16 GOODWILL (cont’d)

The discount rates applied to the cash flows projections are derived from the weighted average cost of capital 
plus a reasonable risk premium applicable to the CGUs at the date of assessment of the recoverable amounts.
The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the respective CGUs beyond the forecast period of 5 years 
is 2% (2018 : 2%), which does not exceed the long-term growth rate for the relevant markets. The implied pre-tax 
rates used to discount the cash flow projections of the respective CGUs are as follows:

(a) The rate used to discount the cash flows from GES International Limited and its subsidiaries is 11.0%
(2018 : 11.0%).

(b) The rate used to discount the cash flows from Univac Precision Engineering Pte Ltd and its subsidiaries is 
11.5% (2018 : 11.5%).

(c) The rate used to discount the cash flows from Technocom Systems Sdn Bhd is 13.0% (2018 : 13.0%).

The values assigned to other key assumptions are based on past performances and expected future market 
development.

As at the end of the respective reporting periods, any reasonably possible change to the key assumptions applied is 
not likely to cause the recoverable amounts to be below the carrying amount of the CGUs.

17 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

The Group
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Deferred tax assets:

Balance at beginning of year 3,747 3,668
Exchange differences (57) 79
Balance at end of year 3,690 3,747

The deferred tax assets mainly comprise the tax effect of temporary differences associated with tax credits for 
certain overseas research and development activities and accelerated accounting depreciation.
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17 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (cont’d)

The Group
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Deferred tax liabilities:

Balance at beginning of year 2,058 1,718
Charge to profit or loss for the year (Note 29) 996 322
Exchange differences (14) 18
Balance at end of year 3,040 2,058

The deferred tax liabilities comprise the tax effect of temporary differences associated with accelerated tax 
depreciation. 

18 BANK LOANS

The Group The Company
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Bank loans (unsecured) 1,058 1,798 – –

The bank loans comprise of bank borrowings of $1,058,000 (2018 : $1,798,000) which is a revolving credit facility 
drawn down by a subsidiary. The loan bears effective interest rate of 0.41% (2018 : 0.41%) per annum.

19 TRADE PAYABLES

The Group The Company
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Outside parties 490,329 529,015 32,963 42,510

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 68 days (2018 : 80 days). No interest is charged by suppliers on 
trade payables. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are within the 
credit time frame.

Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs.
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20 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

The Group The Company
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other payables 9,426 8,038 – –
Salary related accruals 60,625 62,647 19,730 23,628
Accrued expenses 99,601 134,539 8,425 10,618

169,652 205,224 28,155 34,246

Salary related accruals for both the Group and the Company include $7,333,000 (2018 : $7,603,000) due to Directors. 
The amount due to Directors is unsecured, interest-free and payable within 12 months.

The Group’s accrued expenses include provisions for warranty of $35,996,000 (2018 : $40,066,000). The Company’s 
accrued expenses include provisions for warranty of $2,017,000 (2018 : $2,017,000).

The Group and the Company assessed the provision for warranties based on historical claim experience and 
estimated potential rectification costs for the products sold that qualify under the contractual warranty periods. 
Such provisions are assessed as a percentage of sales and determined by management based on the experience on 
the likelihood of claims and risks arising from the contracts covered by the warranty, and taking into consideration 
other factors such as industry benchmarks and technological failure rates.

21 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The Group The Company
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Contract liabilities 49,380 74,029 1,209 –

Contract liabilities arise from advance payments from customers. In the case of design services, tooling and non-
recurring engineering services, such advances arise when a particular milestone payment exceeds the work done 
to date. Contract liabilities are also recognised when a customer makes payment for the Group’s working capital 
which the Group has invested specifically for purpose of the customers’ projects.

The decrease in the Group’s contract liabilities in 2019 mainly arose from the utilisation of a customer’s working 
capital payment to the Group through the delivery of goods during the financial year.

There was no revenue recognised in the current reporting period that related to performance obligations that were 
satisfied in a prior year.

$64,800 of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2018 were recognised in revenue in the subsequent financial year.
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22 LEASE LIABILITIES 

(Group and Company as a lessee)

The Group The Company
 2019  2019
$’000 $’000

Maturity Analysis:
Within one year 11,416 5,965
In the second to fifth year inclusive 17,475 10,309

28,891 16,274
Less: Unearned interest (972) (384)

27,919 15,890
Analysed as:

Current 10,601 5,732
Non-current 17,318 10,158

27,919 15,890

The Group and the Company do not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities. 

23 SHARE CAPITAL, TREASURY SHARES AND RESERVES

SHARE CAPITAL
The Group and the Company

2019 2018 2019 2018
Number of ordinary shares

‘000 ‘000 $’000 $’000

Issued and paid up:
At beginning of year 289,026 284,873 803,220 761,706
Issuance of shares 700 4,153 7,862 41,514
At end of year 289,726 289,026 811,082 803,220

Fully paid ordinary shares which have no par value, carry one vote per share and a right to dividends as and when 
declared by the Company.

TREASURY SHARES
The Group and the Company

2019 2018 2019 2018
Number of ordinary shares

‘000 ‘000 $’000 $’000

At beginning of year 1,199 245 19,081 1,879
Repurchased during the year 146 1,014 2,178 18,060
Reissuance pursuant to equity 

compensation plans (80) (60) (1,266) (858)
At end of year 1,265 1,199 19,993 19,081
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23 SHARE CAPITAL, TREASURY SHARES AND RESERVES (cont’d)

SHARE-BASED AWARDS RESERVE

This arises on the grant of share options and share awards to employees under the employee share option schemes 
and restricted share plan respectively. Further information about share-based payments to employees is set out in 
Note 25.

INVESTMENTS REVALUATION RESERVE

This arises on revaluation of equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI (Note 12), net of cumulative gain/loss 
transferred to accumulated profits upon disposal. 

This reserve is not available for distribution to the Company’s shareholders.

OTHER RESERVES

This includes reserve fund of $4,274,000 (2018 : $3,894,000) offset by other reserve of $1,697,000 (2018 : $815,000). 

The reserve fund is a part of the profit after tax of a subsidiary operating in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) 
transferred to the reserve fund in accordance with local requirements. This legal reserve cannot be distributed or 
reduced except where approval is obtained from the relevant PRC authority to apply the amount either in setting 
off accumulated losses or increasing capital.

24 TRANSLATION RESERVE

Exchange differences relating to the translation from the functional currencies of the Group’s subsidiaries into 
Singapore dollars are brought to account by recognising those exchange differences in other comprehensive 
income and accumulating them in a separate component of equity under the header of translation reserve.

25 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share option schemes

The Company has a share option scheme for qualifying employees of the Group and the Company which was 
approved on 25 April 2014 and commenced on 1 January 2015 (“2015 Scheme”). There was an earlier share option 
scheme which was approved on 30 April 2004 and expired on 30 April 2014 (“2004 Scheme”). Notwithstanding 
the expiry of the 2004 Scheme, any outstanding and unexercised options held by option holders prior to such 
expiry will continue to remain valid. The schemes are administered by the Remuneration Committee. Options 
are exercisable at a price determined with reference to market price of shares at the time of grant of the options 
and adjusted for certain premium depending on when the options are exercised, and may be exercised during 
the exercise period applicable to those options and in accordance with a vesting schedule to be determined 
by the Remuneration Committee on the date of the grant. The vesting period is one year. If the options remain 
unexercised after a period of five years from the date of grant, the options would lapse. Options are cancelled if 
the employee leaves the Group.
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25 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (cont’d)

Equity-settled share option schemes (cont’d)

Details of the share options outstanding during the year under the 2004 Scheme are as follows:

The Group and the Company
2019 2018

Number of
share options

Weighted 
average

exercise price
Number of 

share options

Weighted 
average

exercise price
$ $

Outstanding at beginning of year 43,000 7.45 1,078,000 7.54
Cancelled during the year – – (124,000) 7.53
Exercised during the year (43,000) 7.45 (911,000) 7.55
Outstanding at end of year – – 43,000 7.45

Exercisable at end of year – – 43,000 7.45

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year was $17.39 
(2018 : $24.58). As at 31 December 2018, the options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average 
remaining contractual life of 0.3 year.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year under the 2015 Scheme are as follows:

The Group and the Company
2019 2018

Number of
share options

Weighted 
average

exercise price
Number of

share options

Weighted 
average

exercise price
$ $

Outstanding at beginning of year 2,806,000 13.78 6,199,000 12.16
Granted during the year 1,078,000 20.64 – –
Exercised during the year (657,000) 11.23 (3,242,000) 10.39
Cancelled during the year (30,000) 15.66 (151,000) 11.31
Outstanding at end of year 3,197,000 – 2,806,000 13.78

Exercisable at end of year 3,197,000 15.66 2,806,000 13.78

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year was $16.56 
(2018 : $23.26). The options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average remaining contractual life 
of 3.0 years (2018 : 3.2 years).

The Group recognised total expenses of $297,000 (2018 : $303,000) relating to the share options transactions 
during the year.
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25 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (cont’d)

Options granted

The fair values under the respective grants were calculated using the trinomial model with the following inputs:

Options granted on 
19 June 2019 under

the 2015 Scheme
Grant Ref No. 2015 Grant 5

Estimated fair value of options
granted on above dates S$0.52 per option

Share price at valuation date S$16.31
Exercise price  S$20.64(1)

 S$18.99(2)

 S$16.51(3)

Expected volatility 24%(4)

Exercise multiple (times) 1.03
Risk free rate 1.75%
Expected dividend yield 5.50%

(1) If exercised between 19 June 2020 to 18 June 2021.

(2) If exercised between 19 June 2021 to 18 June 2022.

(3) If exercised between 19 June 2022 to 18 June 2024.

(4) Expected volatility was determined by considering the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 5 years. The expected 
life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and 
behavioural considerations.

No options were granted under the 2015 Scheme during the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

Restricted Share Plan (RSP)

The Venture Corporation Restricted Share Plan (“RSP”) was approved by the Company’s shareholders at the 
Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company on 28 April 2011. The RSP is administered by the Remuneration 
Committee (“Committee”). 

Managers in senior positions in the Group or leadership positions in management, technology or possess other 
domain expertise and competencies and who are in a position to contribute or have significantly contributed to 
the performance, growth and profitability of the Group, as may be designated by the Committee, shall be eligible 
to participate in the RSP. Such managers must have been employed in the Company and/or its subsidiaries for a 
minimum period as determined by the Committee.
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25 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (cont’d)

Restricted Share Plan (RSP) (cont’d)

Movement in the awards by the Company during the year was as follows:

The Group and
the Company
2019 2018

At 1 January 900,000 960,000
Granted 170,000 –
Lapsed  (80,000) –
Vested  (80,000)  (60,000)
At 31 December 910,000 900,000

The Group recognised total expenses of $1,313,000 (2018 : $1,257,000) relating to RSP transactions during the year.

RSP granted

2019 2018

Vest on 20 June 2024 –
Risk-free interest rate 1.75% –
Share price at valuation date $17.28 –
Expected dividend yield 5.50% –

Fair value of the contingent award of shares at
grant date using the above inputs (per share)  $13.13 –

The awards have a 5-year vesting period and are subject to the rules of the RSP.

The mode of settlement of the awards under the RSP may be by way of:

(i) allotment and issue of new shares; and/or

(ii) the delivery of existing shares; and/or

(iii) payment of the equivalent value in cash (after deduction of any applicable taxes and Central Provident Fund 
and/or other statutory contributions); and/or

(iv) a combination of above (i), (ii) and (iii)

There were no awards granted during the financial year ended 31 December 2018.
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26 REVENUE

The Group
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Manufacturing, engineering, design
and fulfilment services revenue 3,632,530 3,483,668

Dividend income 901 935
Total 3,633,431 3,484,603

The majority of the revenue is recognised at a point in time, with revenue recognised over time contributing less 
than 10% of the total revenue. 

The following table shows the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations 
that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) as at the end of the reporting period for contracts that have an original 
expected duration of a year or more. 

Where performance obligations are part of a contract that has an original expected duration of a year or less, or if 
revenue is recognised based on the Group’s right to invoice the customer in the amount that corresponds directly 
with the value of the Group’s performance completed to date, no disclosure of transaction price allocated to 
remaining performance obligations is made in accordance with SFRS(I) 15.120.

The Group
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Design services 3,282 8,309
Non-recurring engineering services and tooling 1,174 3,809
Total 4,456 12,118

Management expects that 100% (2018 : 100%) of the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied contracts as of 
31 December 2019 will be recognised as revenue during the next reporting period.

27 OTHER INCOME

The Group
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Government grants 16 222
Other income 730 1,319
Total 746 1,541
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28 INVESTMENT REVENUE

The Group
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Interest income on bank deposits 11,005 9,209

29 INCOME TAX 

The Group
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Income tax on profit for the year:
Current year 59,386 62,917
Overprovision in prior years (3,739) (354)

Deferred income tax (Note 17):
Current year 996 322

Total 56,643 62,885

Domestic income tax of the Company is calculated at 17% (2018 : 17%) of the estimated assessable income for the 
year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The total income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:

The Group
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Profit before income tax 420,024 432,968

Income tax expense at statutory tax rate 71,404 73,605
Non-(taxable) allowable items  (2,460) 6,041
Overprovision of income tax in prior years, net (3,739) (354)
Deferred tax benefits not recognised 63 287
Effect of different tax rates of overseas operations 15,866 11,130
Tax-exempt income/Income under concessionary tax rate (23,959) (27,496)
Utilisation of deferred tax benefits previously not recognised (546) (297)
Other items 14 (31)
Total income tax 56,643 62,885

The income tax for the Group differs from the amount determined by applying the statutory tax rates primarily due 
to pioneer status and other tax incentives granted to the Company and its subsidiaries.

Management has assessed the achievability of the qualifying terms and conditions of the tax incentives awarded 
to the Company and some of its subsidiaries in the current and previous financial years, and management is of the 
view that the Company and its subsidiaries will be able to satisfy all qualifying terms and conditions. Accordingly, tax 
provisions for the Group are adequate as at the end of the reporting period.
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29 INCOME TAX (cont’d) 

Subject to agreement with the relevant tax authorities, the Group has the following available for offsetting against 
future taxable income:

Tax losses
carryforward

Capital
allowance

carryforward Total
$’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 January 2018 17,075 3,050 20,125
Amount in current year 21 1,666 1,687
Amount utilised in current year (961) (788) (1,749)
Balance at 31 December 2018 16,135 3,928 20,063
Amount in current year 373 – 373
Amount utilised in current year (1,016) (2,194) (3,210)
Balance at 31 December 2019 15,492 1,734 17,226

Deferred tax benefit on above not recorded:
At 31 December 2018 2,743 668 3,411

At 31 December 2019 2,634 295 2,929

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of deferred tax liabilities in respect of temporary 
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries that have not been recognised is $18,086,000 
(2018 : $16,424,000). No deferred tax liability has been recognised in respect of these differences because the 
Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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30 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, profit for the year has been arrived at after charging 
(crediting):

The Group
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Cost of inventories recognised as expense 2,726,672 2,530,837

Loss (Gain) on disposal of plant and equipment 109 (98)

Allowance for inventories (Note 10) 976 1,258

Directors’ remuneration:

- Directors of the Company 8,972 9,163
- Directors of the subsidiaries 9,118 9,588
- Directors’ fees payable to Directors of the Company 869 850

Total Directors’ remuneration 18,959 19,601

Employee benefits expense (including Directors’ remuneration):

- Equity settled share-based payments 1,610 1,560
- Defined contribution plans 26,014 27,925
- Salaries 305,527 287,951

Total employee benefits expense 333,151 317,436

Impairment loss on financial assets:

- Doubtful debt recovered (Note 7) (1,077) –
- Net re-measurement of loss allowance (Note 7) (387) 1,578

(1,464) 1,578

Audit fees:

- Paid to auditors of the Company 423 423
- Paid to other auditors 177 177

Total audit fees 600 600

Non-audit fees:

- Non-audit fees paid to other auditors 5 12

Aggregate amount of fees paid to auditors 605 612
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30 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (cont’d)

(Disclosure under SFRS(I) 16)
The Group

2019
$’000

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets 8,459
Interest expense on lease liabilities 512
Expense relating to short-term leases & leases of low value assets 7,253

(Disclosure under SFRS(I) 1-17)
The Group

2018
$’000

Payment recognised as an expense during the year:
Minimum lease payments under operating leases 17,865

The total cash outflow for leases amount to $17,865,000 in the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

31 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Group
2019 2018

Basic Diluted Basic Diluted
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company 363,130 363,130 370,062 370,062

Number of shares Number of shares
 ‘000  ‘000 

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares used to 
compute earnings per share 288,185 289,908 287,382 290,601

Earnings per share (cents) 126.0 125.3 128.8 127.3
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32 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 

(Disclosure under SFRS(I) 16)

At 31 December 2019, the Group and the Company had no commitment for short-term leases.

(Disclosure under SFRS(I) 1-17)

At 31 December 2018, the Group and the Company had outstanding commitments under non-cancellable 
operating leases, which fall due as follows: 

The Group The Company
2018 2018
$’000 $’000

Within one year 11,746 4,661
In the second to fifth year inclusive 12,428 –
Total 24,174 4,661

33 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS 

The Group
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Estimated amounts committed for future capital expenditure
but not provided for in the financial statements 92 922

34 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (UNSECURED) 

The Group The Company
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Letters of guarantee issued
by bankers 11,048 12,329 3,070 5,077
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35 SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Group operates predominantly as a provider of manufacturing, engineering, design and fulfilment services to 
the electronics industry. Information reported to the Group’s chief operating decision maker for the purposes of 
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance are as follows:

(i) Advanced Manufacturing & Design Solutions (“AMDS”).

(ii) Technology Products & Design Solutions (“TPS”).

Accordingly, the above are the Group’s reportable segments under SFRS(I) 8 Operating Segments. 

Segment revenue and results

Advanced
Manufacturing

& Design 
Solutions

Technology 
Products
& Design 

Solutions Eliminations Group
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2019

Revenue:
External sales 2,775,323 858,108 – 3,633,431
Inter-segment sales 22,958 3,503 (26,461) –

Total revenue 2,798,281 861,611 (26,461) 3,633,431

Results:
Segment profit 325,244 84,262 – 409,506
Investment revenue 11,005
Interest expense (523)
Share of profit of associates 36

Profit before income tax 420,024
Income tax expense (56,643)

Profit for the year 363,381
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35 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

Segment revenue and results (cont’d)

Advanced
Manufacturing

& Design 
Solutions

Technology
Products
& Design 

Solutions Eliminations Group
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2018

Revenue:
External sales 2,599,754 884,849 – 3,484,603
Inter-segment sales 25,541 16,395 (41,936) –

Total revenue 2,625,295 901,244 (41,936) 3,484,603

Results:
Segment profit 347,902 76,897 – 424,799
Investment revenue 9,209
Interest expense (982)
Share of loss of associates (58)

Profit before tax 432,968
Income tax expense (62,885)

Profit for the year 370,083

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described 
in Note 2. Segment profit represents profit earned by each segment without allocation of impairment loss on 
associate, investment revenue, finance cost, share of profit of associates and income tax expense. This is the 
measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of 
segment performance.

Segment assets
Advanced 

Manufacturing
& Design 

Solutions

Technology
Products
& Design 

Solutions Group
$’000 $’000 $’000

31 December 2019

Segment assets 2,110,623 1,133,938 3,244,561
Investments in associates 761
Other financial assets 25,229
Income tax recoverable/deferred tax assets 3,694
Consolidated total assets 3,274,245
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35 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

Segment assets (cont’d)
Advanced 

Manufacturing
& Design 

Solutions

Technology
Products
& Design 

Solutions Group
$’000 $’000 $’000

31 December 2018

Segment assets 2,016,389 1,160,775 3,177,164
Investments in associates 725
Other financial assets 22,939
Income tax recoverable/deferred tax assets 3,769
Consolidated total assets 3,204,597

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the chief 
operating decision maker monitors the tangible, intangible and financial assets attributable to each segment.

All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than investments in associates, other financial assets (Note 12) 
and income tax assets. Goodwill has been allocated to reportable segments as described in Note 16.

Other segment information
Advanced 

Manufacturing
& Design 

Solutions

Technology 
Products
& Design 

Solutions Group
$’000 $’000 $’000

2019

Additions to non-current assets(1) 57,513 13,918 71,431
Depreciation and amortisation 31,775 6,917 38,692
Allowance for inventories 557 419 976
Net remeasurement of ECL allowance (1,457) (7) (1,464)
Loss on disposal of plant

and equipment, net 79 30 109
Foreign currency exchange

adjustment gain (3,893) (549) (4,442)
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35 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

Other segment information (cont’d)
Advanced 

Manufacturing
& Design 

Solutions

Technology 
Products
& Design 

Solutions Group
$’000 $’000 $’000

2018

Additions to non-current assets(1) 55,782 3,064 58,846
Depreciation and amortisation 24,640 6,086 30,726
Allowance for inventories 1,147 111 1,258
Allowance for doubtful debts 967 611 1,578
(Gain) Loss on disposal of plant

and equipment, net (99) 1 (98)
Foreign currency exchange

adjustment (gain) loss (4,902) 3,167 (1,735)

(1) Non-current assets other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets.

Group’s revenue by Technology Domains Segments
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Portfolio A(2) 1,713,428 1,499,492
Portfolio B(3) 1,920,003 1,985,111
Consolidated revenue 3,633,431 3,484,603

(2) Portfolio A comprised Life Science, Genomics, Molecular Diagnostics and Related Materials Technology, Medical Devices and Equipment, 
Healthcare & Wellness Technology, Lifestyle Consumer Technology, Health Improvement Products and Others.

(3) Portfolio B comprised Instrumentation, Test & Measurement Technology, Networking & Communications, Security & Safety, Building Automation, 
Industrial IOT, Fintech & Advanced Payment Systems, Computing & Productivity Systems, Advanced Industrial Technology, Printing & Imaging, 
Related Components Technology and Others.

Geographical information

The Group operates in two principal geographical areas - Singapore (country of domicile) and Asia-Pacific (excluding 
Singapore).
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35 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

Other segment information (cont’d)

Geographical information (cont’d)

The Group’s revenue from external customers and information about its segment assets (non-current assets excluding 
investments in associates, deferred tax assets and financial assets) by geographical locations are detailed below:

Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets(1)

2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Singapore 688,117 729,902 705,153 685,717
Asia-Pacific (excluding Singapore) 2,764,664 2,553,399 138,129 142,502
Others 180,650 201,302 55,809 42,356
Total 3,633,431 3,484,603 899,091 870,575

(1) Non-current assets other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

The total revenue for the AMDS segment includes revenue from one customer (2018 : one customer) which 
individually makes up more than 10% of the Group’s total revenue.

36 DIVIDENDS

In the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the Company declared and paid a final one-tier tax-exempt dividend 
of $0.60 per ordinary share on the ordinary shares of the Company totalling $172,413,000 in respect of the financial 
year ended 31 December 2017.

In the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the Company declared and paid an interim one-tier tax exempt 
dividend of $0.20 per ordinary share on the ordinary shares of the Company totalling $57,608,000 in respect of the 
financial year ended 31 December 2018.

In the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the Company declared and paid a final one-tier tax-exempt dividend 
of $0.50 per ordinary share on the ordinary shares of the Company totalling $144,021,000 in respect of the financial 
year ended 31 December 2018. 

In the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the Company declared and paid an interim one-tier tax-exempt 
dividend of $0.20 per ordinary share on the ordinary shares of the Company totalling $57,673,000 in respect of the 
financial year ended 31 December 2019.

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the Directors of the Company propose that a final one-
tier tax-exempt dividend of $0.50 per ordinary share be paid to all shareholders. Subject to the approval by the 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to be held in 2020, this proposed dividend has not been included as a 
liability in these financial statements. The total estimated dividend to be paid is $144,230,000.

             Financial    Black Page 193 size:W210mm x H297mm     2nd

W000082-20_0022_Venture AR_2019 - Financials_FA_260320 R4.indd   193 26/3/20   12:07 PM



V E N T U R E  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9

194
N O T E S  T O
F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S
3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 9

37 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS 

On 1 January 2019, the Group and the Company adopted all the new and revised SFRS(I) pronouncements that are 
relevant to its operations. The adoption of these new/revised SFRS(I) pronouncements does not result in significant 
changes to the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported 
for the current or prior years, except as disclosed below. 

SFRS(I) 16 Leases

SFRS(I) 16 introduces new or amended requirements with respect to lease accounting. It introduces significant 
changes to lessee accounting by removing the distinction between operating and finance lease and requiring the 
recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at commencement for all leases, except for short-term leases 
and leases of low value assets when such recognition exemptions are adopted. In contrast to lessee accounting, the 
requirements for lessor accounting have remained largely unchanged. The impact of the adoption of SFRS(I) 16 on 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements is described below.

The date of initial application of SFRS(I) 16 for the Group is 1 January 2019. 

The Group has applied SFRS(I) 16 using the cumulative catch-up approach which: 

• requires the Group to recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying SFRS(I) 16 as an adjustment to the 
opening balance of retained earnings at the date of initial application; and 

• does not permit restatement of comparatives, which continue to be presented under SFRS(I) 1-17 Leases
and SFRS(I) INT 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease. 

 (a)  Impact of the new definition of a lease

The Group has made use of the practical expedient available on transition to SFRS(I) 16 not to reassess whether a 
contract is or contains a lease. Accordingly, the definition of a lease in accordance with SFRS(I) 1-17 and SFRS(I) INT 
4 will continue to be applied to those leases entered or changed before 1 January 2019. 

The change in definition of a lease mainly relates to the concept of control. SFRS(I) 16 determines whether a 
contract contains a lease on the basis of whether the customer has the right to control the use of an identified asset 
for a period of time in exchange for consideration. This is in contrast to the focus on ‘risks and rewards’ in SFRS(I) 
1-17 and SFRS(I) INT 4. 

The Group applies the definition of a lease and related guidance set out in SFRS(I) 16 to all lease contracts entered 
into or modified on or after 1 January 2019 (whether it is a lessor or a lessee in the lease contract). The new 
definition in SFRS(I) 16 does not significantly change the scope of contracts that meet the definition of a lease for 
the Group. 

 (b)  Impact on lessee accounting

Former operating leases 

SFRS(I) 16 changes how the Group accounts for leases previously classified as operating leases under SFRS(I) 1-17, 
which were off-balance-sheet. 
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37 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS (cont’d)

SFRS(I) 16 Leases (cont’d)

(b)  Impact on lessee accounting (cont’d)

Former operating leases (cont’d)

Applying SFRS(I) 16, for all leases, the Group: 

(a) Recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the statements of financial position, initially measured 
at the present value of the remaining lease payments, with the right-of-use asset adjusted by the amount of 
any prepaid or accrued lease payments in accordance with SFRS(I) 16.C8(b)(ii); 

(b) Recognises depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss; and 

(c) Separates the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion (presented within financing activities) and 
interest (presented within operating activities) in the consolidated statement of cash flows. 

Lease incentives (e.g. free rent period) are recognised as part of the measurement of the right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities whereas under SFRS(I) 1-17 they resulted in the recognition of a lease incentive liability, amortised as 
a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.

Under SFRS(I) 16, right-of-use assets are tested for impairment in accordance with SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of Assets. 

For short-term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets (which includes tablets 
and personal computers, small items of office furniture and telephones), the Group has opted to recognise a 
lease expense on a straight-line basis as permitted by SFRS(I) 16. This expense is presented within other operating 
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

The Group has used the following practical expedients when applying the cumulative catch-up approach to leases 
previously classified as operating leases applying SFRS(I) 1-17. 

• The Group has applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics. 

• The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities to leases for which the lease 
term ends within 12 months of the date of initial application. 

• The Group has excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of 
initial application. 

• The Group has used hindsight when determining the lease term when the contract contains options to 
extend or terminate the lease. 

 (c)  Financial impact of initial application of SFRS(I) 16

The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rates applied to the lease liabilities recognised in the statement 
of financial position on 1 January 2019 are 3.0% and 1.82% for the Group and the Company respectively. 
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37 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS (cont’d)

SFRS(I) 16 Leases (cont’d)

 (c)  Financial impact of initial application of SFRS(I) 16 (cont’d)

The following table shows the operating lease commitments disclosed applying SFRS(I) 1-17 at 31 December 2018, 
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application and the lease liabilities recognised 
in the statement of financial position at the date of initial application. 

The Group The Company
2019 2019
$’000 $’000

Operating lease commitments at 31 December 2018 24,174 4,661
Less: Short-term leases and leases of low value assets (5,762) (4,661)
Less: Effect of discounting the above amounts (1,061) –
Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 January 2019 17,351 –

The Group and the Company have assessed that there is no tax impact arising from the application of SFRS(I) 16. 

Right-of-use assets were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid 
or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the statement of financial position immediately 
before the date of initial application. Consequently, right-of-use assets of $17,351,000 relating to the operating 
leases above were recognised for the Group on 1 January 2019. No right-of-use assets relating to operating leases 
were recognised for the Company on 1 January 2019.

38 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT EFFECTIVE

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following SFRS(I) pronouncements were  issued but not 
effective and are expected to have an impact to the Group and the Company in the periods of their initial application.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

• Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1 Presentation of Financial Statements and SFRS(I) 1-8 Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of Material

• Amendments to SFRS(I) 3 Business Combinations: Definition of a Business

• Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in SFRS(I) Standards

Effective date is deferred indefinitely

• Amendments to SFRS(I) 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and SFRS(I) 1-28 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

Management anticipates that the adoption of the above SFRS(I)s, SFRS(I) INTs and amendments to SFRS(I) in future 
periods will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company in the period 
of their initial adoption.
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Number of issued and paid-up shares     : 289,831,577
Number of treasury shares       : 1,265,000
Number of issued and paid-up shares (excluding treasury shares) : 288,566,577
Class of shares        : Ordinary
Voting rights         : One vote per share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholdings
No. of

Shareholders %
No. of

Shares %

1 - 99 37 0.39 662 0.00
100 - 1,000 4,941 52.08 3,558,246 1.23
1,001 - 10,000 3,989 42.05 13,509,467 4.68
10,001 - 1,000,000 511 5.39 23,910,197 8.29
1,000,001 and above 9 0.09 247,588,005 85.80

9,487 100.00 288,566,577 100.00

Note:

As at 9 March 2020, the Company has no subsidiary holdings.

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name
No. of

Shares held % (1)

1 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 84,574,129 29.31
2 DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 64,863,318 22.48
3 DBSN SERVICES PTE LTD 41,031,108 14.22
4 HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 29,576,556 10.25
5 BPSS NOMINEES SINGAPORE (PTE.) LTD. 11,437,488 3.96
6 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LIMITED 10,093,468 3.50
7 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 2,991,537 1.04
8 MORGAN STANLEY ASIA (SINGAPORE) SECURITIES PTE LTD 1,916,901 0.66
9 TAN CHOON HUAT 1,103,500 0.38
10 WONG NGIT LIONG 974,619 0.34
11 DB NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 943,801 0.33
12 UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD 793,015 0.27
13 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 742,502 0.26
14 YONG YING-I 700,000 0.24
15 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD 677,901 0.23
16 YONG WEI-WOO NEE CHEANG WEI-WOO 650,000 0.23
17 OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PRIVATE LIMITED 588,597 0.20
18 SOO ENG HIONG 534,518 0.19
19 YONG PUNG HOW 400,000 0.14
20 GOODPACK HOLDINGS PTE LTD 399,000 0.14

254,991,958 88.37

Note:

(1) Based on 288,566,577 shares in issue as at 9 March 2020 (being 289,831,577 shares in issue and disregarding 1,265,000 shares held in treasury).
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
Based on information received by the Company as at 9 March 2020

Name
Direct

Interest % (1)

Deemed
Interest (2) % (1)

The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. (3) – – 14,801,763 5.13
BlackRock, Inc. (4) – – 14,801,763 5.13
Schroders PLC – – 20,196,200 6.99
Wong Ngit Liong 20,238,219 7.01 – –

Notes:

(1) Based on 288,566,577 shares in issue as at 9 March 2020 (being 289,831,577 shares in issue and disregarding 1,265,000 shares held in treasury).

(2) Deemed interest refer to interests determined pursuant to Section 7 of the Companies Act.

(3) The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. is deemed to have an interest in 14,801,763 shares of the Company through its ownership of more than 20% of 
BlackRock, Inc. BlackRock, Inc. is in turn a deemed shareholder through its various subsidiaries.

(4) BlackRock, Inc. is deemed to have an interest in 14,801,763 shares of the Company held by its various subsidiaries.

SHARES HELD IN THE HANDS OF THE PUBLIC

Based on information received by the Company as at 9 March 2020, approximately 80.86%(1) of the issued ordinary shares 
of the Company is held by the public and therefore Rule 723 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual is complied with. 

Note:
(1) Percentage is calculated based on the total number of 288,566,577 shares, excluding treasury shares.
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Share Prices 2019 (S$)
Last Transacted 16.20 
High 19.56 
Low 13.20 
Average 16.14 
Total Volume for 2019 306,795,854 

Volume
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Venture Corporation Limited
5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
#05-01/12 TECHplace II
Singapore 569873
T : +65 6482 1755
F : +65 6482 0122

Venture International Pte. Ltd.
5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
#05-01/12 TECHplace II
Singapore 569873
T : +65 6482 1755
F : +65 6482 0122

Advanced Instrument Pte. Ltd.
5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
#05-01/12 TECHplace II
Singapore 569873
T : +65 6482 1755
F : +65 6482 0122

Advanced Products Corporation
Pte Ltd
5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
#05-01/12 TECHplace II
Singapore 569873
T : +65 6482 1755
F : +65 6482 0122

Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd
5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
#05-01/12 TECHplace II
Singapore 569873
T : +65 6482 1755
F : +65 6482 0122

GES International Limited
28 Marsiling Lane
Singapore 739152
T : +65 6732 9898
F : +65 6368 6225

S I N G A P O R E

GES Investment Pte. Ltd.
28 Marsiling Lane
Singapore 739152
T : +65 6732 9898
F : +65 6368 6225

GES (Singapore) Pte Ltd
28 Marsiling Lane
Singapore 739152
T : +65 6732 9898
F : +65 6368 6225

Innovative Trek Technology Pte Ltd
5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
#05-01/12 TECHplace II
Singapore 569873
T : +65 6482 1755
F : +65 6482 0122

Scinetic Engineering Pte Ltd
28 Marsiling Lane 
Singapore 739152
T : +65 6732 9898
F : +65 6368 6225

Univac Design & Engineering Pte Ltd
211 Woodlands Avenue 9
#01-86
Singapore 738960
T : +65 6854 3333
F : +65 6854 3388

Univac Precision Engineering Pte Ltd
211 Woodlands Avenue 9
#01-86
Singapore 738960
T : +65 6854 3333
F : +65 6854 3388

Multitech Systems Pte. Ltd.
5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
#05-01/12 TECHplace II
Singapore 569873
T : +65 6482 1755
F : +65 6482 0122

Venture Electronics Solutions Pte Ltd
5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
#05-01/12 TECHplace II
Singapore 569873
T : +65 6482 1755
F : +65 6482 0122

VIPColor Technologies Pte Ltd
5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
#05-01/12 TECHplace II
Singapore 569873
T : +65 6482 1755
F : +65 6482 0122

Winza Pte. Ltd.
5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
#05-01/12 TECHplace II
Singapore 569873
T : +65 6482 1755
F : +65 6482 0122

I N T E R N A T I O N A L
N E T W O R K
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GES Manufacturing Services (M)
Sdn. Bhd.
PLO 34, Fasa 2
Kawasan Perindustrian Senai
81400 Senai
Johor, Malaysia
T : +60 (07) 599 2511
F : +60 (07) 599 2521

Munivac Sdn. Bhd.
No. 51 & 53
Jalan Riang 21
Taman Gembira
81200 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia
T : +60 (07) 335 6333
F : +60 (07) 335 0088

Pintarmas Sdn. Bhd.
No. 6
Jalan Kempas 5/2
Tampoi Industrial Area
81200 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia
T : +60 (07) 231 2100
F : +60 (07) 236 4146

Technocom Systems Sdn Bhd
No. 2 & 4
Jalan Kempas 5/2
Tampoi Industrial Area
81200 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia
T : +60 (07) 231 2100
F : +60 (07) 236 4146

Univac Precision, Inc.
6701 Mowry Avenue
Newark CA 94560
United States of America
T : +1 (510) 45 6 9300
F : +1 (510) 74 4 3730

Venture Design Services Inc.
6701 Mowry Avenue
Newark CA 94560
United States of America
T : +1 (510) 45 6 9300
F : +1 (510) 74 4 3730

Venture Electronics International, Inc.
6701 Mowry Avenue
Newark CA 94560
United States of America
T : +1 (510) 45 6 9300
F : +1 (510) 74 4 3730

Venture Enterprise Innovation, Inc.
6701 Mowry Avenue
Newark CA 94560
United States of America
T : +1 (510) 45 6 9300
F : +1 (510) 74 4 3730

VIPColor Technologies USA, Inc.
1621 Barber Lane
Milpitas CA 95035-7455
United States of America
T : +1 (510) 74 4 3770
F : +1 (510) 74 4 3738

VM Services, Inc.
6701 Mowry Avenue
Newark CA 94560
United States of America
T : +1 (510) 45 6 9300
F : +1 (510) 74 4 3730

M A L A Y S I A U S A

V-Design Services (M) Sdn. Bhd.
No. 2 & 4
Jalan Kempas 5/2
Tampoi Industrial Area
81200 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia
T : +60 (07) 231 2100
F : +60 (07) 236 4146

Venture Electronics Services 
(Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.
Plot 44 
Bayan Lepas Industrial Park IV
11900 Bayan Lepas
Pulau Pinang, Malaysia
T : +60 (04) 642 8000
F : +60 (04) 642 9000
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Shanghai GES Information 
Technology Co., Ltd
668 Li Shi Zhen Road
Shanghai Zhangjiang Hi-Tech Park
Pudong Shanghai 201203
People’s Republic of China
T : +86 (21) 3898 4898
F : +86 (21) 5080 6968

Univac Precision Plastics (Suzhou) 
Co., Ltd
No. 18 Chun Yao Road
No. 2 3E Industrial Park
Xiang Cheng District
Suzhou 215131
People’s Republic of China
T : +86 (512) 6282 8828
F : +86 (512) 6282 3318

Univac Precision Plastics (Shanghai) 
Co., Ltd
No. 18 Chun Yao Road
No. 2 3E Industrial Park
Xiang Cheng District
Suzhou 215131
People’s Republic of China
T : +86 (512) 6282 8828
F : +86 (512) 6282 3318

Venture Electronics (Shanghai) 
Co., Ltd
T52-5, No. 1201, Guiqiao Road
China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade Zone
Pudong New Area
Shanghai 201206
People’s Republic of China
T : +86 (21) 5899 8086
F : +86 (21) 5899 7682

Venture Electronics (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd
3832 Chang Ping Business Building
Shihua Road, Free Trade Zone
Futian Shenzhen 518038
People’s Republic of China
T : +86 (755) 2395 0126
F : +86 (755) 2395 0115

C H I N A

Venture Electronics (Europe) B.V.
Schiphol Boulevard 359
1118 BJ Schiphol
The Netherlands
T : +31 (20) 238 2400

Venture Electronics Spain S.L.
Carrer Pagesia, 22-24 1B
08191 Rubí, Barcelona
Spain
T : +34 (93) 588 3018

Venture Hungary Electronics 
Manufacturing Limited Liability 
Company
1134 Budapest, Váci út 33
Hungary
T : +36 (1) 451 7100

Ventech Investments Ltd
Portcullis Chambers
4th Floor, Ellen Skelton Building
3076 Sir Francis Drake Highway
Road Town, Tortola
British Virgin Islands VG1110
T : +1 (284) 494-5296
F : +1 (284) 494-5283

E U R O P E

I N T E R N A T I O N A L
N E T W O R K
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V E N T U R E  C O R P O R AT I O N  L I M I T E D

Company Registration No.: 198402886H

5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5

#05-01/12 TECHplace II

Singapore 569873

www.venture.com.sg
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